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FOREWORD





Dear Readers,
Hello again. I hope you have been doing well. Thank you for reading my work. I am happy to present you the 4th installment in the Axis Alternate Series.
The entire world is engulfed in war, and the Allies are struggling to contain the victorious Axis. One thing is certain. It will get worse before it gets better.
For those of you who have played wargames (or perhaps still are), you will recognize the definite flavor of strategy and tactics from my books, and I hope you enjoy it. I am writing it! It is interesting to dwell on something entirely different that the real history. No European Eastern Front is a nice change of pace, and the Japs in the Med, oh my!!!.
Special thanks – again – to my excellent, incroyable editor, Stephen Sokol, the man behind my improvement in spelling and grammar. I hope you guys enjoy the work he’s put in to help me bring you a more polished product.
I hope you will bear with me with the less-known theaters of war like Manchuria and the Far East or Portugal. I research as much as I can, but let me tell you, it isn’t easy! I believe the end product is quite good and makes for a nice story.
A few new characters in this book that I hope you will enjoy. Johann Lamsdorf, a German sniper working in pair with the famous Vasili Zaytsev, Max Dumont, a Sherman tank gunner, or Kevin King, an Aussie with the 9th Australian Division in Tobruk.
I hope I have put enough maps and images to get you the feel I want to portray, and I know it’s a complicated story to follow, so if you have comments and questions, don’t hesitate to drop me an email at souvorov@hotmail.com.
About to leave for a long work-related trip in the Southwestern USA (real-life work), and I will do this alone. I should consequently be able to have a lot of time to write in between 2 trade shows. Expect another book soon.
Until next time, stay safe and enjoy this book.
Max
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PROLOGUE





Eastern Anatolia 

The new Russo-Turkish war, December 17th, 1940
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Turkish forces overlooking Soviet offensive movements, Kars Plateau, December 1940.



If there was one hotly contested border in history, it was the one where the Turks and the Russians faced each other in the Anatolian-Caucasus area. The two powers had fought a long string of twelve wars from the 16th to the 20th centuries. It was one of the longest series of military conflicts in European history. 


The last battle between the two had been during the First World War, just twenty years prior. The fight had not gone well for either combatant. A few years after the failed Turkish offensive (1914) into the Caucasian mountains and then complete defeat at the hands of the Allies, the Sultan abdicated, and the Empire was abolished. The Russian Empire disintegrated in a bloody civil war, completely defeated by Imperial Germany and Austria-Hungary in 1917-1918.



The net result of the millions of soldiers who fought and died in the terrible terrain of the Caucasus and Eastern Anatolia was that the borders remained the same: A draw.



The Turks had had enough and wanted nothing to do with getting involved in another war. For Stalin, however, the fight was not over. The man was from Georgia, and its proximity to the Ottoman Empire meant that he was intimately involved in the wars between the two states. In every Georgian family, there was a story of death, war, and hate against the damned Turks. The Russian dictator was very keen on absorbing as much of Anatolia as possible, as well as having access to the Dardanelles Straits. None of those ambitions could have been fulfilled before the alliance with the Germans. But now, Hitler was as much interested in Turkey's strategic position as Stalin was. Both men needed the country for the continuation of their world wars and conquests. Anatolia was the crossroad between Asia and Europe and would greatly facilitate Axis supply with control of the straits for the USSR and a land link for Iraqi oil for Germany.



The area encompassing Kars and Ardahan had been lost by the Russian Empire in the turmoil that followed the Bolshevik Revolution. It became the USSR’s first objective, although the Russians were looking at a much bigger prize. With their occupation of most of Persia and with an offensive in Iraq, they were looking at greatly increasing their territorial control. While Iraq would be mostly under German influence, the Kurdish areas in the north and its oil would fall under the Soviet sphere. Control of Anatolia remained to be settled in diplomatic terms, with Von Ribbentrop (Reich) and Molotov (Russia) not having finalized their discussions over the matter.



To execute Stalin’s will, the Red Army massed 700,000 soldiers, including over 1,200 tanks and 1,000 aircraft. The Turkish forces would be hard-pressed to resist the invasion that was about to take place with their roughly 150,000 lightly equipped forces, even if the area was more suitable for a defensive fight than an offensive one.



Northeast Anatolia was an area of mountains and plains where several rivers have their source: the Euphrates, which flowed to the Persian Gulf; the Aras, which flowed to the Caspian Sea; and the Çoruh, which flowed to the Black Sea. The land was wild, and the climate harsh. Most of the mountains were above 3,000 meters. Military movements could only be made through the mountain passes and the few lowlands.



Snow started falling in early September and could build up to 1.5 meters on the ground. During a blizzard, the day became as dark as night, and one could not see further than five meters. The temperature could drop below minus 30 degrees Celsius. Due to the characteristics of the terrain, this region was definitely unsuitable for offensive campaigns, but it offered some advantages for defensive actions. But all of this was irrelevant to Stalin. He ordered the Red Army to attack with overwhelming superiority in terms of numbers and in terms of modern weapons. He expected that, from the outset, the fight would not be equal. He hoped to simply will the weather and the mountains away. Things would not go as well as he’d hoped. 
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The Russian offensive began on December 17th, 1940, once it became clear to the Axis powers that Turkey would never join their cause nor let them pass through its territory. The Russian 24th Army Corps crossed the border south of Batum on the Black Sea and started to fight its way toward Artvin and in the direction of the important harbor of Trezibond. The Red Army 28th Army proceeded towards the direction of Kars in the extreme eastern Anatolian regions, while the Russian IV Corps moved the border in the direction of Ardahan. By December 20th, the Soviet-Russian forces had made good progress everywhere, and in the meantime, they were also moving along the Karakose-Muratsuyu line. The total strength of the Russian force was 32 infantry and 5 armored divisions. Powerful air raids devastated most of the Turkish airfields and cities in the region. 


But then reality caught up with Stalin’s hordes. A severe snowstorm and extremely cold temperatures hit the entire frontline by the evening of the 20th, and the front froze over, just like it had twenty-five years earlier during the First World War. 


It was in this terrible setting that private soldier Ismet Gavanoglu fought amid the bitter cold. In fact, he felt terribly cold, colder than at any time during his life. The blizzard thundered and howled over him and the rest of the Turkish forces in the trenches. Snow was falling, creating incredibly fuzzy visibility. At least, winter and the rough terrain had stopped the enemy from advancing. The Red Army attack had fallen on Ismet and the rest of the Turkish Army like a hammer on a nail. So many of his friends and unit comrades were now dead; it was mind-boggling.



The Soviets attacked on a clear day on the 17th. Ismet and the rest of the 5th Turkish Division were in their defensive positions overlooking the border with Communist Georgia. They were confident and believed in their commanders. They were told that they would repulse the Russians as their fathers had done after the First World War under the great father of the nation, Moustapha Kemal.



But things had not gone their way from the start. The Red Army had launched terrible artillery bombardments and relentless air attacks. Just as they thought they had survived the ordeal with their whole world still buzzing from the blasts and explosions, the Soviet hordes had come. Powerful tanks and innumerable swarms of screaming soldiers. At first, they had been able to shoot them down as in the former war because soldiers were as easy to kill with a gun as Ismet had been told. But then the tanks had arrived. Not one weapon was available that could stop or even damage them.



After that, he remembered the rout. The sheer panic, the running, the dying of his friends. An enemy bullet whizzed overhead, hitting the top of the trench. He was snapped out of his cold daydreaming. “Private Ismet,” yelled one of the sergeants neat him. He picked himself up and snapped his military salute. “Yes, sir!” The sergeant grunted. “Private Kamal Haydin has been killed by an enemy sharpshooter up in the cave. Go to the machine gun position and replace him,” he finished. “On my way, sir,” he responded, running toward the machine gun. 


The weapon was installed in an elevated position relative to the trench. It had been dug right into a natural cave and reinforced with sandbags. The trench itself had been prepared months earlier as tensions rose between Russia and Turkey. It was built on a rocky bluff that was on the high ground looking over the valley floor that they were defending in order to block the enemy from advancing.



Ismet remembered the hard digging in the rocky soil, and he had complained like the rest of his comrades. And then, they had moved forward toward the border. But it had not taken long for the army to order a general retreat to their prepared positions. When they arrived at the hardened trench and defensive line, they understood why their commanders had it prepared. The position stopped the enemy cold, and the minefields, the machine guns, and the artillery in the rear had smashed the enemy’s frontline troops.



He started to climb the stone stairs to the cave, as there was a “hatch” on the floor of the cave while the cave’s entrance faced the enemy. But he never got there. The world around him rocked hard while the snow blew in every direction. Another enemy artillery barrage landed amidst the Turkish trenches, and one of the big 152mm shells exploded right into the cave entrance, destroying the gun within it and instantly killing all the soldiers. The impact threw Ismet backward in a flurry of dust, stone shards, and fire. The blast wave blew him out of the immediate danger zone, and he tumbled back down into the trench. 


For a long moment, he had the wind knocked out of him and struggled for breath as the shells landed everywhere and pandemonium erupted all around him. His ears rang like a broken doorbell, and his body seemed on fire with the pain. 


The Soviets were attacking in force, using the cover of the terrible snowstorm to approach and attack the Turkish defensive positions. Mines blew everywhere as the Red Army soldiers stepped on them, but their political officers kept pushing them forward at gunpoint. Tanks followed in their lead, and over three hundred guns fired all they had at the Turkish forces.



All the while, Ismet struggled to dispel his predicament. He was seriously stunned. Intellectually, he knew he needed to get up and help his comrades fight the incoming enemy, but he couldn’t move. Then, someone was over him, yelling and gesturing wildly with both arms. He looked at the man, trying to focus, but the smoke and the earth-shaking made it hard. So many enemy shells landed around that it felt like a major earthquake was rocking the land.



He saw the man’s mouth move but couldn’t hear what he was saying. It dawned on him that he might be deaf from the explosion that had almost killed him. He was slowly returning to his senses and his hearing. “Ismet, wake up; the enemy is charging amidst the snow. They are coming. We need to move out!” He finally heard what the other man was saying, but as if he was talking from far away. And he also recognized him. It was his friend Enver. He stood up with the help of his comrade and started running after him, luckily dodging a major blast and landing almost on top of his former position. 






Strategic meeting 



Chita, December 17th, 1940



The cold, bitter wind howled outside in an ominous noise. The large building felt its power as it shook and rattled all over. For the people inside, it was comforting to know they were protected and could sit around a fire or under warm blankets. The entire land was blanketed with a heavy snow cover a few meters high. It was an unusual blizzard this early in the year, but the 1940-1941 winter was forecast to be harsh in Siberia. The temperature outside was a dire minus 32 degrees Celsius, and many of the old men in Chita claimed that they had never seen such cold weather in their lives. 


It was the dark of night, and an important meeting was being held in Chita. The room the gathering was in was located in the city’s main building. It was a large conference room, and a powerful fire raged in a large hearth. The fire was so fierce that no one felt the cold. They still heard the howling outside, but it seemed far away as the temperature inside was like a warm summer day. 


The fire gave the scene an eerie glow as its blessed light reflected on the people gathered in the room for a strategy conference on the course of the war in the Far East and Manchuria. The man of steel, Joseph Stalin, stood erect and menacing at the head of the table that had a large map of the entire theater spread across it. The dance of shadow and light on his face revealed a menacing feeling to his otherwise impassive face.



He was busy slowly enjoying one of his "Herzegovina Flor" cigarettes, which he smoked constantly. They smelled awful, like burning dried manure, but he didn’t care about the others in the room or their smell preferences. They wouldn’t dare complain about it. He was dressed in an immaculate military uniform of a Marshal of the Soviet Union. Standing right behind him and ready to answer his every whim was Alexander Poskrebyshev, the chief of Stalin's personal chancellery. He had a wheeled cart with several bottles and glasses of vodka, waiting for his master to signal for distribution to the rest of the assembled group. Just by the door giving access to the rest of the Chita mansion stood Nicola Vlasik, Stalin’s bodyguard, who followed him everywhere he went. His watchful eyes were focusing on one particular individual in the room. One who did not fit into the picture.



Right in front of Stalin and standing at the other head of the table was German Panzer General Heinz Guderian, also dressed in his immaculate and best Wehrmacht uniform. He had his cap under his left arm and waited for the Russian master to speak. Guderian had been sent along with an entire German corps by his Fuhrer Adolf Hitler to help the Soviet Union in its struggle against Imperial Japan. His presence was part of an agreement between the two allies to have troops deep within their realm in the weird, twisted way that the dictators had found to keep each other honest. While Guderian was in Siberia, there was the same number of troops in Spain assaulting Gibraltar. The concept was simple. If one of the other two betrayed the other, the lives of his troops and the precious commander with the troops would be forfeit. It was not that Hitler and Stalin didn’t trust each other. They completely, utterly distrusted each other. Hate was also a factor in this deal between the two devils of Europe. 


Glancing at the German general, Stalin inwardly smiled. He’d won a move on that bastard Hitler. While it was known that Hitler was very fond of Guderian, there was no such sentiment for the Russian dictator. Everyone was expendable, and none of his “precious” officers counted or mattered to him. While he had no intentions of betraying the Reich for the moment, one never knew what opportunity to do so could present itself in the future. Removing the best enemy general from play would be a great victory for Stalin, while he would just lose a minion. Even Zhukov, whom he very much liked (because he was good), was expendable. After all, good generals were dangerous to the man in power; every good dictator who had read his history books knew it. There was nothing better to topple a government than a victorious, charismatic military officer.



Flanking Guderian was Zhukov, the Soviet’s best general and the recent victor in Manchuria; he was secretly a good friend of the German general, the two having done maneuvers together in the 1930s. He was also the commander-in-chief of all forces in the Far East, although he commanded the troops in Manchuria mostly and left Guderian to take care of the front and offensive toward Vladivostok.



Also present at the meeting and having traveled with Stalin on the train to Chita were two more men on the Russian Stavka (Red Army high command). They were the Marshals of the Soviet Union S.K. Timoshenko (Stavka Chairman) and Kliment Voroshilov, the Chairman of the Defense Committee.



Every one of them waited for the Soviet dictator to start talking, and Stalin loved to let the silence and suspense hang in the air. The moment was heavy, and Stalin just loved it. He waited some more, taking two long drags of his awful-smelling cigarette. He pretended to look at the map and harbored his best poker face. He was amazed at how Guderian and Zhukov kept their cool while the other two marshals seemed uneasy. He wondered if he could find more men like these two and found it unfortunate that one of them was German. He was going to have to be nice to the bastard, and he didn’t like it one bit. 


Stalin finally signed for Poskrebyshev to distribute the vodka glasses. In the Soviet Union, every meeting was often flanked by alcohol. It was considered manly to be able to hold your liquor. The secretary did his work and nodded silently to his master. He took his leave from the room to bring more drinks in a few minutes. 


The Soviet dictator raised his glass, looking at everyone around the table one after the other. “za zda-ro-vye,”at which all the military men in the room answered the same: “Za zda-ro-vye.” Guderian did his best, but it was obvious his Russian was terrible.



The warm liquid was still going down into his stomach when Stalin decided that it was time. “Gentlemen,” he started in his high-pitched voice. “Let’s begin the discussion and the meeting.” Everyone around nodded. 


“Marshall Zhukov, please give us an overall appraisal of the situation.”
“Yes, Comrade General Secretary Stalin,” answered the great general. 






Gibraltar 



The final attack, December 20th, 1940



(…) One kilometer north of Gibraltar, German command (…)



The German officer responsible for the siege of Gibraltar and its eventual conquest, General Ludwig Kubler, looked at the last preparations for what he hoped was the final assault on the British fortress. His forces were still battered, but he’d received the orders a few days ago to launch another general attack on the fortress. He wasn’t the type of officer who liked to sacrifice his men needlessly, but the Fuhrer had refused his request for a pause to rest and refit his forces. The laconic telegram reply from von Brauchitsch, the Heer Commander-in-Chief, had been quite direct. “Request denied by Fuhrer. Attack at the earliest possible time.”



That was that. Kubler had gathered his officers in the 19th and gave his orders for the final attack. As it happened, things went a lot better for the Axis forces because they were not the only ones at the end of their tether.



(…) Above in the sky, December 23rd (…)



Giles thundered above the rocky destroyed rubble that used to be the proudest of all British fortresses, Gibraltar. His Spitfire flew a few yards above ground, zipping by at incredible speed. Dust lifted in the air as his engine rumbled at full power. The centrifugal force involved in the dive he’d just executed was hard to take, and he had almost passed out from the G-forces he received, but it was worth it. 


Coming off the dive in a sharp arc that put his plane almost level relative to the ground, he finally had in his target sight the aircraft he’d spotted from high above. Just in front of him was a German Bf-109, and he was quickly gaining on him.



Diving from above was an essential part of dogfighting tactics. A fighter coming out of dive could reach speeds not possible while flying level and for a few moments, could outpace the fastest aircraft in the sky. This enabled the pilot to maneuver faster than his opponents. Giles pulled his fire trigger, and two long bursts of his 20mm shells speared toward the German fighter. They did so in an arcing line of tracers and connected with the rear tail of the Bf-109, shredding it to pieces. The poor German plane was sent in an immediate tumble and twirled for a second before hitting the top of Gibraltar’s northern end. It exploded amidst a bunch of running German soldiers.



Picking up altitude, the British pilot took in his surroundings for a moment. The fighting for the Rock was nearing its end. The Allies had fought tooth and nail and with as much resilience as could be expected, but there was a limit to human endurance and a finite aspect to the supplies the American and British ships could bring into the harbor under siege and constant air attack. He could see tracers racing from one side to the other, but as a whole, the Axis forces were swarming on top, at the base, and (he’d been told) inside the many tunnels dug into the Rock.



The reason for the quick collapse was that about half of the surviving 1st British Division and the remaining American troops had been evacuated the night before in a daring transport operation under the nose of the Axis planes. The moonless night had helped the Allies slip their ships undetected to Gibraltar’s southern tip to embark the soldiers. 


Now, there remained only about 2,000 men, many of them injured, to defend the last remaining redoubts and tunnels, and it was rumored that surrender would soon be authorized by London and the Prime Minister himself.



(…) 10th Downing Street, London, December 23rd (…)



Churchill looked at his glass of Scotch and wondered if he’d taken the right decision. He knew what he’d agreed to would save lives now and avoid unnecessary loss of life. But losing Gibraltar meant opening the way for the Axis to invade Morocco. He knew all the arguments for the evacuation. The Germans were already landing in Tunis while the Italians were creeping up the Tunisian coast. The western Mediterranean was now an Axis lake. They could supply their troops at will. Gibraltar itself and the 1st British Division were at the end of their resistance.



And yet, Churchill hesitated to give the order for the surrender. It wasn’t because he was afraid the Germans would mistreat the soldiers. After all, the Third Reich was a signatory of the Geneva Convention. It was because he was a man who didn’t like to lose. But many sailors had died not ten days before, trying to defend the great fortress. It felt like all of it was for naught. The facts were clear. While the powerful battleship bombardment had smashed the Axis troops, the bastards seemed to always have more up their sleeves. With the additional Russian troops, it seemed like it was an endless pouring of water from an unstoppable waterfall.



It was getting late in the day, and the Prime Minister was in his study on the second floor, still contemplating his decision. The phone rang, almost startling him. He took a long breath of air and hesitated to pick it up to answer. He knew that it was Sir John Greer Dill, Chief of the Imperial General Staff, and he also knew why the man was calling. He finally decided to pick it up. “This is Churchill.” The static on the line suddenly flared and then died away as Dill started speaking. “Mr. Prime Minister. This is General Dill. I am calling to get your confirmation on the end of the fight in Gibraltar.” Churchill hesitated before answering. “General. Are you certain that we cannot do more to continue resisting? We have done very well so far.” “Mr. Prime Minister,” answered the military commander in a weary and sad voice. “Sir, we have discussed this many times. We can hold out a little more but at the cost of the brave 2,000 men still in the fortress. The German offer to surrender expires in a few hours. After that, General Kubler has said he will send the final assault.”
Churchill raised his glass and emptied his Scotch in one large gulp. He almost never did that except when he was nervous or mad about something. “Very well, General. You have my approval for the decision. I will soon say my piece over the BBC.”
He picked up his glass and poured some more scotch into it. It was difficult to accept the fall of Gibraltar, but there was little choice in the matter. And besides, another operation that would take up all available troops was about to be launched. This decision was not entirely based just on Gibraltar. It was also based on the planned Portuguese landings in Oporto. The British Empire had only a finite number of troops. The fresh and available ones it had, could have gone either to Gibraltar and prolonged the siege a little while longer or else be used to surprise the Axis with the Portuguese operation.
(…) The final assault, December 24th (…)



The Germans came in their thousands and charged. They were preceded by an unrelenting air assault and another powerful heavy artillery barrage that shattered what remained of the handful of defenders. After their comrade's departure, the remaining British soldiers of the 1st Division manned their defensive position for one last time.



The German soldiers came from above, within the tunnels, as they blasted their way forward with explosive charges. They came from the sky and bombed everything that moved. They attacked with abandon, as the Wehrmacht was also at the end of its tether in terms of morale and will.



Their numbers soon played a critical role in the battle, and by mid-afternoon, the very few remaining Allied soldiers were entrenched at the southern tip of the fortress and stood ready for one last glorious stand before death. But then, the order to surrender to the Germans came.



(…) BBC radio station, December 24th, 1940 (…)



I speak to you one more time as Prime Minister in a solemn hour for the life of our country, of our empire, of our allies, and, above all, of the cause of freedom. We have recently enjoyed victory in the Battle for our Home Island. Following the courage and resilience of the great men and women of our nation, England still stands proud in the face of the forces of evil.
A tremendous battle is raging in Gibraltar as we speak. The Germans, Italians and Russians, by a powerful combination of air bombing and heavy artillery attacks, have broken through the Gibraltar fortress defenses. They now have penetrated deeply into the defensive perimeter, the fortified tunnels, and the galleries under the great rock.
I have just ordered the end of the fighting in Gibraltar to the remaining 2,000 brave men in order to save their lives and spare them the disgrace of dying for nothing. It would be foolish, consequently, to disguise the gravity of the hour. The Rock of Gibraltar has stood proud for centuries against invaders and has never fallen. It now looks poised to fall for the first time in its history.
It would be still more foolish to lose heart and courage or to suppose the end of the fight is near. Our forces, along with our French and American Allies, have gathered in Morocco and stand ready to repel the Axis invaders if they choose to come and try to take French North Africa from us. By staying in Tangier and on the Moroccan coast, we will continue to prevent Axis fleet entry into the Atlantic Ocean.
We have lost greatly since this terrible war started, but now one bond unites us all: to wage war until victory is won and never to surrender ourselves to servitude and shame, whatever the cost and the agony may be. This is one of the most awe-striking periods in the long history of the Western World and the cause of Liberty. It is also beyond doubt the most sublime. Side by side, unaided except by their kith and kin in the great Dominions and by the wide territories which rest beneath their shield — side by side, the British, Commonwealth, French, American, and Japanese peoples will advance to rescue not only Europe but mankind from the foulest and most soul-destroying tyrannies which have ever darkened and stained the pages of history. Behind them, behind us, behind the Armies and Fleets of the Allies, gather a group of shattered States and bludgeoned races: the French, the Czechs, the Poles, the Norwegians, the Persians, the Spanish, the Danes, the Dutch, the Belgians — upon all of whom the long night of barbarism will descend, unbroken even by a star of hope, unless we conquer, as conquer we must, as conquer we shall.
Today is Christmas Eve. Centuries ago, words were written to be a call and a spur to the faithful servants of truth and justice:
Arm yourselves, and be ye men of valor, and be in readiness for the conflict, for it is better for us to perish in battle than to look upon the outrage of our nation and our altars. As the will of God is in Heaven, even so let it be.




Tobruk defensive perimeter 

Defense buildup, December 19th, 1940



Australian soldier Kevin King toiled hard as he shoveled dirt with his shovel. He was hard work. The sun was bright and hot, the flies buzzed all around him, and a cloud of dust permeated the entire area of the soon-to-be Tobruk defensive perimeter, or what would soon be called the Tobruk Fortress. Kevin was from a farm west of Sydney, Australia. He was one of the volunteers of the 1939-1940 class. He was new to the army and to warfare, and so far, it wasn’t like anything that he had imagined.



His training had been superficial, the division he was now part of (the Australian 9th Division) having been rushed to Egypt following the Axis advances in Libya and the Middle East. The situation was quite dire for the British Empire in the theater, and thus, the Aussies had been called to the rescue. The entire endeavor seemed improvised, from training to command. 


“King,” said one of his comrades, shoveling a patch of the same dirt beside him. “You want some water?” “Yes, thank you, mate,” he answered as he picked up the water canteen handed out to him. The warm liquid felt incredible and revigorated him somewhat. The position they were digging out was situated on a stony ridge. A huge Union Jack Flag flapped noisily on a nearby flagpole, attesting to the windy day. It confirmed the area to be under British (Aussie) control. 


“At least the wind is keeping some of the flies away and gives us a little break from the damned heat,” continued his friend, a fellow named Arthur Archibald. He was from the same little town as King. The town they came from was called Blaxland. It resided in the Blue Mountains of New South Wales, 65 kilometers west of Sydney. They were also childhood friends and had decided to join the military at the same time. “Sure is, mate,” continued Kevin, wiping his forehead with a dirty rag he had in his back pocket. Kevin picked up his shovel again and continued his hard digging. After all, he didn’t want to attract any unwanted attention from their difficult sergeants and corporals.



In 1940, the British and Commonwealth forces had strategic successes against the Italians in Libya. The Australians had played a significant role in these victories, particularly in securing the small harbor town of Tobruk. The strategic importance of the port could not be underestimated in the North African campaign. As it was the only major port between Tripoli and Alexandria, and ultimately the Suez Canal, maintaining control of Tobruk was paramount to the Allies. King and Archibald had not been part of that, as they arrived after the victory over the dumb Italians.



Rommel's victorious drive through Cyrenaica could consequently not avoid Tobruk as he and the Axis armies needed it to make sure they would have sufficient supplies to enter and conquer Egypt. It was a sure thing that the British would defend Tobruk with all their might. Without it, there would be no German-Italian invasion of Egypt from the West.



The perimeter, on which the commander of the 9th Division, General Leslie Morshead, agreed to base their forward defense, ran in a wide arc, twenty-eight miles in length. The width of the perimeter at the intersection of the coast road was about seventeen miles. The average distance of the perimeter from Tobruk was nine miles. 


Morshead had first inspected Tobruk and the inherited defenses soon after its capture from the Italians in 1940. Although the outer defense perimeter remained, all defensive obstacles between it and the harbor had been weathered by time and neglect. The barbed wire was full of gaps and in poor condition, and the anti-tank ditch constructed by the Italians remained incomplete.



Morshead’s 9th Division set about reinforcing the Red Line before Rommel and his Afrika Korps arrived. Time was of the essence as Kevin and his comrades dug feverishly to get things done. The Germans were only about 70 kilometers away from their position. 


The 9th was currently concentrating on the strengthening of a secondary defense perimeter, the Blue Line, which would help to contain any enemy breakthrough. The final line of defense before the harbor was called the Green Line and was being worked on by the South Africans, also part of the fortress defense. 
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“You think we’ll be done by the time the Krauts get here, Kev,” asked Archibald as he worked his way around a stubborn rock lodged in the earth that impeded him from digging further down. “I sure hope so, Arthur,” answered King. He took a glance at the hundreds upon hundreds of his comrades toiling as hard as he was, preparing what they hoped would be impregnable defenses. He noticed that his local dust cloud was nothing in comparison to the very large one hanging over the entire Tobruk area. He also noticed the sun was a little less intense. He silently thanked the dust for the small cover they were getting. In the background of the shoving soldiers, three British Royal Navy destroyers stood floating in the harbor. The ships and the sailors were busy unloading more supplies into Tobruk. “Damn this rock!!!!!” yelled Arthur, angry at the stubborn thing. “Let me help you, mate,” answered King with a smile. His friend had a temper, especially against anything he couldn’t control.



The bay provided a deep natural harbor. The coast, except near the harbor, was broken by a succession of narrow inlets. A plain about three miles wide west of the town was bordered on the south by an escarpment, at the top of which was a ledge of land leading to a second escarpment. South from the second escarpment, the terrain flattened out toward the perimeter, except in the southwest, where the Pilastrino ridge extended toward the most dominant feature in the area of Ras el Medauuar. In the east, the two escarpments came together on the coast short of the perimeter boundary.



Except at the perimeter's extreme eastern and western flanks, where the wire descended the escarpments to the coast, the perimeter defenses spread across a plateau some 400 to 500 feet above sea level. Beyond this, the terrain ran in ridges to the west and southwest but was almost flat to the south and southeast. The arid desert ground was bare except for chance occurrences of dwarf camel-thorn shrubs and a few date trees located near desert wells. From the coast road to the sea, on both extremes of the perimeter, the terrain was generally an effective obstacle to tanks. However, south of the coast road, the flat terrain neither hindered frontal assault nor provided cover and concealment.



During their earlier occupation of Tobruk, the Italians had surrounded most of the perimeter with box wire obstacles or concertina wire. In some places forward of the perimeter, there was an anti-tank ditch that was incomplete and varied in depth from two to twelve feet. The anti-tank ditch was partly covered with light boards and a thin layer of sand and stones so that its outline could not be distinguished even at close range. Forward of the ditch was more concertina wire. Also, a thin line of anti-tank and antipersonnel mines had been laid in front of the perimeter wire.
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Australian patrol in anti-tank ditch, Tobruk, circa January 1941



After a few minutes of hard labor, they finally removed the rock. “Damn you, rock!” yelled Arthur, again getting mad at the inanimate object. A few other soldiers came by with a cart and picked up the big rock. It would be used elsewhere as an obstacle. Nothing was being wasted in the preparation for the Tobruk defense. “Well, that was that, Archie. Now that we’ve got this little misunderstanding with Mr. Rock here,” said Kevin, pointing at the inert object being picked up by the boys, “Can we now go back to shoveling?”  Arthur looked at him with a bland look, and he shrugged his shoulders, bending over to pick up yet another load of dirt.







Somewhere in the Atlas Mountains 

Morocco-Algeria borderlands, December 19th, 1940



The Sherman tank engine rumbled as the tank rode past yet another nondescript village. The tank column was lifting dust in the air, and a large dark grey cloud hung over the area that could be seen from kilometers away. “This fucking dust cloud is making us visible from miles away,” said Tank Commander Eric Patrin. The driver, Dave Reinbacker, grumbled in response. “Your right, Commander. Stupid higher-ups. Don’t they get it? Every time we drive through the desert like that, we get spotted by the damned Germans!”
And Patrin was right to worry about being spotted. A German Arado Ar 196 floatplane from Algiers (German-occupied) had spotted the dust cloud and reported its position to Luftwaffe Command in Sicily. Orders soon went out to strike the enemy convoy.
The M4 Sherman Medium Tank carried a crew of five—commander, gunner, loader, driver, and codriver/hull gunner. Within this group was a man named Max Dumont. He was the team’s gunner and was responsible for manning the main 75mm short-barreled gun. The tank they were in was part of the 1st U.S. Armored Division. The unit was formed on July 15th, 1940, at Fort Knox. It was literally fresh off the boat from a few weeks ago and had already seen action against planes. In fact, they were getting attacked almost every time they moved on the main roads. And they did a lot of that since the Allies tried to advance further from Morocco to Algeria to strengthen their positions for the soon-to-attack Axis forces.
The 1st A.D., as it was often called, had not finished its training back Stateside as it had been planned to make it fully operational only somewhere in 1942. But the urgency of the situation in Gibraltar and, thus, the threat to North Africa was too great an issue to ignore. The unit had been boarded onto transport ships and brought to Tangier. Ever since then, it had operated and gained experience in the field.
Max, a simple factory worker from Boston on the East Coast, had been surprised at the fury of war to date. Several of his friends in the unit had died horribly (a burning tank was not a good place to be), and the worst part about it was that he couldn’t do much to avoid the same fate. He was the gunner, and that weapon was not designed to fire at planes and was totally useless when the damned Krauts attacked them from the air. He had not yet been in a battle against enemy tanks and hoped it would happen soon. He felt he deserved to have a real chance of hitting a target. Hell, that was why he’d joined the Army. He wanted to fight. Not just being attacked from the air and hoping to God he would not be hit by one of the Axis bombs.
Max had a family back home (a wife and a kid named Theo). He was fighting for them and for his country, feeling quite strongly about the growing Axis tide that was engulfing the world. His family was originally from French Canada. His grandfather had moved to Boston to find some work as there was a lot of misery in Quebec and not much work apart from farming. Max still spoke French but was very much an American.
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1st U.S. Armored Division’s emblem and nickname
He wondered when he would finally get his chance to see enemy tanks. Rumors abounded about Axis landings in Tunis, and of an upcoming German offensive. This was why the 1st A.D. was moving up the Atlas Mountain to get to Algeria. High Command wanted to have some fighting space before the Axis forces got to Morocco, the last place where the Allies could organize a defense in the West. That was fine with Max, as this way, he would finally get his chance to see one of the famed German Panzers in his targeting sight. The Axis forces had already invaded Spain, most of North Africa, and France. Only the United Kingdom, Egypt, and Morocco remained free.
The 1st A.D. was equipped mostly with Sherman M4 Medium tanks. The machine was what the U.S. Military banked on for its mainstay battle machine in the war.
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A powerful noise thundered over them, and then Dave Reinbacker (who was sticking out of the tank from the frontal driver’s hatch) and Commander Patrin saw several American P40 Warhawk fighters and British Spitfires zip by them, heading north of their current position. “And here they come,” said the tank commander in an angry voice. The presence of Allied fighters above them was a sure thing that enemy aircraft approached. “Reinbacker, follow the rest of the tanks. We need to spread out as much as possible.” “Yes, sir,” said Dave. The tactic was simple. By spreading out as far as possible from each other, the tanks would avoid secondary explosions, making it more difficult for the German bombs to hit them.
Max watched through his targeting sight as the units of the 1st Tank Company drove hard to widen the gaps between each other. By then, a large dogfight was in full display in the sky just above them. Max hoped that the flyboys would be able to scatter the Krauts.




The Battle of Calabria 

Naval clash 50 miles off the south west Italian coast, December 21st, 1940
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The Italian Battleship Giulio Cesare firing her salvos near Punta Stilo (Battle of Calabria)



The conquest of Benghazi by General Erwin Rommel was not even a week old when the Italians sailed out of Taranto with an important convoy meant to resupply the Afrika Korps in its continuing campaign toward Egypt. It included the cargo ships Esperia, Calitea, Pisani, and Foscarini e Barbaro, transporting 2,190 men, 232 trucks, 10,445 tons of war material, and 5,720 tons of fuel and lubricants.
On its way to North Africa, the Italian Royal Navy convoy intersected with the path of a fleet of the allied forces of the British Royal Navy. It was a chance encounter for both sides, but also the result of British Admiral Cunningham’s passive-aggressive strategy that called for sailing into the Central Mediterranean to confront the Italian Navy. The Regina Marina’s convoy escort was a fleet of several destroyers, torpedo boats, heavy cruisers, light cruisers, and three battleships (Giulio Cesare, Conte Di Cavour, and Caio Duilio), commanded by Admiral Inigo Campioni.
Meanwhile, the Allies were on their way out of Alexandria and headed towards Malta with supplies and specialist reinforcements. The convoy was made up of ships carrying civilians and fleet stores, shepherded by their escorts.
The main Allied fleet was comprised of five destroyers and the battleships Warspite and Barham, the aircraft carrier Glorious, and eleven destroyers. It was supplemented by two Japanese battleships (Mutsu and Ise), detached from Admiral Kondo’s main body to help bolster the fleet’s big guns. The entire group was under the command of Admiral Andrew Cunningham.
At 1040, two Italian seaplanes caught sight of the Allied fleet. They shadowed the fleet for nearly four hours, but no hostilities were exchanged, but the Italians were alerted, and Campioni was notified.
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Italian CANT Z.506B floatplane forced down on Mondello beach in Sicily.
Following a failed bombing raid on the Allied fleet by 72 Italian bombers (scattered by Glorious’ fighters), Cunningham’s fleet steered towards Taranto in a bid to cut the Italian fleet off from their route. All the while, Campioni’s force was scrambling about the sea in search of the enemy. Campioni would, around 1330, get a confirmed report on the position of the enemy from his cruisers. The allied fleet turned out to be 30 miles closer than thought.
When the two fleets caught sight of each other from a distance of 90 miles, the Battle of Calabria began. While the Anglo-Japanese had the advantage of firepower (four battleships against three), the Italians had the advantage of speed and of being near their bases.
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Battleship Giulio Cesare, circa 1941
Vice Admiral Cunningham's fleet steamed right toward the Italian ships in order to make certain there would be a battle. The British Admiral wanted to avoid the cowardly Italian tendency to refuse contact. He thus sped forth with Warspite, with the slower Barham Mutsu and Ise following behind.
The Italian admiral had planned to keep the action close to Italy and was deliberately moving north in order to draw the Allies closer to their airbases. He was also under orders from Supermarina (the Italian Navy High Command) to avoid unnecessary losses.
By 1400, however, Cunningham's plan to engage the Italian ships before their plan to flee back to their base in Taranto succeeded. The Allied cruiser group was spread out in front of Warspite and the two Nipponese dreadnoughts. At 1515, they caught sight of the Italian main battle force, and the two groups opened fire at 21,500 meters. Splinters from a 6" shell fired by the cruiser Giuseppe Garibaldi hit HMS Sussex, damaging her catapult and the reconnaissance aircraft beyond repair. Vice Admiral John Tovey (the cruiser force commander) decided to disengage, and by 1530, fire ceased.
Shortly thereafter, the Italian commander decided to take on the faster Warspite. He advanced with Cesare into position. At 1552, the battleship opened fire at a range of 26,400 meters. Conte di Cavour had been assigned to Ise, while Duilio had Mutsu and Barham, who were further back and did not enter the engagement.
At 1559, two shells from Giulio Cesare fell very close to Warspite. Almost immediately after that, one of Warspite's 15" (381 mm) rounds hit the rear deck of Giulio Cesare, setting off the stored ammunition for one of her 37 mm anti-aircraft guns. Two seamen were killed and several wounded. The fumes from the burning ammunition were sucked down into the engine room, which had to evacuate and shut down half of the boilers. Giulio Cesare's speed quickly fell off to 18 knots.
Giulio Cesare and Warspite were over 24,000 meters apart at the time of the hit, which was one of the longest-range naval artillery hits in history. Once that happened, the Italian battleship turned tail and steamed north at its slow speed.
At 1601, Admiral Campioni had had enough. He ordered his destroyers to generate smoke, and the battleships got under cover, steaming away north at full speed. The Italian admiral soon received a direct order to disengage and avoid further battle before the rest of his fleet got entangled. The battle continued with cruisers firing at each other and long-range torpedo attacks with destroyers. The battle ended at 1650 with both sides withdrawing, the Italians not wanting to risk their battleships, and Cunningham deciding that sailing too close to the Italian mainland was getting too risky against aircraft attacks. It was hard to fathom why the Regina Marina had not fought harder so close to its shore.
The net result was that the Italian supply convoy was turned back, further complicating Rommel’s supply situation and impeding the German general from advancing further toward Tobruk. Cunningham continued on his way and was able to reach Malta safely, resupplying the island and leaving with the evacuating civilians.
 
[image: A military ship with smoke coming out of it  Description automatically generated]
Royal Navy Battleship Warspite firing its lucky long-range shot during the battle of Calabria, circa December 1940.
While Calabria was sort of a timid naval battle without any losses (the Japanese ships didn’t even fire a round), it was a prelude to what was coming. Cunningham took good note of the Italian’s tendency to retreat. It was there that the inklings of an old idea came back at the forefront of his mind: an attack into the Italian lair at Taranto. The aggressive-minded Japanese were hardly going to disagree with the British.
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CHAPTER 1





Dinner and a toast 



Chita, December 19th, 1940



The room was well-furnished and, most importantly, had a fire burning to dispel the terrible cold outside. It was again the evening, but this time, there was no snowstorm like two days prior when the meeting with Stalin and his military commanders took place. 


The table was filled with food, a meal fit for kings, except that there was no king in the Soviet Union. Things were supposed to be simple and austere. But Red Army General Georgy Zhukov had decided to make an exception for his friend, the German general Heinz Guderian. 


While the fact they knew each other was not common knowledge, the two men had met during Guderian’s time at the Kama tank school in Kazan. It was a secret training school for tank commanders operated by the German Reichswehr at Kazan, Soviet Union. It operated from 1929 to 1933.



Germany, prohibited by the Treaty of Versailles to operate tanks or an air force, was able to find alternative means to continue training and development for its future Panzerwaffe and the Luftwaffe. Apart from Kama, Germany also operated the Lipetsk fighter-pilot school (1926–33) and a gas warfare school, the Gas-Testgelände Tomka (1928–31) in the Soviet Union.



Many of the officers who trained, instructed, or visited Kama later became high-ranking commanders in the Wehrmacht or its Panzerwaffe, among them Ernst Volckheim, Werner von Blomberg, Walter Model, Erich von Manstein, Wilhelm Ritter von Thoma, and, of course, Heinz Guderian. While at Kama, German military personnel were not allowed to wear German uniforms. Usually, civilian clothes were worn, and occasionally also borrowed Soviet uniforms.



Led by German instructors, the school’s curriculum was based on lectures, war games, and technological testing. Soviet and German students studied and worked side by side. This was how the two generals had met. They were then young and enthusiastic colonels full of ambition and had not yet reached the pinnacle of their career as they would in 1941. Nonetheless, they struck up a friendship during those times but had to curtail it when the political situation between the USSR and the Reich soured after Hitler came to power in 1933.



During its seven years of operation, the school produced a number of extremely important technological and tactical innovations for Germany. Among the new technologies were a new tank chassis system, superior guns, and - perhaps most importantly- a radio that could function within a tank. The Soviets had those lessons as well but did not use them as liberally as their German comrades of the time.



Prior to Kama, tank officers would use flags to communicate with their units. The implementation of radios in tanks gave the Germans a tremendous advantage when they invaded France and Poland, neither of whose militaries had fully adopted an in-tank radio. The tactical and operational developments at Kama were also profound. The Germans began to experiment with the use of tanks in the context of Stosstruppen (stormtrooper) infantry tactics from the First World War. 


The result, fully developed by the Wehrmacht under the Nazi Regime, would come to be known as “Blitzkrieg:” a lightning-fast war focused on penetration, encirclement, and close coordination between airpower and mobile army and tank forces. The school at Kama played an integral role in the development of the German war machine during the interwar period, giving the Nazis the tools needed to rapidly develop a mobile tank corps that would prove to be nearly invincible at the beginning of World War II. It was the first step in the surprising friendship between ideological and geopolitical opponents, and the Guderian-Zhukov camaraderie was a fine example of it.



Zhukov raised his glass to his counterpart, sitting on the other side of the large table. They were both dressed in their military uniforms, although it was obvious they had been worn for an entire day. The last meeting with Stalin had concluded a few hours earlier and the dictator had already left Chita to get back to Moscow and to control the reigns of the Soviet state. “Za zda-ró-vye, General.” Guderian responded with a smile and also by raising his glass. “As we say in Germany, my friend, ‘Prost.’” Both men gulped their drinks. They both spoke good Russian and German from their time spent at the Kama tank school. 


“I gather the meeting with your General Secretary went well, Comrade Zhukov,” continued Guderian in an inquisitive tone. The German panzer commander was genuinely curious as to what Zhukov’s opinion of Stalin was since the Russian dictator kept his cards close to his chest with him. Heinz had decided it was because he was German, but still, he was curious about what his friend had to say on the matter. His question was directed at knowing more about the subject. “It did indeed, General,” said Zhukov matter-of-factly. That was another thing that Guderian had noticed with the Soviet Union. Everyone was tight-lipped on everything. He’d heard of the purges in the military but had had no idea it was so bad. But everyone he met spoke in guarded tones as if they were being spied on. 


Guderian tried to press the matter a little more. “And then what? Is he happy with our progress? He seemed quite serious to me. I couldn’t get a read on him.” Zhukov’s face darkened for a moment, and then he answered. “Heinz, it would be better for both of us to avoid certain, eh, sensitive subjects. The Great Stalin is one of those.” He paused, picking up one of the many vodka bottles on the table, and refilled his glass. He stood up and poured some more into the German’s glass. “Let’s talk about something else,” he finally said, sitting back down noisily. The chairs were made of old wood. Guderian wondered how old they were as they seemed to be ancient.



“When do you believe your spring offensive will start? I know we have discussed this in detail, but realistically, when will your panzers be ready to roll and attack Vladivostok? We need to retake the city at the earliest possible time.”



Guderian pondered for a moment and inwardly smiled. He found it interesting that Zhukov, the brave man and relentless military commander, was afraid of Stalin. Something to take note of and send back to his Abwehr agent on his next delivery. While he was in the Far East to make sure the Soviets were happy with their German counterparts, that did not mean he couldn’t make observations and get details back to the Reich as the Fuhrer had ordered him. 


“You are right, of course, comrade General. We should stick to mundane military matters. Leave politics to the politicians, hey,” he answered, raising his glass for another toast. “Indeed,” countered Zhukov with a relieved smile. The German commander continued unabated. “I believe that the ground should be firm enough once the spring thaw is over. I have discussed this with your people here and the good weather will return in April, but the roads will not be useable for heavy military operations until mid-May. I do plan some moves and advances during the winter, however. But no big battles until the good weather comes back. I should start moving up toward the Japanese by mid-January, and we will see how the weather and the cold cooperate.”



Zhukov grunted. Just like the Germans to wait for good weather to be comfortable. He knew that he would attack in Manchuria during winter. He supposed that it wasn’t just Guderian’s dislike of the cold that had made him give this assessment. Reports on the panzer experiencing trouble in the cold were legions. The oil in their engines was not adapted for the frigid Siberian cold weather like the Soviet one. It would take some time for the logistical system to replace and refit the machine for winter warfare.



“I understand your predicament, Heinz. Your troops are not fully equipped for winter, and your machines are struggling with the extreme cold. I will see what I can do to speed up the process.” Zhukov paused to pick up a large piece of chicken. “I need you to find a way to attack earlier, and in coordination with what we discussed I’ll be doing in Manchuria. Using winter is something we Soviets can do quite well. The Japs will not expect us to attack in the dead of winter.”



“I look forward to hearing your ideas and propositions on the subject, General,” answered Guderian, seemingly happy to be able to do something earlier than what his supply people told him they could do to get the army moving smoothly again. “I’ll send a couple of my people back with you at your field HQ in Khabarovsk, and we’ll see what we can come up with. Thank you, Comrade General.”
Zhukov decided to change the subject. “We’ve worked long hours today; let's switch to other things. How is Margarete? And what about your two sons?” Margarette Goerne was Guderian’s wife, and their marriage had produced two healthy sons. “They are doing quite well, thank you for asking Georgy.” answered the German officer with a large smile.
The discussion (and the drinking) went on for quite a while and ended up in the very early hours of the morning.




Eastern Anatolia 

Turkish 5th Division, December 25th, 1940
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The Turkish armed forces that faced the Axis invasion in 1940-1941 were commanded by the same generation of men and, in many cases, the same men who had led it during the War of Independence. That conflict immediately followed the First World War as Turkey struggled to keep its right to exist as a nation.



The Turkish army's excellent reputation was, in large measure, the fruit of the very high opinion held of these leaders by their foreign contacts. Both the British and the French military attaché staffs, for example, judged the Turkish high command to be of a very high standard. When they were allowed to see the Turkish army on exercises after 1937, this favorable impression was extended to cover the entire officer corps. In part, this reputation was a reflection of the prestige as military leaders which the Republic's first presidents, Atatürk and Inonu, had won in the War of Independence; and also in part, particularly in British and French minds, a result of the rough handling they and their allies had received at Turkish hands during the First World War and immediately afterward.



At the head of the armed forces was Marshal Fevzi Cakmak. Cakmak, born in 1874, had graduated from the Military College in 1898. During the First World War, he fought in Macedonia and the Middle East. In 1918-1919, he was commander of the Sultan's forces and, in 1920, became Minister of War in Istanbul. Later in the year, with his friend Inonu (the current Turkish president), he joined the Nationalists in Ankara. 


By the middle years of the 1930s, Turkey was beginning to experiment with armored and airborne formations. In 1939, the Turkish Armored Corps was in its infancy. In doctrine and training, it was German. And in equipment, it was Soviet, though by the following year, some material, quite obsolescent, had been obtained from Turkey's British and French allies. The armored corps was one brigade strong and thus completely inadequate to do anything about the Axis mobile forces. Unfortunately for the Turks in the East, the corps was deployed against the Germans in Constantinople.



While the country’s military reputation had been high before the war, and the Allies had hoped for the Turkish armed forces to give the Axis powers a run for their money, the reality was a different matter. Just like the French at the start of the war, reputation was one thing, but fighting the war itself was another. Turkey did not have an air force to speak of apart from a few modern planes. The rest were outdated and no match even for the badly performing Soviet planes of the early war period. Within two or three days, air dominance was established in both Turkish theaters of war (Eastern Anatolia and Istanbul). With no air cover to speak of, no real modern armored force, and very few motorized transports, Turkey was in dire straits right from the start of the fight.



The true strength of the Turkish army rested in its infantry, just like in the First World War. Its ranks were formed from the Turkish peasantry. And it had those characteristics of the best of armies: an ability to withstand hardship, to accept losses, and to recover from defeat - endurance, sacrifice, and determination: in a word, those major virtues most essential to the prosecution of a successful defense. 


During the First World War, the Turkish infantry soldier, when well-led, had been as good as any in the world; when poorly led, he had still been a doughty foe. Luckily for Turkey, the peasantry and, thus, its infantry retained these characteristics at the time of the Second World War. 


The concept was not lost to the Army commander, Marshal Fevzi Cakmak. After the first defeats in Anatolia, the quick overrunning of the European territory and Istanbul’s western side orders went out for the infantry unit commanders to dig in and resist as best they could in the mountainous, defensible terrain in Anatolia. On the Asia coast of the Dardanelles and Bosphorus Straits, the Turkish force dug in and prepared for the German army to cross the strait.



It was in this setting that Turkish soldier Ismet Gavanoglou manned his little part of a trench somewhere east of Trezibond, one of the Turkish harbor cities on the Black Sea. His trench was covered in snow, as his division was somewhere high up in the mountains, where winter was cold, harsh, and unforgiving. 


It had snowed again the night before, and he felt cold. Everyone around him harbored the same worn and discouraged faces. Morale was low as the Turkish forces were getting beaten at every turn by the overwhelming numbers of the better-equipped Red Army.



The first few fights had been bad enough, but now, at least, they were getting a break from enemy artillery. The Soviets were finding it difficult to move the cumbersome guns into the roadless terrain they were fighting in. When the Turks had been in their prepared positions near the border between the two states, the Russians had had all the time in the world to install their artillery in pre-prepared positions. But now that they were advancing and had pushed back the Turkish forces close to a hundred kilometers inside of Turkey’s border, the guns couldn’t follow the pace.



But airplanes did not have that limitation, and that was why Ismet cursed loudly, gesturing his fist in the sky. The damned Russian bombers were again making a run at their makeshift trenches. The trenches were too shallow to protect from shrapnel and bombs. They couldn’t dig further down since the ground was frozen solid.



Ismet didn’t have a clue about the aircraft model approaching the Turkish line of defense (it was a Petlyakov Pe-8), but he’d learned from hard experience that it was not a good thing to stay unprotected when the big, four-engine bombers approached on a bombing run. The things were deadly, to say the least. The large internal bomb bay racks held up to 4,000 kg of bombs; external racks held a single 500-kilogram (1,100 lb.) FAB-500 (Fugasnaya AviaBomba - high explosive bomb) bomb under each wing. When those hit, the area affected by its explosion (very large from Ismet’s perspective) seemed to shatter in fire and death. 


He looked around, but there was nowhere to run. The trench was too shallow, and his other option was to start running backward in the white snow field. This would not be good as the officers would brand him a deserter, and he might be shot by his own side. Stay in place, and if a bomb landed nearby, he would die or be horribly wounded like some of his comrades. Those comrades were now frozen stiff from the cold after bleeding to death in the Anatolian mountain wastes. 


The bombers were almost over them now, and he thought he saw many small black objects start to fall from the sky near the bombers. He knew what they were: Bombs.



“Everyone hunker down!” yelled the captain near him. Not knowing what else to do, Ismet dropped to the ground and curled himself into as small a ball as possible. He gathered some of the snow in the vain hope this would protect him from shrapnel pieces that would soon surely fly around and shred many Turkish soldiers. 


Seconds later, it seemed that Ismet’s world ended. The ground shook, the air shattered, and the very fabric of reality seemed to unravel. Large explosions rocked the ground, the snow, the trenches. And then the screaming started amidst the chaos of the blasting waves of fires and sounds. The Russian bombers plastered the Turkish defensive positions with over 80 heavy bombers, and the ground beneath them lit up with raging fire and smoke. 


Through it all, Ismet prayed to Allah to keep him alive. He also tried to picture an image of his loving mother and the song she used to sing to him when he was afraid as a child. As he whispered the words, a bomb exploded directly on top of him, mercifully ending his suffering and his life.



The war was going very badly for the Turks. On every front, it was getting crushed hard by the overwhelming Axis forces. The Red Army had penetrated deep into Anatolia, while the Germans, Italians, and other Balkans nations had already taken hold on the Asiatic side of Istanbul, following several successful cross-straits invasions near Kannakkale in the Dardanelles and Istanbul on the Bosphorus. 
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In fact, the situation was desperate for President Ismet Inonu. Turkey’s armed forces were getting badly mauled and didn’t have enough troops to cover the entire length of their borders. With Axis invasions in the Izmir area, the Antalya added to the Soviet offensive in Anatolia, and the two German-Italian-Balkan Nations invasions in the Straits, there wasn’t much he could do.



Istanbul was now under the control of the Axis, and the Dardanelles landing had conquered Bursa, another important city, on the 24th of December. There seemed to be nothing in front of the highly mobile German tank formations there.



Izmir was also under Axis occupation, and the frontline was deep into Turkey, with Aliaga and Marisa occupied. The Turkish army there (the 4th) was in full retreat. Antalya, another important city on the southern coast, had also been attacked by an Axis amphibious landing, and the 6th Turkish Army, too weak to be able to contain the Axis offensive, was beating a hasty retreat toward the interior of Anatolia. And to add insult to injury, the Soviet offensive in Eastern Anatolia had already conquered Erzurum and Van and were hundreds of kilometers deep into the country. 


Surrounded on all sides, beaten at every corner by quantitatively and technologically superior forces, Turkey was not going to be able to hold out for long, and President Ismet Inonu had a decision to take. Surrender or see his country get destroyed.







Marnia Airfield

9 km west of Tangier, December 25th, 1941
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Giles Hayes looked at the landing of yet another A-20 American aircraft. The Douglas A-20 Havoc was an American medium bomber out of the 86th Bombardment Group, a newly constituted unit that kept arriving with more and more planes. There were a lot of new aircraft arriving every day in Marnia, as the place was growing in size with the importance of the area. With the fall of Gibraltar, Tangier was now the main Allied base in the theater. French, British, American, and Spanish troops gathered around it, as well as many of the allied growing air strength. Marnia being only nine kilometers from Tangier, the place was becoming one hell of an important airbase.
Originally, the airfield had been constructed as a temporary facility by the UK, with a hard earth or pierced steel planking (PSP) runway and parking apron, and with few or no permanent structures. There hardly had been enough time to do more as several of the construction men and units were sent to Gibraltar to build the defenses and tunnels that enabled it to resist for so long. Giles had stayed in tents, and most of the ground support crews had been working from them. Several of the people used to shuttle between Tanger and Marnia as there had not been enough housing or billeting for everyone.
But not anymore. If Giles had learned something from fighting alongside the Americans, it was that they were industrious and did not conduct war cheaply. From the moment the first bombers of the 86th Bombardment Group had landed in Marnia, things started to change.
Two full Seabee units arrived in Tangier during the fall of 1940 while the Battle for Gibraltar raged. The units were American specialized military construction battalions. Giles had to give it to the Yanks; they were industrious. One night, one of the U.S. pilots told him the story about the construction units.
Naval Construction Battalions were first conceived in the 1930s. The U.S. government eventually found a solution to building needs on a campaign. It picked up what it needed from the vast pool of skilled labor in the U.S. They basically put tons of skilled workers in uniform to build anything, anywhere, under any conditions. As a bonus, they even got the Marine Corps to train them.
Very quickly, buildings were erected, and the airfield was paved properly. A large control tower was built, along with several antiaircraft defensive positions. Hangers were erected at the same time as billeting buildings. As it stood on December 25th, 1940, the Marnia Airfield was now a full-fledged Allied base and housed hundreds of planes, either fighters or bombers.
“Hayes!” yelled one of the Americans near the barbecues the pilots were gathered around. The man had a beer in hand. Giles turned and smiled at his American pilot friend. “Yes, Comin’, Marvin,” he answered, turning to walk back toward the group of assembled Americans and British. Both Brits and Yanks got along well so far, having very close cultures, after all. Tonight, they were celebrating Christmas since they couldn’t do it with their families.
Giles had been sitting on the wild grass growing just beside their large fighter hangar and had been busy drinking his own beer, looking at the coming and going planes of the now large airbase. As he walked back toward the group of assembled, smiling men, he couldn’t help but smile as well. Americans were industrious, and they also knew how to keep comfortable in war. The bastards even had barbecues and steak for food. Granted, it was a special meal and they didn’t eat prime beef every day, but they got some often enough for the British to be amazed at U.S. resourcefulness. The United Kingdom was under a severe rationing regime, and military people were more or less used to east canned goods and salt beef. It was four ounces of beef concentrate and five ounces of cocoa paste. Disgusting, really, but it was and had been was the mainstay of British troops in both World War I and World War II. The government and the official lines on this were that they could eat it on the move right from the can. Giles and the rest of the pilots in the squadron (and the entire British military, for that matter) believed it was because the authorities tried to poison them. But no one had officially died from the awful food, so that was that.
Giles wished there could be more days like this, where both sides had the same holiday and left the other combatant alone. He wondered what the next day would bring. He was certain it would be a battle he hoped that he would survive it once more.
“You ever so serious, Hayes,” continued his friend Marv. The man’s full name was Marvin Strickland; he was from Virginia and was a fighter pilot like Giles. They had about the same number of years of experience as well. The Yankee pilot was flying a Curtiss P-40 Warhawk, the main American fighter to date in the war. Strickland picked up Giles’ beer from his hands. “It’s empty, you stupid bloke. Here is another one,” he said, uncorking it with his bottle opener. “That’s better,” he continued, putting a new fresh drink in the British pilot’s hand.
Everyone seemed to have a good time, and Giles decided to unwind a little. It was Christmas, after all. They had good food and drinks, and he was with friends. “Okay, Marv, let’s have fun,” he finally said.




A soldier’s story

My war as a sniper
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Was he perhaps one of those marksmen who, at daybreak or dusk, slunk out and lay still, his gaze like that of a cat observing a mousehole, waiting for a shoulder, a head to appear – just for a second – but long enough. A shot cracked in the stillness. From a hand slowly losing its grasp, there fell an empty fruit tin. The basic need that cost a man his life. Is that warfare?
Lieutenant Otto Wisenherm, 3. G.D., 7th German Infantry Division
The art of sniping in the Second World War developed from the sharpshooting practiced during earlier conflicts. I thus, joined a long tradition of soldiers and precision shooters from Europe’s long history of war. My name is Johann Lamsdorf, and I was a sniper in the Wehrmacht during the Second World War.
During the 19th century, the steadily improving technology of the rifle (rifled barrels leading to better bullet accuracy) led to the use of sharpshooters during the American Civil War and the Boer War. The art of sniping progressed from a good marksman simply picking choice targets to the systematic use of selected men during the First World War.
The stalemate conditions of the frontlines paved the way for the art of precision killing. All the armies trained and equipped their soldiers/snipers with highly accurate rifles, telescopic sights, and high-grade ammunition. They engaged high-value targets with single shots, usually at long range.
But as is so often the case, following the conflict, most of the countries discarded the skills and wisdom they had so painstakingly acquired, considering them no more than relics of a type of warfare in the trenches that they dearly wished to forget. The English and the French, in particular, having taken a long time to organize themselves in this field, had been among its best practitioners by 1918 but were nevertheless swift to forget all they had learned.
During the interwar period, little development took place in Germany and elsewhere in Western Europe. Although there was some sniping during the Spanish Civil War, it was Soviet advisers to the Republican side who chose to consider it further when they returned to the Soviet Union and introduced programs to the Red Army to augment existing civilian rifle shooting schemes.
When World War II began, a new style of warfare was introduced by us, the Germans; it was capable of swift and extensive movement and created very different battlefield conditions in a variety of theaters worldwide. My country consequently did not put a lot of serious thought into the matter during the first part of the war. As it progressed further into 1943, 1944, and 1945, things changed significantly. But in early 1941, I had become one of the rare occurrences of a sniper within the Wehrmacht.
I was lucky in two things that made me what I became during the conflict. First, a commanding officer from the First World War who had been a sniper himself and was amiable to it. Second, my proximity with the Russians as I was part of Heinz Guderian’s expeditionary corps in Eastern Siberia against Japan.
I made good friends with a man called Vasily Zaytsev, who is the very reason I became so good at my trade. He is the one who introduced me to the art following my commander’s suggestion that I should look it up.
The man was from Eastern Siberia and, as such was privy to hunting from a very young age. World War II caught him in the position of a chief of finance in the Pacific Fleet, where he had been serving since 1937. Zaytsev had a good position, and the command appreciated him a lot. However, the Japanese attack on Vladivostok, where he was based, forced the naval HQ to be moved north. He, however, never followed, instead joining out of his own initiative the fighting forces of the Red Army.
As the fighting moved further westward and toward Khabarovsk, he took it upon himself to be a sniper, learning the trade from another older and experienced soldier. He found me a magnificent weapon, namely the Mosin-Nagant 91/30 model. The Mosin-Nagant Model 1891 bolt-action rifle combined a simple design by Russian Captain Sergei Mosin with a five-round internal box magazine designed by Belgians Émile and Léon Nagant.
Entering Russian service in 1892, it remained the standard long arm of the Russian infantry through the Russo-Japanese War, World War I, and, in its improved 1930 Soviet version, World War II.
I started practicing sniping after the battle for Khabarovsk. The Japanese were in full retreat, and the dead of winter had set in, this there was much time to shoot and get better at it. With my newfound friend Vasili, I found that my aim was unerring. Apparently, and without effort, I could hit a matchbox at 100 meters and the wooden lid of an ammunition box with sides 30cm long at 300 meters. Even my Russian buddy confessed himself impressed, and that said much since he was incredibly good at his trade.
After that, the rest is history. My own captain, also impressed with my ability, agreed to get me a PU 8x magnification telescopic sight of Russian manufacture (provided by our Soviet allies), and he sent me to the frozen frontlines with these words: “Johann, I have spoken to the divisional commander and told him about your shooting skills and your willingness to work with our Russian friend Zaytsev. It took some convincing because he wasn’t open-minded about snipers, but he now has no objection to you testing your luck on the battlefield. So, my young enthusiastic soldier, you and Vasili show the Japs what you can do!”
And just like that, I moved to the frontlines with my Russian friend to find some targets. The enemy was pretty far from Khabarovsk; hence, it took some time to get there, but we were lucky enough to hitch a ride on a Russian lorry bound for the front.
On January 7th, 1941, both of us reached the frontlines and finally had some targets to shoot at. Vasili also gave me one last piece of advice before we got into the forward positions. “Lamsdorf, don’t think it will be easy. Shooting well was just a foretaste. There will be Japs as good as you right on the other side of that frontline,” he said, pointing at the white immensity before us. “Whatever else you do, remember to keep your arse down, particularly as a sniper.”
The frontline was relatively quiet because of the extreme cold and the heavy snowfall of the last few weeks; the entire area had been hit by several snowstorms in late December and early January. Consequently, most of the soldiers had better things to do than to shoot at each other.
The activity was limited to the occasional minor artillery duel and skirmishes with infrequent reconnaissance patrols, although the pressure from Japanese snipers was enormous. It was very dangerous to expose oneself momentarily, and despite the greatest precautions, they regularly found new victims. Our new company commander was a very open personality and was enthusiatic to see Vasili and me arrive to bolster his unit. He saw the advantage of having his own team of snipers and had complained bitterly when the last of them left before our arrival. This captain’s opinion was not a generally held one. Many officers considered the sniper to be no better than a blackguard and his craft a dishonorable and perfidious form of warfare and thus refused to have any.
The very next day, we went to work, and by God, work well we did, both I and Vasili.




Extracts of Hermann Balck’s 1981 book, Odnung im Chaos: Eirinnnerungen 1893-1948 



The Turkish campaign, December 1940 to January 1941
Historically, Rhodes was famous for the Colossus of Rhodes, one of the Seven Wonders of the Ancient World. My arrival on the island created a lot of excitement for me and some of my fellow historians-officers. The Colossus was said to have been towering atop the old medieval harbor and was erected in honor of the Greek God Helios following the successful defense of the island against a Macedonian attack.
While my division was getting unloaded and a few of my staff officers worked on the administrative details of where to billet them and the rest of the normal things to organize when a unit arrives in a new city, I went about visiting the old harbor myself.
The statue stood for 54 years until a 226 BC earthquake caused significant damage to large portions of Rhodes, including the harbor and commercial buildings, which were destroyed. The statue snapped at the knees and fell over onto land. Ptolemy III, one of the Greek-Egyptian kings of the time, offered to pay for the reconstruction of the statue, but the Oracle of Delphi made the Rhodians fear that they had offended Helios, and they declined to rebuild it. Its remains were picked up and sold for scraps approximately in 600 AD by an Arab conqueror. While I didn’t find any traces of the famous statue with my tour of the harbor, I did sit down and try to imagine the grandeur of it as it towered over the harbor.
Military reality soon caught up to me, however. My division was on Rhodes only as a stopover before its real destination, Turkey. Our orders were to land in Izmir, one of the most important Turkish harbors in the Mediterranean Sea. The division was but one part of the planned invasion, with dozens upon dozens of divisions planned for the offensive. There was an overland attack planned to attack Istanbul and another amphibious operation to land near Antalya, on the Turkish Southern Coast.
The attack was started in Turkey on the 16th of December. The entire affair was a coordinated strike by simultaneous armies coming from everywhere. As was forecast, Turkish resistance snapped almost right away, completely overwhelmed.
Our landing in Izmir (Smyrna in Greek) was not a walk in the park but was facilitated by the Fallschirmjager units from Crete, dropped the night before. With complete surprise, they secured the Izmir harbor, and we just docked our ships and rolled the Panzers out to the attack.
It was founded as early as 3000 BC and was settled by the Greeks before 1000 BC. It was captured by the Lydians about 600 BC and ceased to exist until it was resettled by Alexander the Great in the 4th century BC. It became one of the principal cities of Anatolia. After being conquered in turn by the Crusaders and by Timur (Tamerlane), it was annexed to the Ottoman Empire in about 1425. It became part of the Republic of Turkey in 1923. Thus, as you can imagine, I was keen to get a chance to visit the place and see its historic buildings.
The fight for the city and the area was brief, the Turks not having anticipated our naval landings. In this, I have to take a few lines to mention the excellent tenure of the Italian Navy, the Regina Marina. Although much criticism has been thrown at the brave Italian sailors for their blunders, they also executed several successful operations, like the one in which I participated at Izmir. The Regina Marna didn’t have any specialized landing craft but were still able to get us ashore with expert maneuvering. Their destroyers covered us as well, and they even provided some shore bombardment support when asked. The brave cargo captains sailed right up to the docks as we Germans fired our rifles and handguns from the decks.
The battle for Izmir itself was short, as the Turks were not present in great numbers in the city. I soon passed over the hectic time when the landings and my units needed to be organized, as initially, we simply rolled the panzers out and attacked right away. It thus took me some time to get some semblance of order within the Division.
 
[image: A map of the country  Description automatically generated]
Once Izmir was under German control, my tanks launched toward Manisa. The city was stormed almost without resistance, apart from some local militiamen who proved to be a little stubborn. A few days later, we were in control of Balikesir again without much of a fight. Our first real battle was in Bursa, the historic capital of the Ottoman Empire before Constantinople was conquered in 1453 by Mehmet the Conqueror. There, the Turks made their stand as they were being attacked from every side by forces that crossed the Dardanelles from Istanbul and us from the south. While the battle wasn’t long, I can say that the individual Turkish soldier was brave and tough. After Bursa, we continued our progress toward Ankara, at which point a ceasefire was called, and a few days later, the Turks surrendered.




Attack on Manisa 



Sturzkampfgeschwader 1,
December 26th, 1940
 
[image: A military plane flying over a field  Description automatically generated]
Stuka bomber pilot Hans Bickell took a deep air intake as he finally spotted the outlines of the Turkish coast. He was flying for yet another strike at enemy troop concentrations near Izmir. Attacking Turkey was a hell of a lot better than their last attack on Alexandria. The Allies were starting to have a lot of planes, and the Stukas were proving quite fragile in dogfights and particularly vulnerable once their bombing run was over. Every time Allied fighters made an appearance in the skies near Stukas, they died, no matter how thick the Axis fighter cover was. “Should be like the last time, Leutnant,” said Karell Storch, his rear gunner. “It reminds me of Poland. Good times, hey, sir!” “Indeed, Storch,” answered Bickell with a smile, remembering their war in 1939. That had been quite a stellar campaign. Almost no enemy planes in the sky. They had done whatever they wanted to the poor Poles. “Now get ready,” he said. “We know the Turks have been known to throw a few fighters at us since this fight started.” “Yes, sir,” answered Storch, cracking his machine gun.
“This is Hauptmann Helmut Mahlke to everyone in the squadron,” crackled the squadron commander’s voice over the radio. “Our objective is a small town called Manisa. You will see it quite clearly in the Turkish plain north of Izmir. The Turks have decided to put up some resistance.” As if leading by example, Mahlke’s Stuka peeled off to port and started his descent toward the objective. Below, the blue immensity of the sea had given way to the brown-green colors of the land. Their main base was on the Island of Rhodes (Kalathos Airfield), and they flew all of their strike mission from there. They did so two to three times a day. Hans was tired of the constant fighting of the last few days and hoped that they would eventually get a rest. He eased his Stuka in a slow, arced dive toward the north where their objective lay. The rest of the squadron followed suit, and it was a magnificent sight to see all the crooked-winged planes peel off like a giant flock of black birds toward the ground.
(A few minutes later (…)
“Remember, Bickell,” Hans remembered from the days of his training. “The more a pilot waits, the better accuracy he has.” “Yes sir,” he had said to his flight instructor. “Sometimes, nanoseconds make all the difference in the world.” His Stuka plane was diving at full speed, and his vision was now a blur. The hardest part of the bombing maneuver was to time it perfectly. One of the tricks that Bickell had learned was to fire the Stuka’s forward machine guns to get a better sense of direction for aiming. He did so again and sent a couple of bursts at the group of houses he saw below. The tracers landed at the spot he decided was pretty much where he wanted his bomb to land and explode. The place seemed to be a Turkish strongpoint, judging from the machine gun tracers pouring out of the few buildings centered around a town square, where a group of German soldiers were pinned down by the enemy fire.
“Drop!” he yelled enthusiastically while at the same time as he pulled his bomb lever. The bomb left the Stuka and raced down for the town square. Bickell then quickly moved his hands to his driving stick to start bringing the Stuka back into a level angle to stop its dive and avoid crashing on the ground. As he did so, he saw several tracers coming his way and decided they were just Turkish soldiers firing their rifles and machine guns at him. They missed as it was almost impossible to hit a plane moving at such speed with simple rifles and hand-held weapons. One needed to send a lot of lead at an aerial target to have a slight chance of hitting it.
Bickell’s bomb plastered the area with a large explosion right in the middle of the square, igniting a large fireball and powerful concussive wave that leveled a few already damaged building walls.  Dust, fire, and smoke erupted everywhere around his target. As he pulled up, Storch had a better view of the damage they’d done. “Sir, we hit them right in the middle of that square!”
The bomber took up altitude, and then Hans decided to circle the small town a few times to see if he could find another target with his machine guns. More Stuka dove down on the target, and the area blossomed in large red fireballs, followed by columns of smoke and dust. The Stuka attack seemed to have the desired effect on the ground forces battling the Turks as the Panzers started moving again. The German volume of fire increased, and after a few trips around the town, Bickell decided that the fight was won, seeing several enemy soldiers running out of the town and into the open fields.
“Let’s head home,” he then said, satisfied with the result. “Indeed, sir. Good shooting again, sir!” answered Storch happily enough.




The Axis occupation of Tunis 

The German-Italian buildup in North Africa, December 28th to January 4th, 1941
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Vehicles are unloaded by a Luftwaffe ME 323 Cargo plane | Tunisia



The fall of Gibraltar did not mean the end of the fight for French North Africa and didn’t transition into an immediate Axis invasion of Morocco from Southern Spain. The Allies had built up too strongly for the German commanders in the Iberian Peninsula (von Reichenau and Kubler) to contemplate a landing, especially since the Allies had naval superiority.



In a remarkable airlift and naval operation and with the French forces completely apathetic and disintegrating in Tunisia, the Luftwaffe was able to airlift 7 German divisions, including the 10th Panzer Division and three Italian infantry divisions. The Panzer crews joined their vehicles, sent by ship to North Africa. More were coming from the south (3 additional Italian infantry divisions) as French resistance against German and Italian troops advancing from Tripoli collapsed in a manner of days for lack of supply and morale. Additionally, ships were also scheduled to make the trip, and more units would soon arrive to form the nucleus of a large army for the advance on Morocco and Algeria.
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The force was commanded by newly named General der Panzertruppe Hans-Jürgen von Arnim. The man was a dynamic commander who had commanded the 52nd German Infantry Division in both the battles for Poland and France. 
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General von Arnim, the commander-in-chief of Axis Eastern Africa, circa January 1941



The Axis occupation of Tunisia was rendered necessary because of the impossibility of a direct amphibious assault across the Strait of Gibraltar. The Allies were simply too strong in Morocco and held all the cards pertaining to an attack coming from the sea. 


Tunisia, contrary to Morocco, had many advantages for the Axis forces. It was very close to Sicily (Italy) and was within easy flight distance from the Italian mainland. The Regina Marina (Italian Fleet) could regularly sail troops and supply, and again, it was close at hand at its Taranto and West Coast bases. Sicily and Sardinia provided good airfields for covering a landing and an operation in Tunis. Furthermore, the Axis forces in Libya (Tripoli, mostly) could march overland and join in the occupation of the country.



Tunisia, as a French territory, was ripe for the taking. French colonial administration had almost completely collapsed, and the local population had asserted a lot of power with the void created by the French demise in continental Europe. The Allies had tried to bolster the defenses there from their Morocco power base, but the overall commander there, British General Bernard Montgomery (recently named), had decided that risking his forces too far forward and spending too much resources on the territory was not only risky but pointless. The Allied commander preferred to concentrate on defense and how he would receive the Axis assault rather than moving to the attack without a good prospect of winning.



Consequently, von Arnim was able to move his forces into Tunis without much opposition and with a high level of enthusiasm from the local Arab population, seeing in the German’s arrival a way to shake off the French colonial yoke. By early January, Axis forces had spread all along the coastal areas, occupying Sfax, Tunis, and all of the French defensive line (the Marathe Line) and stood poised to advance inland and toward Algeria. 


The only thing standing between Arnim and Algeria was a small force of French colonial forces, bolstered by a few British and American units sent there as a delaying force.  






The Allied buildup in Morocco 

The general situation by January 8th, 1941
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Following the fall of Gibraltar, the Italian-German landings in Tunis, and the subsequent conquest of Tunisia, events were grinding forward relentlessly toward a confrontation in the Western Mediterranean. The outcome of the coming battle would decide the fate of the Western World and if the Allies could keep themselves in the field against the Axis. Frankly, it was the only spot in the entire world they could do so with some reasonable prospects of victory. The Allies also fought in the Eastern Mediterranean, but the prospects there were a lot less assured than in French North Africa because of the discrepancy of forces fielded by both sides.



The Allies were determined to stop the Axis advance, and the only place they could do it in the Western theater was in Morocco after having been expelled from Spain and Gibraltar. The territory made a lot of sense for them to make a stand. First, it was remote and difficult for the Axis forces to reach. Second, it was just at the entrance of the Mediterranean Sea; thus, by controlling it, the Allies could block the Axis fleets from transiting safely through the Gibraltar Strait. Third, it was easily accessible by sea through a number of modern harbors on the Atlantic coast. Fourth, it was a friendly territory since it was a French and Spanish colonial territory.



And finally, the area was already garrisoned by a great number of soldiers. A little over 100,000 French colonial troops and the remnants of the French Metropolitan Army had concentrated in Morocco and Western Algeria under the command of a certain General Charles de Gaulle, the now de facto leader of the French nation. There were also 20,000 Spanish soldiers, remnants of Franco’s Continental Army, and some colonial forces from the so-called Spanish Protectorate of Northern Morocco, centered around the main Allied base in Tangier.



While not greatly equipped and, despite their overall situation of low morale, they nonetheless represented a great base for a large land army. Equipment was one thing, but a great number of trained soldiers was not something the British nor the still mobilizing Americans had in abundance. It had been decided by the four main Allied nations (France, USA, UK, and Japan) that they would make a stand in North Africa while the defense of Egypt and the Suez Canal would also unfold. 
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British General Harold Alexander had been named overall commander of all Allied forces in Morocco (to De Gaulle’s great dismay), and the Americans and British had started to bring in troops by the thousands into Tangier and other ports along the Moroccan coast.



As much as the United States was not yet a land power and could not have held up to the Germans in a direct, face-to-face fight, the four powerful divisions still came in handy for the Allies in Morocco. These 50,000 men added nicely to the burgeoning forces in North Africa. The British also contributed what they had in the form of two of their excellent infantry divisions, with the remnants of the 1st British Division just evacuated from Gibraltar and a tank brigade. Overall, the Allies had more forces in terms of men than the Axis, but they lacked tanks and enough planes.



It was agreed at the Washington Conference that defense would be the chosen battle stance for now, and Alexander’s mission was to prepare Morocco for a large Axis attack and dig in.







Strong arm diplomacy

The Turks surrender January 8th, 1941
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“Might makes right,” said Joachim von Ribbentrop with a smile at his counterpart, Vyacheslav Molotov. Both men were their respective country’s Foreign Affairs Ministers and had come to Ankara to accept the Turkish surrender. “Indeed,” answered Molotov, smiling even if he despised the German diplomat. Ribbentrop was a vain man, and Molotov didn’t like him very much. The more he saw of the Nazi, the less he liked him. But, alas, it could not be helped; he had to keep up appearances and at least pay lip service to him. He didn’t add anything more to the German diplomat’s claim. Both men were talking with the help of their translators, sitting right beside them.
They were arriving together on the same plane in Ankara, after having both flown on different planes to Bucharest, where they then boarded the same plane. The idea was to arrive together and to show Axis solidarity. Also with them was the Italian Foreign Affairs Minister, Gian Galeazzo Ciano, 2nd Count of Cortellazzo and Buccari. The man kept quiet as he looked through the plane window. He also had his own translator. He was a lot less proficient at hiding his dislike of Ribbentrop. Molotov decided that it wasn’t about proficiency. It was just that he didn’t care and didn’t try to pretend.
Their transport plane, a German Focke-Wulf Fw-200 Condor, also known as Kurier (German for courier), was a German all-metal four-engine monoplane originally developed by Focke-Wulf as a long-range airliner. It was perfect for diplomatic missions. Large interior space, long-range, and enough comfort for the diplomats. Contrary to the last time they were in Ankara, it was escorted by six fighters. Two of them were Russian, two German, and two Italian. It was a grand display of Axis military and diplomatic might. One of the staff orderlies came towards the three diplomats. “Gentlemen,” he started. “The pilot has informed me that we are about to make our descent to land in Ankara.” “Thank you,” answered Ribbentrop with a nonchalant wave of the hand.
The last ten days or so of campaigning on both the eastern and western borders of Turkey had sealed the deal for the Axis, with several field victories in battles where the Turkish forces committed themselves. Two-thirds of the country was now occupied by the Axis, and the Turkish Prime Minister had finally seen reality in his face.
From Molotov’s point of view the Turk’s point of view had been badly wrong from the start. Sure, they liked the Brits better than the Soviets or the Germans. But they should have recognized the simple fact that London could do nothing for them and that hundreds of thousands of well-equipped soldiers and two modern armies were about to invade.
Following the initial attack and successful German-Italian amphibious landings on the western borders and the Soviet eastern offensive, Turkish cities had fallen like dominos. Van, Erzurum, Trezibond, and many more were now occupied by the Red Army. The Wehrmacht and its allies had stormed Istanbul, Bursa, Aliaga, Izmir, Antalya, and countless others.
The Turkish forces were mostly gone by that point, and there remained no Turkish or Allied forces capable of stopping the Axis from completely conquering Turkey. Ismet Inonu had finally sent peace feelers to the Reich, Italy, and the USSR.
The plane wheels touched the airfield tarmac in a great screeching noise, and then the plane rolled to the hangar. Much like the last time they had traveled to Ankara, they arrived at the Güvercinlik Army Air Base, a military airport of the Turkish Army located in Güvercinlik of the Etimesgut district, 10 kilometers west of Ankara in central Turkey.
A stair ramp was brought forward, the door opened, and four armed soldiers exited first, two from the NKVD and two more from the SS. Their hard glare and the point of their guns surveyed their surroundings. When they were satisfied no danger was present, they signaled for the rest of the people in the aircraft to exit.
Contrary to their last visit, no red carpet or military band was waiting for them. Not even one Turkish official was present. There were only three black cars for the delegation and their escort. They got into the vehicles and rode the distance to the Bakanlıklar Government Center, Ankara, where the Turkish politicians waited for them.
They were brought to the very same large conference room they’d been in the last time. In the room were the (surviving) top Turkish military leaders. Marshal Fevzi Cakmak, the Chief of the General Staff, and President Ismet Inonu. General Fahrettin Altay, the commander of the Turkish 1st Army, wasn’t there. It was quite normal since the man was dead, killed by German forces in the battle for Istanbul eleven days earlier.
Inonu and his military commander sat staring silently at Molotov and Ribbentrop, not even signaling for them to sit down. The German diplomat decided that he didn’t need their permission and simply sat down, followed by Molotov, who felt roughly the same way. Their armies were victorious, and that was that. The Turks didn’t have to like it; they just had to submit and join the Axis. The one-sided negotiations could start.
(…) Güvercinlik Army Air Base, two days later (…)
Six hours later, the German Focke-Wulf Fw-200 Condor thundered to the skies with a great roar. The negotiations between the Axis powers and the Turkish state had just concluded a few hours earlier with great success for the Axis powers.
Both Molotov and Ribbentrop harbored wide smiles, with the rest of the delegation in a fine mood as well. Some of them had been left behind to discuss and organize the details of the Turkish surrender and its adhesion to the Axis alliance, but all in all, the two top diplomats’ work was done.
“Quite a different outcome than on our last visit, is it not, Herr Molotov?” The head of Soviet diplomacy smiled even wider. “The Great Stalin will be quite happy about the result of the talks this time,” he answered. “As will the Fuhrer, Herr Molotov. Our work is done here, my friend,” continued Ribbentrop. “We can now go back to our masters and present them with this diplomatic breakthrough.”
The Axis were now victorious in Turkey. Inonu was even forced to sign the Axis pact, not because he wanted to but because he was forced by events and the complete, utter collapse of his armed forces. For all instances and purposes, Turkey was now an Axis realm. Russia, Italy, and the USSR were given territorial concessions everywhere around the country. Stalin regained the territories lost after the First World War and then some, while Italy expanded its little Dodecanese empire with more islands. Germany wasn’t granted any specific territory per se, preferring to let Bulgaria and Romania have a field day with territories. It did, however, get full control of the entire Dardanelles Straits area, along with the Soviet Union.
The quick fall of Turkey was a disaster of strategic proportions for the Allies. With Turkey on their side, the Germans now had a land link to the Middle East and Egypt and could thus send troops overland as well as to be able to supply them more efficiently than with the insufficient Axis fleets. There didn’t remain much time for the British to keep control of the Suez Canal now that the Reich could bring about its forces directly from the continent and with hundreds of thousands of Soviet soldiers on their way to Egypt from Iraq and Persia.




Operation Judgement Part 1 

The Allied attack on Taranto, January 9th, 1941



“Mussolini has become boastful; he has gotten into the habit of referring to the Mediterranean as ‘Mare Nostrum’, which means ‘our sea.’ We are going to change all that ... we are going to change it to “Cunningham’s Pond.” I tell you that with no uncertain voice... And you know what? It's about damned time we do something about that arrogant bastard.”



—Captain Derek Boyd, flight leader, HMS Glorious 1941



A powerful combined Japanese and English fleet sailed proudly in the Central Mediterranean on this clear and crisp day of January 9th, 1941. Big Japanese battleships sailed in a box formation, protecting the precious carrier strike force of Admiral Chuichi Nagumo. At the head of the column was the flagship of the Imperial Navy, the powerful battleship Nagato. Following right behind were the battleships Ise, Hyuga, and Mutsu. Eight heavy cruisers, ten light cruisers, eighteen destroyers. In the center rested the powerful carriers Akagi, Kaga, Soryu, and Hiryu.
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Admiral Nobotake Kondo, the commander-in-chief of the Japanese Expeditionary Force, stood proudly on his bridge, basking in his surroundings. The fact of the matter was that his fleet didn’t have the kind of room to maneuver it was used to. The Mediterranean Sea was no Pacific; thus, he’d chosen to sail in a very tight formation to avoid submarine attacks. The aggressive admiral was finally going to get something done against enemy ships. The Imperial Navy had trained for this, and he felt his men and ships were ready for a great, glorious moment.



A kilometer south of the Japanese ships sailed an equally powerful task force, this one under a Royal Navy Flag. Admiral Andrew Cunnigham, its commander, presided over the two battleships, one carrier, 6 heavy cruisers, and 23 destroyers of the Royal Navy’s Mediterranean Fleet.
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HMS Glorious during Operation Judgement, Circa January 1941



The English sailed in a slightly different formation as they didn’t have several carriers to protect. Only the armored carrier Glorious needed to be protected. The British commander consequently arranged his ships in case a naval confrontation with the Italians happened. His two battleships, Warspite and Barham, opened the way, screened by ten destroyers. Three heavy cruisers remained around Glorious (Devonshire, Shropshire, and Sussex) while the rest (Arethusa, Penelope, and Galathea) glided just 500 meters off the bows of the dreadnoughts.
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Both fleets, probably the most powerful concentration of naval power to date in the war, sailed toward Italy and the main Italian naval base, Taranto. It had taken some time and some hard discussions, but the two newfound allies had agreed to attack the Italian Fleet and remove it as a threat to Allied operations in the Mediterranean. With the loss of Gibraltar and the imminent threat to Suez, the Allied ships would eventually have to evacuate the Mediterranean to avoid being bottled up inside. The goal was to destroy the Regina Marina before it was time to depart from the Mediterranean to safer waters because the Axis was too close to Egypt for comfort. With the destruction or neutralization of the Italian Fleet, any future Axis operations out of the Mediterranean Sea could be avoided. The concept was simple. They couldn’t battle them in the future because it looked like the Allies would soon lose access to the Mediterranean. And they didn’t want them to sail out of the sea through the Suez or Gibraltar. 
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Kiddo Butai (Japanese carrier strike force) in the Mediterranean, Circa January 1941



As early as 1935, when Italy had invaded Abyssinia, Admiral Sir Dudley Pound, Commander-in-Chief Mediterranean Fleet, had identified the southern Italian naval base of Taranto as a future target, and plans had been drawn up to attack it when appropriate. 


The idea of a surprise torpedo aircraft raid against a harbor was not a new one. A planned Royal Navy seaplane torpedo attack against the German naval base at Wilhelmshaven failed to eventuate before the end of World War I. The United States Navy had already war-gamed surprise carrier attacks on Pearl Harbor - as part of the Fleet Problem 13 exercises in 1932 and again in 1938. The Japanese had also taken good note of the potential for carrier attacks against a fleet in harbor and were now eager to try their luck at it and change naval warfare forever.



But Admiral Cunningham, who had stepped into the shoes of the commander of the Mediterranean fleet in 1939, strove to maintain the initiative. Cunningham boldly deployed the ships he had to the central Mediterranean as both provocation and protection. It was mostly a passive-aggressive strategy since he didn’t have the fleet size to confront the Italians in the open seas. It did produce some action, like the recent Battle of Calabria, but mostly, the British stayed well away from the main Italian Fleet for fear of losing everything in one stroke. Things were going badly enough for the Allies as they were.



When the Japanese fleet arrived, the force ratio changed dramatically, especially in terms of carriers. Admiral Nobutake Kondo arrived in Suez with four state-of-the-art carriers. And the mindset changed from defensive-aggressive to completely offensive.
The Allies had little choice.



They were in a bind: The Royal Navy now had to run convoys from Suez and Alexandria to Malta and again from Malta back to Alexandria. The island was the last British base in the central Mediterranean, and it could hamper Axis convoys toward Africa. But keeping Malta alive and fighting meant running the gauntlet, including airbases in Sardinia, Southern Italy, and Sicily, the narrow waters around Pantelleria Island, and more airbases on the south of the Italian peninsulas well as along the north coast of Africa. Gibraltar had fallen, and Egypt was threatened with also falling. Once that happened, the Mediterranean would be an Axis lake. The Italians were running their own heavily protected convoys – inevitably crossing the path of the British as they plowed the waters between Italy and Libya. Tunisia was occupied, Tobruk was about to be under siege, and Soviets troops were advancing in Iraq. And to add insult to injury, Turkey had just surrendered.



It was about time the Allies did something to change the mood and the direction of the war. Looming large over this strategic nautical crossroads were the major naval bases of Valletta on Malta and Taranto on the Italian mainland. From the Italian and Allied points of view, they were the strongest bases in the Mediterranean. For the Allies and the over-aggressive Japanese and British admirals, Taranto was a perfect target. With a victory at sea, the Allies could hamper the critical convoys for the now very large Axis armies in North Africa.



The Combined Anglo-Japanese fleet sailed out of Alexandria on the 7th of January, intent on mischief, and arrived within range of Taranto early on the dark morning of the 9th of January. 


(…) Carrier Akagi, Japanese carrier strike force (…)



The carrier, as its three brothers, Soryu, Hiryu, and Kaga, turned to port and headed into the northerly wind. The battle flag was now added to the "z" flag flying at the masthead. Lighted flying lamps shook from the vibration of engines as planes completed their warm-up.



On the flight deck, a green lamp was waved in a circle to signal, "Take off!" The engine of the foremost fighter plane began to roar. With the ship still pitching and rolling, the first plane started its run, slowly at first but with steadily increasing speed. Men lining the flight deck held their breath as the first plane took off successfully just before the ship took a downward pitch. The next plane was already moving forward. There were loud cheers as each plane rose into the air.



Thus did the first wave of 123 fighters, bombers, and torpedo planes take off from the four Japanese carriers. Within fifteen minutes, they had all been launched and were forming up in the still-dark sky, guided only by the signal lights of the lead planes. 


The scene on the Akagi’s carrier deck was hectic as the Japanese planes were taking off one after the other in thundering noises. They all flew together to assemble in a great host. In the distance, the British carrier was quiet because the much slower British Swordfish planes had been launched an hour earlier.



Towering over them on the Akagi central island was Admiral Chuichi Nagumo, the commander of the Japanese Strike force, facing his flight commander, the very man who would lead the attack on Taranto. “Commander Genda,” said Admiral Nagumo with all the seriousness he could muster. “Everything is ready?” “Yes, Admiral. My men are ready, armed, and willing. We will destroy the Italian Fleet," answered the commander. “Very well, then. Get into your fighter, commander, and,” he said as Genda was turning away to get into the last fighter (his) for the strike, “Godspeed.” “Thank you, Admiral,” answered the flight commander. 


(…) Royal Navy armored carrier HMS Glorious (…)



The same scene had replayed itself an hour earlier on the deck of the British carrier Glorious. The dark of night was being slowly dispelled by the coming of the new day, and in the background the deck sailors could see the lights of dozens upon dozens of Japanese aircraft taking to the sky. 


The British Swordfish bombers had sat on the darkened deck. The torpedo bombers were identifiable by their odd hunchback appearance caused by the extended-range tank behind their cockpits, while the bombers had their tanks slung between their wheels.
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Glorious had turned into the wind and made 28 knots – with the headwind of two knots bringing the total over-deck speed to 30 knots. The objective was to put a Swordfish into the air once every 10 seconds – just enough time for the prop wash to dissipate. 


A green lamp flickered from Glorious central island. The signal for the British fighters and bombers to take off. They were soon into the dark sky. Seventeen minutes later, they finished gathering into their “Vic” formations and assembled inside the Seafire fighter flight formation while circuiting some eight miles from the carrier and set course for Taranto now just 170 miles away. The mission was finally underway.



After one last great circling over the fleet formation, the planes of both the British and Japanese carriers had set course due West for Taranto. It was 0615.







The Battle of El Gethar 

The Axis forces the French into battle and surrender, January 6th to 8th, 1941
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By circumstances more than by design, the scattered French colonial forces that had been defending Tunisia, along with a few small British and American units, ended up in the small mountainous town of El Gethar in Central Tunisia. This was also, again, more by circumstances than by design, where they were forced to give battle to the overwhelming Axis forces.



The fact of the matter was that the Axis forces were highly mobile and possessed tanks and mechanized elements, whereas the French and the tiny Allied forces sent by Montgomery moved mostly on foot. The commander in chief of French Tunisian forces, also in overall command of the area troops, wasn’t the best and most dynamic of commanders. Born out of the fire and trench warfare of the First World War, General Armand Daladier did not see the dangers of his forces being too far forward. His plan was originally to get his forces as a holding action and execute a fighting retreat westward toward the Atlas Mountains. 


Daladier had been in command in Tunis since the start of the war but hadn’t seemed to notice that warfare had changed and also that his country was defeated because it had underestimated the German blitzkrieg and its powerful panzer forces.



Upon landing in Tunis, Arnim was soon informed of the pesky French forces' presence in the center of the country and thus sent strong elements of the 4th Mechanized Division westward to try and envelop Daladier and force him to battle. He also started to bomb the French and their allies from the air while the Allies were not in a position to oppose a lot of aircraft, their main airfields being very far away in Northern and Central Morocco. 


Without really believing he would outflank the French, Arnim set about making it work and, to his great surprise, was informed by his air reconnaissance that Daladier was not moving from his position, a village called El Gethar.



It was incomprehensible to Arnim that his opponent would choose to make a stand there in the middle of nowhere and with such a discrepancy in troops. The Axis forces advanced on the small Tunisian town with over 5 divisions, while Daladier didn’t even have a total of 2 divisions even if all of his smaller units had been combined. 


The 10th Panzer Division attacked the French and American forward positions on the road from Gabes on the coast to El Gethar on the 6th of January, and on the 7th of January, the 4th Mechanized forward elements started to attack the town itself, but from the West. The Germans had thus completed their encirclement, and a dumbstruck and surrounded Daladier was forced to entrench and fight to the finish as there was nowhere for him and his men to retreat.



Dawn was beginning to creep over the eastern horizon on the 8th. It was to be the last day of the battle of El Gethar. The German 10th Division and its supporting infantry divisions force split, with some branching off to attack the enemy locations while the main force continued along the highway toward El Gethar. At the same time, the battle for that town raged fiercely, and the 4th Mechanized penetrated deep, even storming Daladier’s HQ. The French general narrowly escaped capture and moved with the forces in the center of his encircled forces.



The large battlefield quickly devolved into the hell of combat, the booming of cannons, the chatter of machine guns, the explosions of German shells, the screams of the wounded and dying, and the howling of the Stuka sirens. The fight was occurring in a desert-like area. Thus, everything was obscured by dust and haze as a large dark cloud crept heavily over the entire field as far as could be seen. The action soon became so intense that to keep up their fire on the closing German tanks and soldiers, the Allied soldiers were increasingly forced to stay in one firing position too long. This allowed the enemy easier shots, and one after another, the defensive positions were hit and destroyed.



The French colonial forces had too few anti-tank guns and were forced to attack from up close to try to disable the panzers. The paradropped American and British, of course, didn’t have any for themselves either. With their supporting infantry right beside them, the Germans held all the cards, and the brave allied soldiers were decimated.



It soon became a deadly game of cat and mouse as the German tankers and infantrymen tried to seek out the continually moving Allied soldiers. They charged through the hills and the town, successfully infiltrating the enemy positions. 


Above the valley floor, soon to be christened “Death Valley” by the defeated French and Allies, Captain Sam Carter of the 1st Airborne Battalion had watched the entire battle unfold from before dawn on the last day. “There were red, white, and blue tracers being fired…. Soon, these colors were joined by green, purple, yellow, and orange tracers. Soon after this, the larger guns began firing. It was very dark at this time, and nothing could be seen except the source of this large volume of fire slowly moving westward … daylight started breaking, and before us in the valley was an entire panzer division.”



As Carter watched, the tanks moved toward the Allied lines in a giant armored square, mixed in with other armored vehicles and infantry. More divisions would be seen advancing on the flanks and shooting all they had at the French defensive positions in the hills above the main road in the valley. Once the sun rose over the eastern horizon, the artillery fire started, and he had a ringside seat to his comrades’ fight for their lives. It didn’t take long for the Stukas to appear above in the sky and dive into the swirling mass of fighting humanity and dust below.



“Soon the valley was just a mass of guns shooting, shells bursting, dead soldiers, German armored vehicles burning and tanks moving steadily westward,” Carter would later write. “We sat in awe watching the attack….” At the same time, he and his men were worried; if the German attack succeeded, the battalion would be cut off. He ordered them (a full company) to retreat further into the mountains to try and fight another day or else rejoin Allied lines at some point. 


At dusk, Daladier issued a surrender order, following a prompt from the German 10th Division commander. The fight was over for the Tunisian French colonial forces and their allies.







The Soviet campaign against British India part 1 

The Red Army attack, January 1941
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The general situation before the Soviet attack on the Goldsmith line, January 1941



The border between British India and Persia was 564 miles long. It cut through a remote and savage region called Baluchistan. The border itself was based on an 1871 Persian-British agreement after some negotiations. The name of the border was also called the Goldsmith Line, after the name of the British Imperial negotiator who brokered the deal with the Persian Shah of the time.



It was a naturally rough and very defensive position, giving the British a good reason to accept it as a border. It was also the natural spot to prepare a defense of British India’s western reaches. The area was remote, and not many good roads serviced it. It took months for the Red Army to get its men, supplies, and war machines in position for its planned invasion of the English territory. 


But what took the longest time were the negotiations between the Russians and the local Balouchi warlords. The area was difficult to master, and nothing could be done without a reasonable level of collaboration from the locals due to the difficulties of the supply lines. After he arrived in the region, it didn’t take very long for their commander, Red Army General Sobieski, to figure out that nothing significant would happen without some political wranglings and coercion. At that time, the Soviet forces were marred with supply issues due to the supply lines being constantly attacked. 


The region was part of Persia all right but had never been under the direct control of any form of central authority. Local chieftains made the law in these remote wastes. Hence, Sobieski took several months to get everything in order to have enough supply and local support to finally attack British India. He was finally ready to launch his attack in January 1941.
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Ready to launch on the 4th of January, 1941, the Red Army offensive launched with a powerful artillery barrage against the Allied defensive lines. After a few days of shelling, the ground forces attacked on January 8th. But they were stopped right in their tracks by a determined Allied defense. The Indian-British troops were well entrenched all across the border and made good use of the very difficult terrain.



The main problem that faced the Soviets was that there weren’t enough roads. They had to move through the main axis of communication between India and Persia, and they were confined in the mountains. Furthermore, there could be no outflanking to surprise the British forces. The Russian offensive became very predictable. By January 14th, the advance was completely bogged down, and things looked like they would stay stalemated for a while.



Another threat was looming in the northwest of India. The Stava (Soviet high command) had anticipated that the attack through Baluchistan was going to be difficult. The majority of the troops slated for the invasion of British India were moved in position on the Afghan border. The small, impoverished country lay between the USSR and India. Seemingly defenseless because it had no standing army, the Red Army planned to move over 750,000 men and tanks through its larger roads in order to burst into India’s north and outflank the Allied defenses.



The Afghan border with the Soviet republics of Turkmenistan, Uzbekistan, and Tajikistan was over two thousand kilometers long. Since the Afghans had no real forces to speak of, the Red Army decided to enter the country through its two traditional invasion routes. The first was toward Herat and the second one toward Kunduz, with both pincers of the offensive planned to meet in Kabul. 


The attack was launched on the 6th of January, and the Russian troops made good progress for the first week. Once they both reached Herat and Kunduz, things slowed down considerably because of supply problems for the troops. As it was for their comrades in Baluchistan, the Afghan people (also Balouchi) were not exactly welcoming. While they didn’t fight the invading armies directly, they didn’t miss any opportunity to attack supply lines and steal whatever they could. It became so bad that by the 16th of January, a pause was called for the now starved and oil-strapped Red Army to wait for more supplies.
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CHAPTER 2 







Operation Judgement Part 2 

The Japan-British attack on Taranto, January 10th, 1941
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Taranto harbor, circa 1940



The two waves of Anglo-Japanese aircraft rumbled through the darkness towards their target, the main Italian naval base of Taranto. From their home carrier, it was just under two hours flying time,  at only 75 knots, for the British Swordfish biplanes, half that for the Japanese bombers. One aircraft turned back, but the rest pressed on. Over half of the bombers were armed with torpedoes, and the remainder carried flares and bombs. The 155-aircraft raid also sported 50 fighters just in case the Italian air force decided to show itself.



As the first wave of Swordfish began its approach while the Japanese ones came at a different angle (B5N2 bombers), the flare carriers lit up the Italian ships, signaling the torpedo bombers to begin their dive into a storm of anti-aircraft fire. The sky quickly darkened into black puffs of smoke surrounding the approaching planes. The air strike had been detected twenty minutes before by a flight of Italian bombers. The Taranto base was at full readiness when the Anglo-Japanese showed up.



The Allied planes dodged the steel cables of barrage balloons and soaked in the heavy fire from over 800 anti-aircraft guns. Several of them were hit. Fireballs blossomed, and smoke trails dropped from the sky. The moment was a complete maelstrom. 


One big absentee element from the battle raging above the fleet were the Italian fighters. Either by design, cowardice, or sheer incompetence, the Anglo-Japanese raid was not hampered by any Italian aircraft, and the ships were left to fend for themselves.
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Then, the Anglo-Japanese bombs and torpedoes started either falling into the water or on ship decks. The torpedo wakes raced toward the Italian ships. In the harbor rested the great majority of the Regina Marina, the Italian Fleet.
The Regina Marina had six battleships with which to contend for control of the Mediterranean. The four most modern were being (or had been) re-fitted at the outbreak of the war. They were named Littorio, Vittorio Veneto (the two most recent), Giulio Cesare (recently damaged at the battle of Calabria), Caio Duilio, Andrea Doria, and Conte di Cavour. In addition to the six capital ships, the Italians had 19 cruisers, 59 destroyers, 67 torpedo boats, and 116 submarines. Though the Regia Marina had a number of fast new cruisers with good range in their gunnery, the older classes were lightly built and had inadequate defensive armor. Numerically, the Italian fleet was formidable, but there were a large number of older vessels. The service suffered in general from insufficient time at sea for crew training.
Unfortunately for Italy, the majority of the fleet was in harbor at Taranto that day. The reason was simple: the Italian naval command (Supermarina) felt that it was the most secure place in all of the Mediterranean. But it could not have been more wrong.
When the bombs started exploding, and the torpedoes impacted ship hulls, pandemonium erupted everywhere. The Anglo-Japanese planes buzzed about in every direction, followed by streams and bursts of anti-aircraft guns.
The first ship to get hit was the heavy cruiser Bolzano, hit by one of the B5N2 bombs that smashed on its deck and splashed fire and shrapnel on two destroyers nearby. A secondary explosion catapulted some more fire and dark smoke into the sky. The ship was gone an instant later.
The Guilio Cesare, the already damaged battleship (Battle of Calabria), took two torpedoes into its belly. The ship seemed to bend in two like a folding knife and exploded from its center island. Fire sprouted from its side, and a large fire soon engulfed the entire hull. At almost the same time, the battleship Conte Di Cavour was hit by two torpedoes and two bombs. The damage done to the ship was extreme, and shrapnel exploded outward, damaging other ships.
All the while, unopposed Anglo-Japanese planes continued to buzz about and kill Italian ships. The entire harbor area and the water itself were fused together in one raging inferno fed by the oil gushing from the many damaged ships all around Taranto.
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Taranto Harbor at the time of the Anglo-Japanese attack
A couple of B5N2 bombs hit the oil storage depot and its service pipeline leading to the harbor, igniting an unimaginably powerful explosion. The resulting blast leveled every building within a 300-meter radius and damaged several submarines and destroyers docked near the Conte Di Cavour.
The town of Taranto was not spared damage since it lay between one part of the harbor where the majority of ships were docked (the Mar Grande part of Taranto) to the other area (the Mar Piccolo), where many of the Italian heavy cruisers rested. Several stray bombs hit it and it also was afire by the time the Allies left the area.
When all was said and done, the Regina Marina was completely gutted and shattered. Battleships Guilio Cesare, Conte Di Cavour, and Andrea Doria were completely destroyed. They were sunk in shallow waters, indicating a possible salvage operation, but nothing was certain at that point. The other three dreadnoughts were all damaged. It was fortunate for the Italians that they were moored in docks for some repair and maintenance work as they rested in the shallow waters. Additionally, five cruisers, ten destroyers, 3 submarines, and ten torpedo boats were sunk. The rest of the ships were damaged to various degrees, and not one Italian vessel escaped the battle unscathed.
It was a disaster of epic proportions, one that removed the Italian Navy from play for years. The major defeat would create untold problems for the supplies of the already large Axis armies in North Africa and force Germany to intervene again to help its Italian ally.




Kantei, Japanese Prime Minister's residence

Tokyo, January 13th, 1941
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Prince Fumimaro Konoye looked at the painting of the “Hero of the Nation,” Admiral Togo, the victor of the Tsushima Naval Battle in 1905. He wished that times were simpler for Japan. The Army had stupidly triggered a war between the Empire and the USSR, throwing Stalin into Hitler’s arms and unraveling the last fifteen years of Japanese achievements.  Japan had been forced to make peace with China and evacuate it while Manchuria was being systematically conquered by the Red Army. Things had looked up after the conquest of Vladivostok, but a major defeat in Khabarovsk and the destruction of the Imperial forces there had derailed everything.
He was trying to keep his cool, hands behind his back. Behind him and his desk stood officers Hajime Sugiyama and Hideki Tojo. They were flanked by the Imperial Navy’s representative, Grand Admiral Yamamoto. Konoye had just turned his back to them to try and think for a moment and to avoid showing them his displeasure.
They didn’t think they could stop the Soviets from booting Japan out of the mainland and back into the sea. The four men were holding a meeting in the Prime Minister’s official residence, the Kantei. The Japanese Prime Ministers resided there during their official tenure, much like 10th Downing Street in the United Kingdom. It was a luxurious residence built out of stone.
Japan’s situation on the mainland was disastrous. The Maritime Provinces Army, so victorious only weeks before, had been destroyed in the Battle for Khabarovsk, and General Umezu was dead. The Imperial troops had been defeated by a German Army headed by General Guderian. General Yamashita was barely holding back Zhukov, and only a last-ditch effort by the newly-named general had stopped them. Winter slowed down operations significantly, but it would not last.



Military supplies were low, but at least the Americans had started to send unopposed regular supply convoys. Japan simply did not have the industrial infrastructure to fight the Soviet Union over a long period. The American support and subsequent alliance had been achieved at the cost of peace with China. Things would eventually improve in terms of supply and military equipment, but for now, things were not looking good. 


Roosevelt agreed to send Japan some much-needed material support. The Lend-Lease Act was an American policy under which the United States would supply the United Kingdom, France, the Republic of China, and, most importantly, Japan with food, oil, and equipment in the war against the Axis. The aid was given free of charge on the basis that such help was essential for the defense of the United States. The Americans were the greatest industrial power on earth and could support the war as it built up its own armed forces. And Japan would need the help against the Soviet Juggernaut. Konoye decided that he had been right in seeking the American alliance at all costs. It didn’t matter that the stubborn Army generals weren’t happy about it. They would still take the guns and the ammo the Americans provided.



“Prime Minister,” continued the commander-in-chief of the army, Marshal Hajime Sugiyama. “We will soon need to reach decision time.” He turned back to face the three military men. They had come to his residence for an unofficial discussion in order to prepare for the next meeting with the Emperor. While a new army was being landed in Vladivostok, and things looked like they would be able to prepare a decent defense of the former Soviet fortress, the overall picture was bleak.
The gist of the matter was that the Army and the Navy were not confident they could hold on to the territory in Asia against the Soviet Union, Chinese Communists, and now the German troops attacking them. Japan didn’t lack the men and the planes, but it sorely lacked decent tanks, artillery, and anti-tank guns. This meant that in any battle in the open, the Empire was at a disadvantage.
The three men (Yamamoto, Tojo, and Sugiyama) had come to him to get his support on the strategy they wanted to implement. Their idea would not be popular, but Konoye felt it was the best of many options Japan had at the moment. If their ideas had his blessing and then the Emperor’s, they would be accepted by the rest of the military forces. It entailed retreat in order to gain time. But the Empire wasn’t really good at managing retreats or what could be perceived as cowardice and defeat.
Fighting the Red Army in the large open expanses of Manchuria was a dangerous proposition because General Zhukov had much greater mobility than the Imperial forces defending the area. Furthermore, General Yamashita had sent a report that he was confident he could hold the enemy until spring and early summer at the latest, but that after that, he could not guarantee anything if he didn’t receive significant tank and mobile division reinforcements. Once the ground was firm and the cold winter was gone, the mobile Bolshevik tank hordes would be back and could outflank his entire position.
What the three men before him and what Yamashita also supported was to strategically retreat the ground forces to Korea and to fortify Vladivostok. The strategy was entirely defensive and would rely on World War One style warfare, with trenches and defensive positions. By being close to the sea, the Navy would be able to support the Imperial forces with their big guns, and then the air force, still dominant in the sky, would cover the battlefield and attack the enemy forces to wear them down. The Empire needed time to get better weapons. Weapons that the Americans would eventually provide them with their Lend-Lease system. The U.S. had the excellent Sherman tanks, but none were available for Japan at the moment. Roosevelt had promised some down the road. He’d also promised artillery, trucks, and antitank guns.
The proposed line of defense in Chosen (the name for Korea in the Japanese Empire) was believed to be sufficient to hold any attacking forces, even the powerful Soviet forces. From west to east, the area was divided by three significant geographical features: the Yalu River, Paektu Mountain, and the Tumen River. But the key was to do it while Japan still had enough strength on the mainland. The three men wanted to get Yamashita to retreat his forces over the winter months and to have the defensive positions they proposed prepared around what they called the Chosen Line.
The Yalu flowed in a continuous line from the high and mighty Paektu Mountains south to Hyesan before sweeping 80 miles north-west to Linjiang and then returning to a more southerly route for a further 190 miles to empty into Korea Bay between Dandong and Sinuiju. It was shallow in some places and deep in others and traversed mountainous areas. A dream for defense and a tall order for any attacking force.
Then, the Paektu Mountains towered above everything and it would be almost impossible for the Soviets to attack. At 2,500 meters, Mount Paektu was the tallest mountain in the region and was surrounded by peaks almost as high. The mountain notably had a volcano caldera that contained a large crater lake called Heaven Lake and was also the source of the Songhua, Tumen, and Yalu rivers.
Finally, the eastern part of the proposed defensive line was along the Tumen River. It was a 324-mile-long river, rising on the slopes of Mount Paektu and flowing into the Sea of Japan.
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Proposed line of defense for Chosen against the Red Army
The Imperial Military’s plan was simple. Get south of these natural features and dig in to await the enemy attack while the air force and the navy pounded the Soviets, as best they could, to mitigate the large difference in firepower between the Japanese and Russian forces.
The trick was to get the entire military’s approval with the Emperor’s blessing. “As I said, Prime Minister,” continued Tojo, “We need to get the Emperor’s approval in the next high command meeting conference. Once we get it, we can start moving Yamashita’s troops into the line and as stealthily as possible.” Sugiyama continued. “I have already gotten into contact with the Chosen military administration, and they can muster over 60,000 Korean civilians to prepare the defense. It will be hard work; It’s the dead of winter the ground will be hard. We have also rushed every military engineer battalion we have to Chosen and also to Vladivostok to prepare the defenses.”
“Very well, gentlemen, I will support your new initiative with the Emperor and the rest of the politicians,” he said, turning back to face them. “Are you certain you have the support of the Army for this,” he continued, looking at Marshal Sugiyama. “The military had been known to disagree with some Imperial decisions from time to time.” Both Tojo and Hajime looked at him with bland faces. He was referring to the Kwantung Army’s blatant disregard for orders when they attacked. “Of course, Mr. Prime Minister,” said both men with a look that said that it was preposterous to think otherwise.
“Have the new forces arrived in Vladivostok as well,” he asked, looking at Yamamoto. The Imperial Navy was responsible for transporting the new divisions to the city and fortress. “Yes, Prime Minister. Some of their equipment is still on the way, but once Guderian arrives, they will be ready,” said the Grand Admiral, supported by head nods from both Tojo and Sugiyama. He almost started laughing right here and there. Had he not warned them about the folly of their attack against the Soviet forces back in 1939? While he could not fault Yamamoto for the deeds as the man had also been against it, he did remember the other two being enthusiastically for the idea of fighting the Red Army and thinking Japan would win easily.
He turned back toward Tojo’s painting and hoped that Japan would once again prevail over the damned Russians. “Very well, gentlemen. Let’s go and convince the Emperor that it is a good thing to abandon Manchuria and that all the Japanese soldiers who died in the last ten years in China have died just for this moment,” he finished with irony.




Raid on Taranto 

Inside the Japanese cockpit, January 10th, 1941
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Commander Minoru Genda sat in the center seat of his Nakajima B5N2 Type 97 carrier attack bomber, watching aircraft race off the Akagi’s bow into the predawn mist. It was still dark, the moon still above the Japanese fleet, with low clouds and enough of a sea to cause the carrier to pitch heavily, her bow rising and falling; a mistimed attempt to become airborne would be dangerous. There was just enough light to make the horizon a barely visible line under the clouds, and a sliver of light shone on the carrier’s deck.



Finally, the fighters at the head of the pack of aircraft were off, launched first because they needed less of a deck run than Genda’s heavily burdened B5N2s. The bombers, carrying torpedoes and armor-piercing bombs, began their takeoff runs. For this strike, he decided to fly a bomber instead of a fighter because of the mission’s importance. The men needed to be led right up the enemy ship’s throats, and he intended to show them how.



The bomber ahead roared down the slick deck. Genda began his count while he gunned his engine to move his aircraft ahead to position it on the center launch line. His plane rocked in the backwash of the aircraft ahead. When his count reached ten, and after confirming that the previous aircraft had lifted off the bow, he firewalled the throttle. The B5N2 accelerated down the deck. For a moment, his vision blurred as his eyes adjusted to the speed. He became airborne just before reaching the bow.



The sluggish bomber labored into a climb, wings tipping from one side to the other in its struggle against the headwind, and Genda began the process of marshaling his planes that were climbing to the sky. This historic event was only the third time a force of aircraft carriers had launched an air strike simultaneously; The first time had been when the Japanese had attacked the Soviet Pacific Fleet in Vladivostok, and the second during the raid on the Abadan Oil Factory in the Persian Gulf. One hundred and twenty-three planes quickly formed up into a single strike group, in itself a remarkable achievement and a tribute to the airmanship of the Japanese aviators. Only six planes, 4 percent of the intended first wave, were forced to abort their takeoffs because of mechanical problems.



Due to the speed differential between the British and Japanese planes, thirty-two of the British fighters and bombers had left an hour earlier. Since both forces could not speak each other’s language, it had been agreed prior to takeoff that they would not try to over-coordinate the raid and simply fly at the same time and parallel. The concept was not hard; Taranto was immobile and could be easily pinpointed on a map. Thus, the general idea was to take off at the same time, head toward the Italian port also at the same time, and leave the rest to fate, skills, and luck.



One hour and twelve minutes after leaving the carriers, Genda knew that the Allied strike was nearing its target. The morning light and small openings in the thick cloud cover afforded occasional glimpses of the ocean as he strained his eyes for the first sight of Taranto itself. Suddenly, a long white line of breaking surf appeared directly beneath my plane. It was the Italian shore near Taranto.
Veering right toward the pre-set coordinates they had set and ordering everyone to follow his lead, he could see that the sky over Taranto was clear. Presently, the harbor itself became visible across the central plain surrounding it, a film of morning mist hovering over it. He peered intently through his binoculars at the ships riding peacefully at anchor. One by one, he counted them. Yes, the battleships were there, all right, six of them!
He ordered his radioman to send the command, "Attack!" He immediately began tapping out the pre-arranged code signal. The torpedo bombers headed downward in a tumbling roll to launch their torpedoes while the fighters raced forward to sweep enemy fighters from the air or strafe the nearby airfield. The dive-bombers had climbed for altitude and were out of sight. His own bombers, meanwhile, made a circuit toward the largest part of the harbor and the oil depot. No enemy fighters were in the air, but the gun flashes from the ground were starting to blanket the sky around them with puffs of smoke.
The attack was opened with the first bomb falling on the area near the oil depot, followed shortly by dive-bombing attacks upon the airfield north of the city and the docks in the harbor. Fearful that smoke from these attacks might obscure his targets, the dive-bomber commander cut short his group's approach toward the battleships anchored in the Mar Grande part of the harbor and released torpedoes. A series of white waterspouts soon rose in the harbor.
The fighters, meanwhile, had full command of the air over Taranto. About four enemy fighters who took off were promptly shot down. When the attack started in earnest, there were no enemy planes in the air, and the Anglo-Japanese fighters began strafing the airfield and the ships.
Genda's level-bombing group had entered on its bombing run toward the battleships moored and firing away with all they had at the pesky planes buzzing about them. On reaching an altitude of 3,000 meters, he had the sighting bomber take position in front of his plane. As his group closed in, enemy anti-aircraft fire began to concentrate on it. Dark gray puffs burst all around. Most of them came from ships' batteries, but land batteries were also active. Suddenly, his plane bounced as if struck by a club. When he looked back to see what had happened, the radioman said: "The fuselage is holed and the rudder wire damaged." Genda and his radioman were fortunate that the plane was still under control, for it was imperative to fly a steady course as they approached the target. Now it was nearly time for the "Ready to release" moment, and he concentrated his attention on the lead plane to note the instant its bomb was dropped. Suddenly, a cloud came between the bombsight and the target, and just as he was thinking that they had already overshot, the lead plane banked slightly and turned right toward Taranto. He cursed loudly. He and his pilots had missed the release point because of the cloud and would have to try again.
While his group circled for another attempt, others made their runs, some trying as many as three before succeeding. Genda's aircraft were about to begin their second bombing run when there was a colossal explosion in the Italian harbor. A huge column of dark reddish-brown smoke rose to 1000 meters. It was the explosion of the oil depot. The shock wave was felt even in his plane, several miles away from the harbor.
Genda began his run and again met with fierce anti-aircraft concentrations. This time, the lead bomber was successful, and the other planes of the group followed suit promptly upon seeing the leader's bombs fall. Genda immediately lay flat on the cockpit floor and slid open a peephole cover in order to observe the fall of the bombs. He watched four bombs plummet toward the earth. The target - two battleships moored near to each other - lay ahead. The bombs became smaller and smaller and finally disappeared. He held my breath until two tiny puffs of smoke flashed suddenly on the ship to the left, and he shouted, "Two hits!"
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When an armor-piercing bomb with a time fuse hits the target, the result is almost unnoticeable from a great altitude. On the other hand, those that miss are quite obvious because they leave concentric waves to ripple out from the point of contact, and Genda saw two of these below. He presumed that it was the battleship Andrea Doria.
As the bombers completed their runs, they headed back to return to the carriers. Taranto and the air bases had been pretty well wrecked by the fierce strafing and bombings. The imposing naval array of an hour before was gone. The anti-aircraft fire had become greatly intensified, but he continued back to his carrier as his plane thundered away; he saw no enemy fighter planes. He was baffled but happy that their mission was a success.




The Soviet campaign against British India part 2 

The Fight for Baluchistan and Afghanistan, January 19th to 28th, 1941



(…) Baluchistan (…)
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Indian troops in one of the Turbat defensive positions, Circa January 1941
Turbat was a city in southern Baluchistan and the administrative center of Kech District. It rested on the Kech River and thus was a great defensive position on which the Indian and British army rested its defense.  Turbat was the historical capital of the State of Makran and the second-largest city in Baluchistan.
The Allied troops had prepared a very decent defensive line and, with the Kech River, could withstand a major Soviet assault. The battle started in earnest once the border defenses were breached by the numerous Red Army forces. While the Allies fought valiantly and were well-prepared, it was not possible to stop the flood of Bolshevik soldiers streaming everywhere across the border.
Over eight Russian divisions swarmed the river and died in droves while the British Imperial troops did their best to keep them at bay. The fight degenerated into a brawl for over a week, and when it was over, the Soviet troops towered over a completely destroyed town. The British forces were forced to retreat.
Much the same was repeated all along the border, and the initial Russian push into British India was quite successful. It only started to slow down after the first hundred kilometers inside Baluchistan, as attacks on supply lines and simple fatigue set in and stopped the Red Army cold. The front had stabilized on a straight line down, and the British could finally have some breathing room. The towns of Kalat and Bela were still under their control.
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(…) Afghanistan (…)
The small country did not have a standing army, but that did not mean it was defenseless, as the Red Army was able to see after some decent initial success. The 62 divisions bearing down on Afghanistan could not be opposed by any standing forces, and so, the patient and relentless Afghans waited their moments. Their trick was as old as the invasion by Alexander the Great. They stayed hidden or peaceful until the main body of the Russian army went by, and then started to raid and attack the numerous convoys going through to supply the main army advancing inside Afghanistan. Every convoy that was attacked provided food, weapons, and ammunition for future assaults.
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The Soviet offensive was split into two main thrusts. The goal was to have both join in Kabul and then attack as one large column into India. The western attack quickly conquered the Kushka border town, and then, three days later, the major city of Herat fell to Soviet arms. By the 28th of January, the Soviet troops were within a hundred kilometers from Kabul.
The eastern thrust quickly brushed aside any resistance before it, conquering the Temez border town in minutes and entering Kunduz on the 25th. Two days later, the force was within sight of Kabul, and the Army commander (General Yvan Yakulev) ordered a stop to await the delivery of his much-needed supplies.
The end of January was near, and it looked like the Soviets would soon burst into India.




The British landings in Oporto Part 1 

Portugal, January 1941
At the start of World War Two in 1939, the Portuguese Government announced that the 553-year-old Anglo-Portuguese Alliance remained intact, but since the British did not seek Portuguese assistance at the time, Portugal was free to remain neutral in the war and would do so. In a memorandum on the 5th of September 1939, the British government confirmed the understanding. At the time, it was far from imagining the war taking such a bad turn for the Empire. Things were a lot different at the dawn of 1941. The war was at the Portuguese border, and the country would soon have to choose its side.
Portugal was ruled by Antonio de Oliveira Salazar, who in 1933 had founded the Estado Novo ("New State"), a corporatist authoritarian government in control of the country. In September 1940, Winston Churchill wrote to Salazar congratulating him on his ability to keep Portugal out of the war, asserting that "as so often before during the many centuries of the Anglo-Portuguese alliance, British and Portuguese interests are identical on this vital question." But that was all before Operation Felix in November.
The Axis invasion of Spain only confirmed Salazar’s intentions towards supporting the Allies. The man did not like Hitler and was wary of what Germany would do to the world if he conquered it. And it didn’t take a brain surgeon to figure out that the Axis would soon look to Portugal for its expansion. The Azores were very strategic islands in the Atlantic, and it was only a matter of time before the Germans asked Portugal to use then. In short, the clock was ticking on Portuguese independence as a sovereign country or as a neutral.
The Reich did not see Portugal as a friendly nation, and Hitler soon sent his diplomats to feel Salazar out on his country, joining the Axis. Eduard Willy Kurt Herbert von Dirksen (the Reich's former ambassador to Great Britain) was flown to Lisbon on December 6th but was not successful in convincing the Portuguese leader to join the alliance. In the weeks that followed, the Portuguese dictator dithered and gained time, having no intentions of doing the Fuhrer’s bidding. His reason was simple; it was because the Allies planned a rescue.
At the height of the Battle for Gibraltar (in late November 1940), Hitler issued Führer Directive No. 18, which outlined the plan to invade Portugal if British forces were to gain a footing there. German intelligence (the Abwehr) was getting strong indications that the Allies were planning something there. He also requested that the possibility of occupying Madeira and the Azores should be considered, together with the advantages and disadvantages that this would entail for Axis sea and air warfare. Once Gibraltar and Northern Morocco were in German hands, he figured that naval operations could be attempted in the Atlantic, and the islands would come in very handy.
Events were about to come to a head in the Iberian Peninsula. What remained to be seen was how events would unfold and who would make the first move. Not being blind to Portuguese intentions and continued resistance to joining the Axis, General von Reichenau, the commander in chief in Spain, posted three infantry and two panzer divisions at the two main border crossings into Portugal. Two were in Salamanca to cover the northern approach to Oporto, and three in Badajoz for direct quick access to Lisbon. All his armor was in the south, as it was believed that Lisbon needed to be taken first. For the moment, the troops were there more as a holding force or a quick response solution in case of an Allied attack on the Peninsula.
The British, on the other side of the board, thought that the time was ripe for an intervention in Portugal. The Germans were just done with Gibraltar and their forces were in shambles in the Iberian Peninsula. They were also building up in Tunisia, campaigning in North Africa and Turkey. And besides, from Churchill’s point of view there was just no way Hitler would leave Portugal alone. It seemed a good idea to attack now while the Wehrmacht was busy with a long list of other obligations.
The Reich did have some units near the Portuguese border, but Churchill persisted. He was able to enlist the support of American General Patton, who had recently arrived in Morocco, and also the American President.
The Portuguese military was no pushover, having roughly the same numbers (if not in quality and numbers of modern weapons) as the U.S. forces in 1939. 100,000 men defended the home country but also its colonies (an additional 50,000 spread over the world) like the Azores, Timor, Angola, and several smaller enclaves like Macau.
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The Allied planned to land in Oporto, just like the Duke of Wellington had done during the Napoleonic Wars. From there, they wanted to execute a defensive war against the Axis. The main goal was first to help out Portugal to resist the impending Axis invasion. The secondary goal was to throw the Axis off-balance and tie down important units that would otherwise be able to fight either in North Africa, the Near East, or Turkey. For the landings in the northern city, the Allies slated three excellent divisions, namely the U.S. First Marine Division, the British 2nd Infantry Division, and the British 1st Motorized Division. With the roughly 100,000 Portuguese troops, it was deemed enough of a force to unbalance the Wehrmacht and the Italian forces in the Iberian Peninsula.
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From General von Reichenau’s point of view, things were not going as well as they seemed. First of all, the OKW had not yet sent any more reinforcements to his command following the depleted state of his troops. On paper, he had a very strong force, but in reality, he only had five battle-ready units near Portugal. The others were still in Andalusia and would need some time to recuperate from their ordeal in Gibraltar.
In the still dark morning mist of the 19th of January, the Allied landing craft arrived in sight of Oporto, and the Battle for Portugal was about to begin.
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The Battle for Tobruk 

The Germans arrive and attack, January 19th, 1941
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German panzer general Erwin Rommel dropped his binoculars for a moment. A gust of wind scattered the dust around him, and the sun above was bright in a blue sky. He was standing beside his reliable Kubelwagon. “You see, Herr General,” said his chief of staff, Lieutenant Colonel Fritz Bayerlein; the harbor extends all the way to here. “Yes, Fritz, I see,” answered Rommel. “Ah! Is that the destroyer that was sunk by our brave Luftwaffe yesterday?” “It is, Herr General. From a JU88 torpedo attack.” Behind them rested a Panzer III tank, and in the background were the dry, arid desert and rocky formations south of Tobruk.
The battle before them was in full swing. Several dozen Axis planes circled and buzzed about the enemy's defensive perimeter and dropped their bombs. The results of their efforts were obvious, with plumes of smoke dotting the landscape facing the German officers. Anti-aircraft tracers could also be seen climbing in the sky from different angles. A few planes had already crashed, but most continued to attack and pound the British troops in Tobruk.
The Allied forces had entrenched three divisions in the former Italian fortress, and the fight did not look like it was going to be easy. “Herr General,” said Bayerlein, “We should move off of this promontory; an Allied sharpshooter could nail you and become famous.” “Ah, well, Oberstleutnant, that would be most unfortunate,” answered Rommel in agreement. He was one of those officers who led from the frontlines, and Bayerlein felt that he was taking too many unnecessary risks. The elevated position they were standing on was a perfect target for an enemy sniper.
He returned inside his Kubelwagon and closed the door. He signaled to the driver, and the vehicle backed up to go back to the rear. The vehicle bumped hard on the pockmarked road. “Fritz, let's go ahead with the orders for the attack.” “Very well, sir,” answered the staff officer. The Axis plan was to launch a sharp attack on the northern part of the perimeter to get a feel for the defense. The road from Gazala (the town before Tobruk that the Afrika Korps had just conquered a few days before) led to the most direct route to the harbor.
Rommel had decided that he was going to try the simplest approach first. Bayerlein agreed with his commander. They had discussed this a few hours before, and while he wasn’t certain attacking the northern part of the defenses was the best of ideas (because it was the most obvious one), he was inclined to trust his General. And besides, while this might not work, it didn’t matter. He knew Rommel would find a way.
The German attack opened up in a fury by mid-afternoon and under an overcast sky. The Panzer IVs took the lead while the German infantry soldiers followed right behind. It did not take long for the Australian and South African units of General Morshead to respond in kind to the enemy’s approach. Sprouts of dirt and sand lifted up in the sky, and a few of the German tanks were hit by artillery shells and anti-tank ordinance. Fireballs started to blossom across the field of battle. And yet, the Wehrmacht continued to advance.
At about 150 meters from the outside defensive perimeter and the large anti-tank ditch, the German armor encountered the minefield the Allies had laid on the Gazala road to interdict the direct approach. More tanks exploded and went up in flames.
Almost immediately, the Axis advance bogged down, the lead tanks being destroyed or hesitant to advance while the infantry dropped their faces right into the dirt. Morshead’s men then poured fire into the enemy front. The unequal fight continued for a few minutes, after which the Luftwaffe made an appearance and started to bomb the Allied troops and also the minefield in an attempt to clear it for the German attackers.
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Even with the enemy planes, the German attack stayed bogged down, and by the end of the evening, Rommel called it off. The Afrika Korps left the field without any type of success whatsoever, leaving on the dusty battlefield many dead soldiers and destroyed tanks. It was going to take a little more than just a simple attack to master Tobruk because the Aussies and the South Africans had decided to make a determined stand.




Tobruk defensive perimeter 

Fight, January 20th, 1941
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Kevin King, an Australian infantryman of the 9th Division, sheltered his head from the rock splinters showering on him and his comrade, Arthur Archibald. For a moment, the Aussie soldier wondered why he was there. War was hell, and he wished he was back on the farm in his Australian hometown in Blaxland, near Sydney. That was so long ago that it seemed like a dream. It was difficult to try and picture the peace and quietness of that place now that he was at war with all of the pandemonium surrounding him. The ground was shaking with every explosion or artillery shell or bomb landing on the ground near their hiding place. There was a rumble dominating the soundwaves as blasts blossomed everywhere in the perimeter. Dust permeated the entire area. Above them, German Stuka aircraft thundered as their sirens wailed their sounds of death.
Several German-Italian tracers zipped above their heads, for they were temporarily sheltering in a large artillery shell hole that was half-filled with dirty, dead soldiers. They awaited the commanding officer’s orders to advance or to do something else than what they were doing (cowering in the hole). They were in the Tobruk defensive perimeter’s northern section, the one defending the access to the harbor. The battle for the city had started only a few hours ago, but it felt like an eternity to Kevin.
The enemy troops were bogged down about a hundred meters from the anti-tank ditch and near the intricately laid minefield that covered the entire northwestern approach to Tobruk. They were also being fired on by the artillery boys from further back from the perimeter. Some of the German soldiers were dead, hanging in weird positions and angles as they got stuck in the concertina wire before the minefield. They had died in grotesque positions like marionettes shaking in the breeze as the wire kept them suspended in mid-air.
The last few weeks had been one long, grueling hole-shoveling one day after the other, except for the previous days or so when they’d finally spotted the German approach. Gazala, the last city on the road to Tobruk, had fallen. Tobruk was now the only city blocking the Axis from entering Egypt from the West. “Wow, mate, this is fucking terrible,” said Arthur as he crawled to get a peak just over their hole’s lip. A few bullets hit the ground near his head, and he backed down immediately. “You think the Krauts will get through,” continued Archibald with a worried face. It was both men’s first battle, and they were not having fun. “I don’t have a clue, mate,” answered King, equally as nervous.
The rumble of explosions seemed to get louder and louder until they figured something serious was happening. They both risked a glance over the hole’s lip to see what it was about. The Germans were methodically advancing through the minefield, crawling about and trying to fish out the mines with sticks. He could see hundreds of German soldiers doing this while some of the tanks either advanced in it or had been destroyed, now flaming and smoking hulks.
“Come on, King!” yelled Sergeant Osterberry. “Fire at the bastards!” Kevin then registered that every one of the soldiers on his side was firing toward the enemy and pouring fire into their lines. “Let's go, Arthur; we need to get in the game,” he said, shouldering his rifle and aiming at a group of grey-uniformed soldiers negotiating their way through the barbed wire. Arthur dropped beside him, and they both started to fire.
Tracers flew back and forth from both sides as explosions blossomed all across the field. Above in the sky, planes fought against each other, and the German-Italian planes dropped more and more bombs while the British fighters from Egypt tried to kill them. After a few minutes, the enemy reached the end of the minefield, and some of the soldiers started streaming into the barbed wire. Some had even reached the anti-tank ditch, spilling into and over it. They were getting so close that Kevin could see the crazed looks on their faces. He then realized that they were just as scared as he was. He aimed and fired, hitting one of the Germans in the shoulder, sending him reeling back into the ditch.
“Keep pouring fire into the bastards!” yelled Sergeant Osterberry. “We need reinforcements,” he yelled at no one in particular. Kevin could tell that the fight was getting desperate. More and more German and also some olive-uniformed soldiers (Italians) streamed in and out of the ditch while some of the Panzers advanced across the barbed wire line, smashing it under their steel tracks.
Kevin looked back once between shots, then a second time. He saw some of the men running backward. For a moment, he was raked by doubt and a crazy fear. The hordes of enemy soldiers kept pouring through the ditch, firing as they went. He fired once more, uncertain. “What do we do, mate,” said Arthur beside him. He sensed his friend wavering.
“Damn it, let’s go,” said Kevin, turning back toward the rear to follow the rest of the men retreating. It was at that moment that he saw the onrushing group of Aussie soldiers charging and yelling toward the Germans. The tide of battle turned, and they pushed back the enemy across the line.




Stalemate in the Far East 

Soviet and Japanese lines, January 20th, 1941
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In general terms, the frontlines were frozen all across the northern Far East as the cold and snow slowed down operations to a crawl. Nevertheless, the Axis forces were on the move following General Umezu's Army’s destruction.



Vladivostok was completely defenseless, but the Imperial Army was landing forces on a daily basis while the soldiers in the city and fortress repaired and prepared more defensive positions. Following his victory in Khabarovsk, General Guderian and his troops advanced southward. It was a slow, grueling way forward because of the terrible winter conditions. It soon became apparent that the German panzer engines and the oil inside them were not adapted for extreme winter conditions. It took time for the Russians to supply their allies with some assistance. Once that was taken care of, the Germans and Soviet troops headed toward Vladivostok. They advanced to a few hundred kilometers from the city, and another large battle was looming large over the horizon. The Axis difficulties in going forward to exploit their amazing Khabarovsk victory postponed the advance long enough for Japan to get some semblance of defense organized in Vladivostok. 


In Harbin, the frontline was completely stalemated, and no advance nor any major battle was fought from mid-December 1940 to the end of January 1941. The reason was simple. None of the generals (Zhukov or Yamashita) had any intention of going to the attack. Zhukov was recuperating from his defeat and forced retreat while awaiting more reinforcements. Yamashita was busy moving his troops south to the new defensive line the Japanese were preparing in the Yalu-Tumen River line in northern Chosen (northern Korea).



In China, the Japanese forces were evacuating following peace with Chiang Kai-Shek’s Nationalist forces. Tokyo was not very happy about having to do that, but they had to. First of all, it had been the prime condition for the Americans to accept Japan’s entry into the Allies, and second, they would desperately need the troops to fight the Axis in Manchuria and the Maritimes Provinces.



And last, but not least, a new front had opened in the first few weeks of January. The battle for Sakhalin Island was in full swing, with the Red Army attacking from the Soviet-controlled northern side of the island. The outcome of the fight was critical for the Japanese, as Sakhalin was important for them in terms of resources, and it protected the Home Island’s northern flank. 


In general terms, the entire front was stalemated, but it was not forecasted to stay this way forever.



(…) Japanese lines, south of Harbin (…)



General Tomoyuki Yamashita was covered by several layers of warm clothing to shelter himself from the extreme cold of Manchuria. He was outside of his field HQ south of Harbin, where he’d been since his victorious offensive a month before. It used to be a tent, but the Army engineers had built him something more permanent out of a half-destroyed house nearby. The inside of the place was warmed by a fire that was never extinguished. He fought his urge to go back inside as the wind whipped his face and the snow rubbed on his skin. The weather was simply terrible.  He looked at his men in the trench below him, seeing his men suffer from the heavy, cold wind. The snow had come in the last few weeks. It was now covering everything, and his army seemed buried in the white immensity. At least, he thought, the enemy was experiencing the same conditions. Frostbite injuries continued to be reported across the board in many units. Fighting in winter was terrible.



At least, the high command had taken his tactical and strategic suggestions seriously, and he had been ordered to retire his troops south to the Yalu-Tumer River Line. He had been doing so for some time now, but the trick was that he couldn’t do it all at once. The overall objective of the strategic withdrawal was to do it in a way where the Soviets would not realize Japan was doing so. The concept was to try and avoid a rout on the battlefield.



Also, the Empire needed time to evacuate whatever was feasible to move from Mukden and the other industrial cities in southern Manchuria. Time was also needed to build the defenses in northern Chosen. He had not yet visited the place because his continued presence south of Harbin was part of the deception to convince the enemy Japan was still committed to its offensive. He hoped that the men he’d sent there would do what he told them. The defensive line needed to hold if the Empire wanted to eventually turn the tide against the Axis.



His line of thought was whisked away almost instantly as the hard, cold, biting wind swept his face even harder. The air was the coldest he’d ever experienced in his life. Japan had winter, but never as cold as this! His body had somewhat adapted to the temperature, but it never would entirely. Humans were not built to live in these temperatures.



(…) Soviet Lines, in Harbin (…)



Red Army General Georgy Zhukov signed one more order, handing it nonchalantly to the staff orderly lieutenant beside him. “Thank you, Comrade General,” said the young man. He made his way out of the large room his commander was in. Before he stepped out the door, Zhukov spoke. “Lieutenant, make sure this message gets sent exactly as I have worded it, so stand right by the radio operator when he transmits it.” “Yes, sir,” answered the young officer, turning back to face him.



Zhukov took in a deep breath and exhaled slowly. This supply problem was unacceptable, and he wanted the message to be transmitted as strongly as he felt to Chita in Siberia. The city was one of the Red Army’s supply hubs, and he wanted the bureaucratic bastards there to get the message he was not happy with their slow work. The Soviet commander was no beginner to war and he was also not as blind as his Japanese counterpart thought. He had been notified of the Japanese removing troops from their lines, and he knew what that meant. The Japs were planning to retreat south but were moving their units slowly to keep the Red Army from finding out. 


But Zhukov knew. The enemy might have control of the skies with their amazing fighters, but he was still able to send recon planes, especially the larger bombers the Soviet Air Force sported. The plane had a higher operational ceiling than most Japanese fighters could reach and had become one of Zhukov’s most useful aircraft despite its obsolescence. 


The TB-3 was used operationally during the Battle of Khalkhin Gol and had been deemed insufficiently good to stay operational. Although it was officially withdrawn from service in 1939, at the start of the conflict with Japan, the Soviet Air Force had 516 operational TB-3s, with an additional 25 operated by the Soviet Navy. While the ones in the Navy were all destroyed in the initial attack on Vladivostok by the Imperial Navy, the rest of the bombers had been either stationed far from the frontline or else in the Western USSR (in Europe). 


A shortage of combat-ready aircraft caused by the Japanese dominance in the sky (by November 1940, over three-quarters of the Soviet air force in the Far East had been destroyed) forced Zhukov to use TB-3s without fighter escort. The trick was to fly them at the highest possible altitudes, thus avoiding most of Japan’s air might because the Nipponese planes could not go as high as the four-engine heavy bomber. 
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Tupolev Bombers in flight, circa 1940



Thus, having flown dozens of recon sorties in the last weeks, his men had been able to determine that the Imperial forces were in the process of transiting a lot of men and equipment southward. Flights that went further southward, over Mukden, also saw the unmistakable signs of evacuations, as if the Japs wanted to get as much material out of the city before leaving.



With all that being said, the best way Zhukov could deal with this was to attack the enemy now and disrupt his efforts as much as he could. But, apart from fighting small actions and annoying the Japs with his powerful artillery, he could not launch his armies forward. They were still recuperating from the heavy fighting of the summer and fall of 1940. He needed reinforcements, oil, ammunition, and other necessities of war for a campaigning army. But the bureaucratic bastards in Chita were only slowly delivering the gigantic supply stores they were receiving from a continuous flow of trains from the West. For there was no mistaking it: the USSR was building up for a very powerful offensive in the Far East. Zhukov feared that it was taking the Red Army too much time to press its advantage. By the time he was finally ready to attack in force, the enemy would be strongly fortified southward. He looked up at the ceiling in frustration. There wasn’t much that could be done now. 






A soldier’s story

The offensive toward Vladivostok, January 22nd, 1941
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Using the 8x magnification telescope supplied by my company commander, Captain Helmut Danke, I surveyed the terrain extending from our positions through small gaps between an old, half-demolished house. I could not make anything suspicious but was leery of giving the go-ahead to the men of the company and to Vasili. Enemy snipers were reported to be occupying the small hill we were approaching.



At the time, my unit was somewhere between Khabarovsk and Vladivostok, in the large white-covered expanses of nowhere in the Far East Maritime Provinces. German and Soviet units were making good progress eastward, and we all had high spirits and good morale. It was thought (wrongly) that Vladivostok would fall into our laps like a ripe fruit.



Cautiously, I raised a rolled-up tarp (the wall’s remains were about half a meter high, topped by a peaked, white field tarp) while I observed the Japanese position with my sight. Vasili, on the ground beside me, did the same through another hole in the demolished dwelling. We both saw the flash of fire from the enemy rifle and the merest trace of smoke. “I see the slight shimmer of the bastard’s lens,” added Zaytsev enthusiastically. Telescopic sights and their reflections in the sunlight could give away a sniper’s position, as it was during that moment. 


I made a mental note of the first rule of sniper combat: never fire at anything not positively identified. When allowed to fire at will, loose off only one shot into the air, then either change location or at least cease temporarily from further activity and conceal yourself.



Our opponent remained where he was, awaiting a fresh opportunity. It was a fatal error against experienced snipers such as Vasili and myself. We would make him pay with his life. I placed the tarp on the ground beside me and then cautiously poked the muzzle of my carbine through the hole. I could not use the telescopic sight because the crack was too narrow. The Jap was about 90 meters away, within effective range for the weapon’s fixed sights. At that point in time, I was still considered to be “training” along with Vasili, so my Russian friend let me have the kill while he watched and helped direct my shot.



I felt very nervous. The men in the company expected a super-precise shot, and I was now confronted with the task, for the first time in my life, of deliberately aiming to kill a man in cold blood.  Was this scrupulous? My throat was dry, my heart raced, and while aiming the weapon, I noticed how it trembled in my hands. I could not fire the shot in this condition and held back, taking several deep breaths to compose myself. Colleagues surrounded me, watching with expectation as they lay prone on their bellies. Zaytsez also watched and tried to direct me. “Steady, now Lamsdorf. You can do this, mein Freund.”



What could be worse? Disappointing my colleagues or killing a man? I settled the weapon into my shoulder once more, aimed carefully, and hesitated. “What are you waiting for? Let the bastard have it,” one of the soldiers beside me said. Funnily enough, this evaporated my tension. In a dream and with machine-like precision, I began to curl my trigger finger. Taking up the pressure, I breathed in, held my breath, and squeezed. The rifle cracked, and a thick whiff of smoke drifted across the field of fire, obscuring my vision.



Vasili, still beside me and always watchful, shouted. “You got him, man! Right between the eyes! He’s dead.” The news of the death of the Japanese sniper spread like a forest fire through the positions awaiting the bastard to die. Suddenly, MG machine guns began to bark, carbines cracked, and somebody yelled, “Attack!” The enemy on the hill, completely surprised by our activity and sudden assault by German troops, fled their advanced defenses for the rear or their main frontline; we didn’t know yet. We had reached the abandoned position without resistance.



Out of curiosity, Vasili and a few guys in the company made a short detour for the hide from where the Japanese sniper had been operating, a scattered pile of logs beneath which he had dug a hollow – now a shallow open grave – for his body. Beside his feet was a trail of blood. Two jaegers (infantrymen) had dragged the body free by his ankles. The enemy soldier was a young boy or was very young-looking. The bullet had entered through his right eye. A bloody mash of brain and bone splinters covered his upper torso at the back, and the fist-sized exit wound in his head revealed that his skull had been cleaned of cerebral matter by the pressure wave of the rifle bullet. “You hit him cleanly with one shot and over open sights at almost a hundred meters. You are going to be fine, Lamsdorf,” commented Vasili.



I stared at the victim with a mixture of pride, scorn, and bad conscience. All at once, my stomach revolted, and I vomited up my most recent meal of black bread, sardines in oil, and malt coffee. Vasili and my colleagues reacted with sympathy and understanding for my lack of control. A blue-eyed NCO, ten years my senior in years, head and shoulder above me in height and wearing a large reddish beard, confronted me with a striking north German accent: “No need to be ashamed, Lamsdorf, it has happened to the best of us. You just have to move on,” he said before smiling at me. Vasili put his right hand on his shoulder. “Come, mein Freund, let's go have a toast of vodka to commemorate your first kill.”







The British landings in Oporto Part 2 

Operation Wellington, January 19th-22nd, 1941
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American General George Patton in Oporto, Circa January 1941
“Only God and the Navy can do anything until we hit the enemy,” General George Patton, Jr. confided in his diary on the night of January 18th, 1941.  He was in command of the Allied intervention in Portugal, codenamed Operation Wellington, in honor of the illustrious British generals from the Napoleonic Wars. “We will win,” he continued in his typically assured tone.
Patton and the rest of the Allied forces were packed into 38 ships along the North African coast and heading to Portugal. The American general was in overall command of a corps including two British divisions (the 1st Motorized and the 2nd Infantry and one American (the 1st Marine Division). He was not in direct command of the American unit since it was headed by a Marine officer, General Alexander Vandergrift.
One of the sailors who saw Patton on the USS Monrovia, the transport ship that would take him to Oporto harbor, described Patton’s demeanor: “It was to him not a ship’s deck he stood upon, but a peak of glory.”
As part of the planned moves for Operation Wellington, several units were sent in advance by air to help bolster the Portuguese forces in case of a rapid German reaction. It was a well-known fact that von Reichenau had several divisions in Salamanda and Bajadoz, ready to enter Portugal. Thus, it was deemed prudent to get some American boots on the ground, and there was nothing faster than soldiers landing in an airfield.
All 3,400 of them had loaded onto 226 C-47 transports at sundown and taken off at 0100 in the morning of the 19th, bound for the airfield north of Oporto. They made their way along the Portuguese coast, using Lisbon as a beacon to make sure they directed themselves to the right spot.
The aircraft landed in succession in the early hours of the morning twilight after a 5-hour flight. It was timed that way for the pilots to avoid having to land at night.
Once on the ground, the mixed lot of British and American soldiers gathered themselves up on the tarmac as they were greeted by the Portuguese military.
Patton stayed up that night on the Monrovia, sitting at a small table in his underwear, reading the Bible by flashlight. At 0630, and as the Allied fleet was about an hour from Oporto harbor, General Vandergrift (in full battle gear) knocked on his door. He bid farewell to Patton and thanked him for his hospitality as he prepared to depart with the first landing wave. Patton teared up and told him he appreciated his help. He shook his hand and told him to be very careful. “If anything happens to you,” Patton said, “General Marshall will give me hell.” With that, Patton went to bed for a quick nap. He didn’t need to worry since there would be no battle for Porto. The city was in friendly hands, and the Portuguese had expected the Anglo-British troops to arrive.
While the entire concept of Operation Wellington was intended as a secret operation until the Allied troops were on the ground, the Kriegsmarine had several subs in the area that soon detected the ships moving along the Portuguese coastline. Their position was relayed to von Reichenau’s HQ in Cadiz, who soon ordered a flight of Dornier Do 17 “Flying Pencils” to confirm the sighting and get their exact bearing for an airstrike.
By 0430, the German units in Salamanca were ordered to move into Portugal at the best possible speed while the Luftwaffe bombed the fleet around 0700, sinking the destroyer USS Maddox in Porto harbor. The battle for Portugal had thus officially begun.
American fighter planes soon arrived and tangled with the enemy. They were near the fleet as several squadrons were flown during the night in Lisbon’s main airfields near the coast. They were able to scatter the remaining German bombers before the fleet completed its landing operations.
By 0745, the Marines were all ashore and had joined with the Portuguese forces in Oporto. They had a full corps in the area and had already worked on good defensive positions in case the Germans attacked before the entire Allied force landed.
Patton soon joined his men in the city amidst Axis bombs and air attacks. With Luftwaffe bombs still falling around his ship, Patton put on a khaki uniform with puffy, jodhpur trousers and polished cavalry boots, strapped on his ivory-handled Smith and Wesson .357 Magnum revolver, his binoculars and camera, and grabbed his riding crop.
Patton boarded his landing craft with his staff for the quick motorboat trip to the beach, where he stepped on the docks, chomping on a cigar. Equipment cluttered the area as soldiers and seamen wrestled to get weapons and supplies around while men ran toward the inside of the city and their assigned assembly zone.
Geysers from enemy shells erupted in the water, and one of the large hangars exploded spectacularly near the American group led by Patton, who seemed unfazed by the startling moment. “It’s all right, Hap,” Patton told Colonel Hobart “Hap” Gay, his chief of staff. “The bastards can’t hit us. We’re charmed.” At the sight of Patton on the dock beside them, the men smiled and quickened their pace to impress their General.
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By midday on the 19th, the Germans were on the move in Portugal. They brushed aside the light defenses at the border near the main city of La Guarda on the main road to Porto while another thrust, this time only with an infantry division, pushed hard toward Vila Real to attack Porto from the northern side.
Von Reichenau was quick to react to the Allied invasion because German intelligence had expected it. The only thing that he did not know was where the Allies would land. The surprise was complete for the OKW with the landing in Porto since it left Lisbon somewhat open to invasion. The obvious choice had been the Portuguese capital, but the high and mighty commanders of the OKW should have read their history on the Napoleonic Wars and how then General Arthur Wellington had been able to successfully surprise the French and also defeat them in the northern part of the country.
The Germans sent several of their depleted units near Gibraltar and Cadiz northward to bolster their forces in order to attack the Allies in northern Portugal. At the same time, forces started up from Badajoz on the border toward Lisbon to take control of the country’s capital city. A sharp battle was fought there between three German divisions and three Portuguese, soon ending in a total rout of the Portuguese units.
The next morning (January 20th), Patton went to one of the 1st Marine Division forward operating posts, stomped up to the balcony of the commandeered Porto house, and demanded to see what was going on. Just then, an enemy bomb hit near the building, and some forward observers ducked for cover. He bawled the men out for cowering and threatened to arrest them. He then left the building to watch supply ships arriving in the harbor.
Later in the day, a German Messerschmitt Me 109 strafed the harbor, and Major Alexander Stiller, one of Patton’s staffers, opened up with a .50-caliber machine gun, knocking it out of the sky. Patton immediately awarded him a Silver Star for setting an example, encouraging other soldiers, and, most important, engaging the enemy and not diving for cover.
By the end of the afternoon on the 20th, Patton sent a message back to Tangier HQ claiming that he had successfully landed his army in Portugal and could now focus on what to do next. While his job was to mingle with the Portuguese and to stiffen their spine in the defensive fight ahead, he had other ideas. He was of a mind to go and confront the German bastards he so wanted to fight. He ordered his troops to make it to La Guarda as quickly as possible. The men got into the supply trucks, Jeeps, and other local means to get to the frontlines.
By the 22nd, the road to Lisbon was open to the south, while the lead element of the German 23rd Panzer Division arrived in La Guarda outskirts in the north to give battle to the two Portuguese divisions entrenched there. As the American and British forces streamed piecemeal into the town, it was forecast to be a big battle to start the campaign of Portugal in earnest.




Belly landing
Rall-Hayes dogfight revisited, January 20th, 1941
Another chapter of the Hayes-Rall rivalry was in full swing just over the Douro River. The German Luftwaffe was hard at work to cover the Axis bombers trying to destroy and hamper the Allied landings in Porto. At the same time, the Allies were in the air to try to scatter them. German and Italian bombers were attacking the ground and the harbor area while their fighter brothers tried to cover them by fending off the multitude of Allied planes loitering over the harbor and Porto.
The scene was a confused mass of planes crisscrossing each other in the sky and red tracer shells searing the area. Some of the fighters were on fire, some were already down on the ground, destroyed or on fire, and others chased after their enemies in epic dogfights.
Such was the setting in which Giles Hayes, a British ace, and Gunther Rall, also a German ace, fought. Early in the battle, Giles had spotted the Germans engaged in the fight. His enemy fighter had some yellow paint below the nose and a characteristic yellow band with a weird sign resembling a bird on the tail. It was easily recognizable from the other Bf-109s.
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Gunther Rall's fighter plane
On the first two passes, they'd missed each other, and both took some time to find their nemesis again as they got busy shaking off other pilots trying to kill them. Following Rall's two kills against American P-40 Warhawks and Hayes' kill of an Italian Macchi plane, they eventually got back at each other.
Giles had decided to climb as high as his engine would let him and put the full gas on his machine in order to try to get to a towering position before his German counterpart could do so. Rall, close behind and about a kilometer away, did pretty much the same maneuver as his British counterpart. But in the end, the Allied ace had started his ascent earlier than the German and so got on top first.
Knowing that he was beaten to the race, Gunther decided to plunge back into the big white cloud hovering near the Porto and that many planes used for cover during the epic battle above the city. There lay his best chance of survival from Giles' plunging attack. But before he did this, he sent a burst of his Bf-109 engine-mounted 20 mm MG FF cannon shells along with bullets from his two wing-mounted 7.92 mm MG 17s into where he expected his enemy to be. Much of air combat relied on anticipating opponent moves. The shells and bullets raced toward their destination, and Rall was rewarded with a lucky one-in-a-million-hit.
Giles' plane, hit full-on by a German shell, rocked up and down, jutting black smoke. For just an instant, the British pilot thought that his plane would go down in flames and crash or simply explode. But, as fate would have it, his luck held and staved off disaster. His plane significantly dropped in speed, but he still had control. Since the German had already plunged into the cloud, he couldn't see that Giles' plane was damaged and in trouble. Hayes decided that prudence was the better part of valor for this day and veered his plane south toward the nearest Allied airfield in Portugal. They had been ordered to land in one of the airfields near the Portuguese capital (Lisbon) a few days before. They were also provided with a map of the other airfields in the country, as they would be a landing spot in case of an emergency, just like the one Giles faced. He fished out the map from his pants side right pocket and started to look for a place to land. The smoke gathering in his cockpit made it difficult as his eyes stung like hell, but he was able to spot a small landing strip a few kilometers south of Porto.
No other enemy fighters bothered him from his high position, as everyone was busy slugging it out below. Besides, no one really cared about an already damaged and smoking plane. It was, most of the time, doomed anyway. Giles nervously checked his instruments, and the fuel gauge went up and down in the control panel. Everything seemed chaotic. The main engine still rumbled nicely, but he decided that some of the fuel lines or other parts of the aircraft were probably damaged, for the Spitfire was rocking up and down. But mostly down, and he knew that it would not be an easy landing this time. After another 10 minutes of flying, he finally got over the small landing strip he sought. He dropped his altitude down, knowing he could not go up again, and then circled the area once. Since everything seemed quiet, he decided it was time to try his luck and land.
He put his plane on a vector, going in a straight line toward the landing strip edge, and then pulled on the lever for his landing wheels to deploy. The machine rumbled, and a weird, screeching noise was heard. The landing gear didn't open, and the wheels stayed stuck inside the plane's belly. He figured he only had one choice. Belly-land his plane. A very dangerous undertaking; it was something they talked about in training but could never practice, for it was a very dangerous maneuver. And besides, it would have damaged or destroyed the plane. It was the desperate measure that a pilot only resorted to when he had no other choice.
He leveled his aircraft again while lining it up with the airfield tarmac. He cut his speed to a minimum and flew down as gently as he could toward the ground. At ten meters from the strip, he completely cut his engines to avoid them catching fire if the plane tumbled out of control. At two meters, mere milliseconds before he touched the ground, Giles prayed to God and had one last thought about the bastard who had luckily shot him down. He hoped he would face Rall again in battle.
And then the Spitfire touched the ground. Hard at first, and it seemed that he would crash and end his life in a fiery death. But he'd calculated his dive perfectly, and the plane just slid on the ground, followed by millions of sparks and a horrible, metal-screeching noise.
Several bumps later, the plane eventually stopped dead and veered left on itself, resting sideways on one of the wings. Hayes rapidly opened his canopy and jumped out of the plane, just in time to see people running toward him, waving their hands. He hoped they were Portuguese.
Touching firm ground with his feet, he felt relieved. He was safe and sound, without even a scratch. He smiled, looked to the sky, and thanked God. He would live to see another day!




Back in action 

From Cadiz to Salamanca, January 19th-22nd, 1941
(…) January 20th, 1941 (…)
Soldier Marco Peters, an infantryman in the 47th Regiment of the 21st German Division, looked out the railcar window as the warm and nice winter breeze brushed his face. The weather was perfect in southern Spain at that time of the year. The sun shone, and it very rarely rained. The Andalusian landscape blurred by him as they went from the wilderness to small towns back to the wilderness. The train was speeding northward without a stop on the way to Salamanca. It was full of soldiers, and there were even a few railcar flatbeds with Panzer IIIs. Beside him sat his friends Felix Daimler and the young and reckless Max Konstantin. The day had so far been a whirlwind of action, and they were aboard the train as a major emergency had popped up in Portugal.
They had just been released from the hospital ward in Cadiz a few days before and had been slated to rejoin their unit in Salamanca. The 47th Regiment had been detached from the main division to cope with the new threat looming in Portugal. For a while now (apparently), the Abwehr had suspected the Allies could land in Portugal. Knowing this, von Reichenau, their commanding general, had prepared a contingency plan.
Early in the morning, they’d been urgently recalled to the train station for immediate transfer to the Spanish city. Once they got there, the train had been waiting for them, and several other men from different units were aboard. They were unceremoniously shoved inside and, half an hour later, left with the train. The wagon they were in was full of soldiers, but they were not all from the same unit. It was obvious that the Reich was scrambling to get men northward to respond to the new threat.
Marco had been injured in the assault on Gibraltar a few weeks ago. He had received a large shrapnel wound into the leg, causing him to be pulled out of the line. His injury had not been life-threatening but serious enough to cause him severe pain and bring him out of the fight because he couldn’t walk anymore. His left upper leg muscle had been torn, but the good news was that it had not been extremely severe. He had needed time to rest and recuperate and now he felt like new.
“I wish we could have stayed in Cadiz a little longer,” grumbled Konstantin as he scratched his head. The young man did that constantly ever since his bandages had been removed. He was also injured in the same battle as Marco. For him, it had been a shrapnel wound to the scalp. It was nicely healed, but Max claimed it was constantly itching. “Yeah, kid,” answered Daimler. “That nice Spaniard junge Frau would have given you a good time,” he continued, gently hitting Max in the ribs with his elbow. The young kid had indeed developed a quick romance with one of the ward’s nurses. Unfortunately for him, he didn’t have enough time to have the fun he wanted.
Felix was also injured during the battle. His injury was similar to Marco's, but on the arm and on his thoracic cage, thanks to two pieces of shrapnel. He was also completely recovered and considered fit for duty. Overall, the trio of friends was in good spirits as they headed toward Salamanca.
(…) January 20th, Salamanca, early morning (…)
They didn’t even get a chance to stop in the Spanish city. They disembarked the train and were immediately whisked away into trucks bound for the Spanish-Portuguese border. They were issued rifles. ammo and some equipment. Then, their truck drove for hours on end until they started to hear the typical rumble of artillery and battle.
The trip to La Guarda in Portugal took them the entire day on the 20th, and they arrived just in time for the battle for the city. They were exhausted, but there was no time to have any rest apart from having barely slept on the bumpy truck ride.
(…) January 22nd, 1941: Crossing of the Rio Mondego (…)
The Rio Mondego or Mondego River was the longest river in Portugal. The river's name was believed to be derived from the pre-Roman, Hispano-Celtic word Munda or Monda, by which names it had been referred to in classical antiquity by Pliny and Ptolemy, later Latinised into Mondæcus until evolving into the present name. The river was not an extremely wide waterway but wide enough to stop an army and to make it complicated for the Germans wanting to assault the area. It was tactically a logical place for the Allies to establish a defense.
Peters and his two friends were driven to the bottom of a small mountain near the river, across from where the primary Portuguese defenses had been set. Their "rest and refit" period behind the lines was officially over. Marco could hear the shelling and felt the ground shaking. They’d heard it all through their time in the rear and as they approached La Guarda, but it wasn’t the same when you knew you were going to fight in the thick of it.
The unit they were now part of (the 141st German Battalion) climbed the small mountain by the river to set up camp about a few hundred meters from the bank. They stayed on the opposite slope, facing away from the Portuguese defenses and guns for some time, so they were somewhat protected. They got some food and water from the supply boys, and every NCO in sight went through them to make sure everyone had enough ammo.
A few hours later, and just as Marco and his friends had managed to fall asleep on some scrubby piece of ground, their orders came. They were to attempt to cross the river in strength. To make it work, they would be helped by a German Pioneer battalion.  The first attempts to cross the Rio Mondego had already been attempted a few hours before and had been repulsed by the stiff Allied defenses. The high command and most German officers had not thought the Portuguese Army could put up such fierce resistance, but that was just it. They weren’t alone anymore. The Anglo-Americans had been able to rush troops from Porto on the 20th and greatly stiffened their ally’s spine with better equipment and training. The river was only a couple of hundred feet wide in most places, but it was swift-flowing due to the snow run-off from the mountains. The troops were already calling it "bloody river" for all the failed attacks across it and the amount of death flowing through it, sometimes giving it an eerie red color.
For the crossing that the 141st would be involved in, the engineers put up makeshift bridges and placed smoke pots near them to conceal the troop movements. But it did the opposite. The Allies quickly recognized another attempt to cross the river and poured heavy fire on the area. They did so by indiscriminately, saturating the whole ground near it. Wherever there was smoke, they fired at that location.
They got the go-ahead order at noon on the 22nd, and the German troops lurched forward to the attack. They first went up over their protective slope and then ran down toward the Mondego to reach the bridges built by the engineers or what was left of them anyway. The Allies fired a mighty artillery barrage from the rear to try to scatter the Axis attack. As the infantry began crossing the river, the Portuguese and the British opened fire with artillery, mortars, and machine guns at them. The German soldiers did not stand a chance, and Marco, wading in the water, couldn't do much to fight back. The men were still crossing the river, and while he did shoot some toward the distant enemy troops on the river’s opposite bank, he accomplished nothing. All the while, men fell dead or injured around him in the water, with bullets shooting sprouts of water beside him.
Dozens of floating bodies soon surrounded Peters and his two comrades. Every other second, a shell would land near them, creating more corpses. Their luck held while the attack was failing, and the by-now experienced soldiers knew it.
Yet, no order to retreat came.  Peters, Max, Felix, and about twenty men eventually made it across the makeshift bridge and through the water but found themselves alone on the opposite riverbank. They quickly found some cover and hunkered down. The enemy fire was withering and didn't let go.
About half an hour later, during which time the group of German soldiers went through hell just trying to hide from explosions, shells, and bullets, they finally received the order to retreat. After bellowing the order as loud as he could, the surviving NCO within their group sprinted back across the bridge and up into the water. More of them died as they were shot in the back by enemy fire.
The crossing had failed, and the Wehrmacht lost many good men. For their part, Marco and his two friends were so numb with fatigue that they just dropped, on the ground the moment they arrived back to their assembly area.
Just as he finally fell into the deep bottomless pit of exhausted sleepiness, Marco wondered how in hell they would be able to cross the damned river again.




Political friendship and alliances

Washington D.C., January 23rd-30th, 1941
The chief White House butler, Alonzo Fields, walked into an argument between Franklin and Eleanor Roosevelt. “You should have told me!” “But honey,” answered Roosevelt meekly. FDR had just told her that Churchill was arriving that night to stay for “a few days.”
The British Prime Minister, whose plane had just landed in Norfolk from England, was anxious to travel the 140 miles to Washington to see Roosevelt. They had met a month and a half earlier during the Washington Conference. There had been good discussions, but they’d agreed to meet up again in January to discuss the finer points of the Anglo-American relationship. The full alliance was comprised of Japan, the United States, the United Kingdom, and France with several other smaller nations. However, its core was the UK and the USA.
The prime minister flew to Washington from Norfolk on a U.S. Navy plane, and the president greeted him at Washington National Airport. Churchill arrived at the White House wearing a double-breasted peacoat and a naval cap, carrying a walking stick mounted with a flashlight for London’s Blitz-driven blackouts, and chomping on a cigar. Accompanying Churchill that first day was the newly named British ambassador to Washington, Lord Halifax. It was supposed to be his official arrival in the American capital city. The minister of supply, Lord Beaverbrook, and Charles Wilson, Churchill's doctor, flanked the British Prime Minister.
Upstairs, the First Lady, putting the best face on her sudden hostess duties, invited the prime minister and his aides to have tea. That night, after a dinner for 20 where Roosevelt and Churchill traded stories and quips, a smaller cohort retired to the Blue Room upstairs to talk about the war.
Churchill turned the second-floor Rose Suite into a mini-headquarters for the British government, with messengers carrying documents to and from the embassy in red leather cases. In the Monroe Room, where the First Lady held her press conferences, he hung up enormous maps that tracked the war effort.
They told a gloomy tale: Germany and Italy in control of Europe from the English Channel to the Iberian Peninsula, Hitler’s army now invading Portugal, and the Soviets sweeping in Asia. They also spoke volumes about the North African and Middle Eastern situations. Turkey was gone, having surrendered not too long before. Iraq was being invaded, and it would not be long before the Axis hordes appeared in Palestine on their way to the Suez Canal. Egypt was besieged, and then another Axis army was approaching the Allied buildup in Morocco. That made Roosevelt and Churchill’s summit doubly important: The Allies needed an immediate morale boost and a long-range plan to reverse the tide of fascism. They needed a victory in Portugal or in Morocco.
The 67-year-old prime minister proved to be an eccentric houseguest. “I must have a tumbler of sherry in my room before breakfast,” Churchill told Fields, the butler, “a couple of glasses of scotch and soda before lunch and French champagne, and a brandy before I go to sleep at night.” For breakfast, he asked for fruit, orange juice, a pot of tea, “something hot” and “something cold,” which the White House kitchen translated to eggs, toast, bacon or ham, and two cold meats with English mustard.
White House staff often saw the prime minister in his nightclothes, a silk gown with a Chinese dragon on it and a one-piece romper suit. “We live here as a big family,” Churchill wrote to British Labor Party leader Clement Attlee in a telegraph, “in the greatest intimacy and informality.” One night, imagining himself as gallant as Sir Walter Raleigh spreading his cloak over dirty ground for Queen Elizabeth I, Churchill took hold of Roosevelt’s wheelchair and wheeled him into the White House dining room.
Churchill and Roosevelt ate lunch together every day. In mid-afternoon, Churchill would often suddenly declare, “I’ll be back,” then retreat for a two-hour nap. Daytime was a prelude to his deepest work hours, from dinner long into the night. He kept Roosevelt up until 2 or 3 a.m., drinking brandy, smoking cigars, and ignoring Eleanor’s exasperated hints about sleep. “It was astonishing to me that anyone could smoke so much and drink so much and keep perfectly well,” she later wrote.
But FDR hit it off with Churchill.  The President did not share his wife’s shock nor her barely concealed disapproval. He liked eccentricity, which made people more interesting. Though amused by Churchill— “Winston is not Mid-Victorian—he is completely Victorian,” Roosevelt said—he also admired his courage. He brought Churchill along to his January 28th press conference with 100 American reporters, who cheered when the 5-foot-6 prime minister climbed onto his chair so they all could see him. He was “somewhat shorter than expected,” the New York Times reported, “but with confidence and determination written on the countenance so familiar to the world.”
After spending more time with Roosevelt and more talks on the developing situation, Churchill spent most of his time working nervously on the speech he would deliver the next day to a joint session of Congress. “The task which has been set is not above our strength,” Churchill declared in his speech. “Its pangs and trials are not beyond our endurance.”
His seven-day visit was fruitful for the war effort and the overall coordination of the war. Churchill and Roosevelt agreed on several strategies that they hoped would make a difference for the Allies. Churchill was also able to get Roosevelt 100% on board with the Japanese, convincing him that the enemy of their enemy was their friend during several late-night discussions.
They also agreed to give their all to North Africa and Portugal.  Nothing would be held back to win in the theater and start turning the tide against the Axis forces.
At Roosevelt’s insistence, Churchill agreed that a single command center in Washington and supreme Allied commanders in Europe and Asia would coordinate the war effort. The agreement would deeply upset British military leaders, but Churchill headed off criticism by telegraphing to Attlee, the acting prime minister in his absence, that it was a done deal. The General in charge of the overall war effort would be George Marshall, and a commander-in-chief for the European theater was named: General Dwight D. Eisenhower was thus put in charge of all Allied forces on both sides of the Atlantic.
Roosevelt also boosted America’s land-lease effort to Japan, France, and the United Kingdom. And, last but not least, both men agreed, after much insisting from Churchill, it was agreed to send what bombers could be spared to Japan and to form an expeditionary corps to help the Imperials fight the Bolshevik hordes in the Far East.




Schorfheide Forest, in the north of Brandenburg,

Carinhall hunting lodge, January 23rd, 1941
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Carinhall, Circa 1941
The large, majestic, and almost grotesquely luxurious manor was the country residence of Hermann Goering. Located about 40 miles from Berlin, it was built on a large hunting estate in the Schorfheide forest, between the lakes of Grossdollner and Wuckersee in the north of Brandenburg.
Over the years, the Reichsmarschall had furnished it with all of his numerous hunting trophies. Hermann liked to call it a lodge, but it was anything but. A large stone building with a very large number of rooms, luxurious furniture, rugs, and chandeliers, it boasted a larger-than-life ballroom where receptions could be held.
The room where Hitler, Goering, and the trio of Generals heading the OKW (Jodl, Halder, and Keitel) were standing was another good example of a luxurious place. It had a long, Viking-like wooden table that spanned almost the length of the 140-foot room. It was built to house hundreds of people for dinner. The walls were furnished by the multitude of stolen art works that Goering was plundering from every museum in Europe, all the great pieces of art that he was able to get his hands on. In fact, he had sent special squads of experts to scour the land for more and more art objects. The floor was made of large, finely cut stones. It made the place look like a grotesque representation of a glorious, larger-than-life baroque painting from a bygone age.
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Carinhall, Circa 1941
Hitler liked to be in the oversized and overbearing mansion. It fitted right into his grandiose view of what the Reich should be. Hermann Goering was one of the few Nazis around the Fuhrer that had been there from the beginning. He was present in 1923 when they tried the putsch in Munich and had even been gravely injured. An injury that he still bore and still made him suffer in 1941.
The German dictator stood in the middle of the table, with his back to the large fireplace that burned bright to give everyone some very welcome heat. He had both his hands placed on the table with open arms. It was winter, after all. The glow of the fire gave him an eerie aura, adding to the man’s larger-than-life persona.
Goering flanked him to his right while the three OKW generals stood on the other side. One noticeable absentee was the former commander-in-chief of the Wehrmacht, Generalfeldmarschall Walter von Brauchitsch. The man had been sacked by the Fuhrer the week before, and Hitler had thus assumed overall command of Germany’s armed forces.
“I’ve read the latest report from our good panzer general Guderian,” he said with a happy tone of voice. From the OKW generals’ perspective, that was a good thing. If the Fuhrer was in a happy mood, they were in for a smooth meeting. They had all arrived an hour before, coming from different areas of Berlin. Goering had already been in the mansion waiting for them, and it was late at night. A dinner was being prepared for the five men by the Reichsmarschall’s staff people. But before that, the Fuhrer had decided to have the meeting. “Indeed, Mein Fuhrer,” answered Wilhelm Keitel, the OKW commander. “The General is progressing well toward Vladivostok and hopes to be within sight of the city in 10 to 15 days.” “Yes, Marshal Keitel, I have read that as well. What of those supply problems and winter condition issues Guderian is speaking about?”
It was Jodl’s turn to answer this one, as Keitel gave him a head nod to do so. “Mein Fuhrer, it appears that the oil in our panzers, trucks, and other machines is not adapted to the rigors of the Soviet winter. In fact, much of our equipment is suffering badly from the cold. It is a good thing we have them as allies now; they are helping us cycle through our oil and replace it with theirs. Some of our guns do not work when its too cold, and that’s another problem the men in the frontlines have to face. The Soviets have also been very generous in winter clothing. We were a little light in that area as well.” Hitler did not answer the general’s words immediately, instead making a sour face. Everyone knew of his distaste for the Soviets and for Stalin. Knowing the Bolsheviks were better at something that the thousand years Reich was not something he liked to hear. “Teutonic courage and steadfastness will win the day,” started Hitler, gesturing with his left hand and pointing a finger in the air. “German national character is stronger than the weather,” he continued confidently.  “Of course, Mein Fuhrer,” answered Jodl in a way that avoided further maddening Hitler over the matter. “I was just giving you the details and answering your question.”
“Indeed, General, thank you,” countered the German dictator, using a tone a few notches lighter.
He decided to change the subject. “What about this new front in Portugal? I would like to know what von Reichenau is doing to throw the Allies back into the sea.” “Mein Fuhrer,” started General Halder, “The troops in the Iberian Peninsula are pushing hard toward Porto, and we are moving most of the divisions that are still in the Gibraltar area toward Northern Portugal.” Hitler was not satisfied. “What of this battle at La Guarda? I’ve been told that our troops are bogged down near the Portuguese border?” “Indeed, Mein Fuhrer,” continued Halder, putting both his closed fists on the table for emphasis. “But the men are doing their utmost to crush the enemy as soon as possible.” The German dictator did not seem happy with the answer, as he ought to be. The Reich did not have, at that moment in time, sufficient strength in that area to push back the Allies and to rapidly conquer Portugal. He knew it, and everyone around the table did as well. But the Fuhrer had a tendency to ignore facts over fantasy and wishful thinking.
The Wehrmacht was powerful but couldn’t be everywhere at once. It had troops still pacifying Turkey, advancing in Syria, in the Far East (Guderian), besieging Tobruk in Cyrenaica, and pushing from Tunis to Morocco in French North Africa. And these were only its main theaters. It also had to garrison the conquered countries like France, Poland, Yugoslavia, and Greece. “But there are enough divisions to smash the invaders,” Hitler said after he hit the table with his fist in frustration. He picked up a piece of paper beside him. “This order of battle tells me we have 14 divisions in the Iberian Peninsula!” He was yelling now. “Make sure you convey my displeasure to von Reichenau in the strongest possible terms, General Halder.” The German OKW officer knew better than to argue about what his master was telling him. Of course, on paper, there were 14 German divisions in Spain and now Portugal. But apart from the 5 that had been guarding the border in Badajoz and Salamanca (the ones actually involved in the fight in La Guarda and advancing toward Lisbon), the rest were badly depleted and in no shape for a renewed fight after their ordeal in Gibraltar. The Allies had attacked at just the right time, and the Reich couldn’t do much about it for now.
“And what is the Luftwaffe doing about this situation, Hermann,” said Hitler to his Reichsmarschall, turning his unyielding gaze on the chief of the air force. Goering took a moment to compose himself, and then he spoke. “Mein Fuhrer, the Luftwaffe has 2 luftflottes in the Iberian Peninsula, and I have ordered the transfer of another one to deal with the threat.” The Luftwaffe commander spoke with his usual confidence but neglected to tell Hitler that the planes that he’d just ordered to Spain would be solely missed elsewhere. The German Air Force was in the same boat as the Wehrmacht. It couldn’t be everywhere. In addition to the expectations to support all of the before-mentioned campaigns, it also had to protect the Reich from enemy bombings and attack British shipping, notwithstanding the fact that the Russians had requested several squadrons of Bf-109s to help them with the very real Japanese Zero fighter problems in the Far East.
Hitler’s Third Reich was all-conquering and apparently invincible, but that was only on the surface. It only had a finite number of men and resources, and it was starting to show. But Hitler didn’t seem to think about these little details just yet. “Very well, Reichsmarschall, good work,” was his only answer. The OKW generals knew the Luftwaffe commander was stretching the truth by omitting some details, but they were smart enough to keep their mouths shut. It was not a good idea to anger Goering in the Third Reich.
“General Halder, give me the news out of Africa,” said the Fuhrer, obviously wanting to change the subject to something that would undoubtedly be more positive. “Of course, Mein Fuhrer. General Rommel has begun his siege of Tobruk. According to him and theater commander General Kesselring, they are confident to storm the fortress within a week or two. On the other side, that is, French North Africa, General von Arnim reports that his forces have secured the entirety of Tunisia following his victory at El Gethar. He is now making his way in Algeria, and it doesn’t seem the Allies will defend it very strongly.”
“Finally, some good news!” Hitler was genuinely pleased with the report from North Africa.
His mood darkened perceptibly with his next question. “Generalfeldmarschall Keitel, have you prepared the report on the result of the Italian Fleet following the Anglo-Japanese raid in Taranto?” “I have, Mein Fuhrer,” answered the OKW commander. The attack on the Italian base was a disaster of epic proportions for the Axis. “Mein Fuhrer, the Italian Fleet can no longer be counted on as an effective force, and that, for the immediate future.” “Is it that bad?” “I am afraid it is, Mein Fuhrer. The Italians have lost three battleships, 6 cruisers, 10 destroyers, 3 submarines, and 10 torpedo boats. Also, many transport ships are gone, and the oil depot is destroyed.”
There was a perceptible intake of air around the table from everyone. Even Hitler seemed to be checked for a moment, and that was something since the man never showed any weaknesses or lapses during meetings and discussions. “Tell me, Generalfeldmarschall,” he started hesitantly. “Will the Italians be able to continue to fulfill their obligation pertaining to the supply of our by now very numerous armies in North Africa?” Keitel’s face winced, expecting trouble from his master, who did not like bad news. But he always came prepared for a meeting with the Fuhrer, and there was a reason he’d reached so high a position in the military hierarchy. Contrary to von Brauchitsch, who told Hitler things he did not want to hear, he was not made of the same cloth, and thus, he considered himself smarter. “Of course, Mein Fuhrer, they will. Count Ciano has spoken with von Ribbentrop, and I have also received assurances from Commando Supremo that they can. They will simply run smaller convoys and do so from deeper in the Central Mediterranean.” Seeing that Hitler's tension over his question visibly eased, he decided to oversell it a little. It was never bad to make the Fuhrer happy, even if it stretched the truth. “Once we conquer Egypt, Mein Fuhrer,” he continued, “The Allies will have to evacuate the entire Mediterranean, thus making all of our supply problems go away in one fell swoop. Already, they can’t transit into the Western Mediterranean after our conquest of Gibraltar.”
“Mmm,” answered Hitler, with two fingers on his chin, lost in thoughts. “That makes sense.” Keitel was relieved that the Fuhrer did not get mad at the news. This little touch about the conquest of Egypt saved him from the tirade. Of course, he had not told the German dictator that while the conquest of Egypt seemed a sure thing, it was not going to happen tomorrow or anytime soon. That meant supply problems for the armies in North Africa. Obviously, the Italians would not be able to fulfill all of their obligation with so large an Anglo-Japanese fleet on the loose in the Central Med.
“Mein Fuhrer,” interjected Goering. He had good news, thus he wanted to make sure Hitler heard it. “I ordered the immediate transfer, the very next day after the attack, for 300 fighters to be transferred to Southern Italy. The Italians have also moved over 500 of their own to the nearby airfields, and we are expanding the ones too small to accommodate our operation.” He paused, then harboring a wolfish smile. “The enemy will not repeat that attack again.” “Thank you, Reichsmarschall, good work,” answered the dictator.
“Mein Fuhrer,” added Halder, looking at Jodl, who nodded for him to continue as this is a subject they wanted to talk and decide on. “The British-held island of Malta is a serious torn on our side that will have to be reduced at one point. The enemy sorties fighters and bombers from there have sunk over 12 Italian supply freighters and damaged several more last month.” Hitler turned his attention to the general and then nodded to Goering. “Reichsmarschall, please work with Halder and Jodl on this operation. I agree with an operation against Malta.”
“What about the Fallschirmjager operation on Cyprus,” started Hitler, interrupted by one of theservants on Goering’s Carinhall staff entering the large meeting room to announce that dinner was ready. The meeting was postponed and scheduled to continue either during the meal or else later in the evening. Hitler liked to go to bed very late. Hence, the OKW generals and Goering were in for a long night.




[image: ]
CHAPTER 3





Kuntsevo Dacha

January 28th, 1941
Kuntsevo Dacha was Joseph Stalin's personal residence near the town of Kuntsevo, where he lived, although he also spent much time inside the Kremlin, where he possessed living quarters next to his offices. In fact, he often slept on the couch right by his desk. But when he went home, it was to this place. The dacha was located inside a densely wooded birch forest; its defenses included a double-perimeter fence, camouflaged 37-millimeter antiaircraft guns, and a security force of three hundred NKVD. The grounds included lemon and apple trees, a rose garden, a small pond, and a watermelon patch that Stalin liked cultivating. It was as much of a center of power for the Soviet Union as the Kremlin was. The Soviet dictator often received important guests at the house. The entire grounds were covered in heavy snowfall, just as Stalin liked it.
The rectangular dining room was dominated by a long, polished table and covered with rose-design carpets. The walls were decorated with images of Vladimir Lenin and the writer Maxim Gorky. It was in this room that Stalin welcomed the Soviet Politburo for meetings and late-night dinners and where important decisions were often taken. An "almost invisible" door on the wall on one side of the dining room led to Stalin's bedroom and a kitchen.
Situated on the left-hand side of the dacha was Stalin's personal study (where he spent most of the day when at Kuntsevo) with his large war-time desk, a radio that was a gift from Ribbentrop, the German Foreign Minister, and a couch; Stalin preferred to sleep on this couch, instead of his bedroom.
From the entrance, a long, narrow corridor led initially to two bedrooms (mostly used for accommodating occasional guests) and eventually to a large open veranda. On that cold day in January, he sat in a chair, wearing his warm sheepskin coat and a fur hat. Beside him on a small table were a book and a steaming hot cup of tea.
He was busy looking at the sunset in the distant, cold air when one of the NKVD guards opened the door to the veranda. “Comrade First Commissar,” said the young man, saluting sharply. “Yes, Leytenant Dakov?” “Sir, the battle of Baghdad is over, we have won and General Yeremenko reports that he should be in within sight of Palestine within a week.” “Thank you, Lieutenant,” answered Stalin with a grin, never leaving his gaze from the sunset.
He exhaled in satisfaction, and his breath fumed in the cold air. His forces were finally making good progress in the Middle East after some initial difficulties and his reluctance to attack the territory since it would go to the Germans in the end. But now that the Turks had surrendered and joined the Axis, the Wehrmacht was on the move in Syria and had already conquered Aleppo. It wouldn’t do to show Hitler any kind of reluctance to advance and help him with the conquest of the Suez Canal and Egypt. As much as he continued to dislike the German dictator, he found he still had his uses.
He wondered how the fight would go in Egypt. The enemy commander, General Archibald Wavell, had a lot of troops to count on and was able to have a ton of time to build defenses. The reports on the prepared trenches in Palestine and the Sinai were not a good omen for the Axis. But overall, Stalin was confident that they would win in North Africa and the Middle East because they had more troops. The only wildcard in all of his confident thinking was the Japanese element. They fielded a powerful fleet and also had three divisions in Egypt. They were aggressive, and that worried him. The British had a defensive mindset, but the Japs were something else. The proof was Taranto, and he wondered what other surprises the Anglo-Japanese had in mind. If he were Hitler, he would tell Rommel to watch his back. From his perspective, that is where he would order his own men to attack while the German general was busy besieging the city. It was impossible the enemy would stay idle and conveniently wait for the Axis to smash him from both sides.
His line of thoughts moved on to other fronts. He felt confident things were well in hand in the Far East. After his trip to Chita, he was convinced he had the right generals to lead them to victory. Guderian had won an amazing victory over General Umezu’s army, while Zhukov held the line in Harbin. With the continuous stream of reinforcements and supplies, Stain knew that they would eventually push the Japanese back into the sea.
The enemy landing in Portugal worried him a little, as much as so distant a front could. Front his point of view, the Wehrmacht was extended and fighting on multiple fronts, just like the Red Army. The difference was that the Soviets fielded a lot more men and thus could manage more fronts. He looked forward to seeing how Hitler would manage this new problem, added to the defeat in Taranto and the coming fight in French North Africa.
The Veranda door opened once again. “Comrade First Commissar,” it was Leytenant Dakov again. “Stavka command has arrived. Marshals Timoshenko and Voroshilov are here, with Fleet Admiral Kuznetsov and Foreign Minister Molotov.” He paused in case Stalin wanted to speak, but the dictator continued to look at the sunset. “I checked with the kitchen, and dinner will be ready within about an hour.”
“Thank you; get everyone in the kitchen for the meeting and tell them I will be there shortly.” “Yes, Comrade First Commissar.”




Fallschirmjagers over Cyprus

Operation Jupiter, January 28th- February 4th, 1941
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Fallschirmjagers soldiers after having landed in Cyprus with their DFS230 gliders, January 28th, 1941
In the early hours of the morning of the 28th of January 1941, and just as the sun started to rise, the Italian-German troops arrived over the Cyprus sky. The metal of their flying machines glinted in the early sunrise as the ground below them already rumbled with the blasts and explosions of the Axis planes attacking the Allied position defending on the ground.
Their intent was obvious, with the hundreds of DFS230 gliders they brought with them and the planes above. The invasion of Cyprus had begun. The island was a strategic spot for both the Axis and the Allies. Located in the heart of the Eastern Mediterranean and not far from the Turkish coast, it offered the countries occupying it a very large and well-positioned airbase with which to dominate the area.  If one thing had been learned by the Germans and Italians following the disastrous defeat at Taranto, it was that the Allied fleet could not be opposed at sea. Only land-based aircraft could either destroy it or scatter it away since the Axis didn’t have one aircraft carrier, and half its battleship strength had gone under.
As much as Cyprus had been on the Axis target list as a follow-up operation after The Turkish campaign and as part of the developing campaign for Egypt, it had not been placed at the top of the list by the OKW and Commando Supremo, the Italian high command headed by Mussolini and his generals. But Taranto significantly changed the equation, and Cyprus, being closer to Alexandria (Egypt’s main harbor), was given top priority.
With control of Crete, the Syrian coast, and Cyprus, it was believed that the Royal Italian Air Force, Soviet Air Force, and the Luftwaffe would have enough airfield to force the Anglo-Japanese to retire to the Red Sea and beyond because of the danger their ships would be in. It was a means to remove the ability of the Allied navies room to maneuver. The Japs could have all the elite pilots they wanted, but the Axis would bury them in planes.
Packed to the gills with the fierce battle-honed Fallschirmjager troops (German paratroopers), the gliders soon started to fall from the sky, landing in numerous spots across the land.
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The Axis plan was simple in design but complex in execution. As Crete proved during the fall of 1940, paratroopers were not immune to high and catastrophic losses against well-prepared enemies. Landing zones and wind factors were difficult things to figure out in advance, nor was it probable to land exactly where planned.
And thus was born Operation Jupiter, which proposed the simultaneous paratroop attacks in Nicosia, the capital; Keryneia, the main harbor; Famagusta, another important harbor but on the southern coast; and finally, in Limassol, also on the southern coast. Every one of those areas was defended by a light battalion of Allied troops. It was believed that once they controlled these four important areas of Cyprus, the island would be under their control.
For the Operation, the Germans could count on four regiments of battle-hardened Fallschirmjagers, supplemented by several elements of the excellent Italian paratroopers' division, the Folgore. A follow-up landing was also planned for 2 panzer and 1 infantry regiments to land in Keryneia to stiffen the spine of the para drop operation.
The British, for their part, knew the critical importance of Cyprus, and as much as they wanted to keep it, it would be nearly impossible. The number of troops they put together for its defense did not translate into how strongly they felt about it because they just couldn’t send more. The Allies also learned from past mistakes, and the large number of troops they lost in Crete was a stark reminder that any sort of naval evacuation under enemy fire would not be easy to do.
In 1919, the Versailles Treaty declared, “the manufacture and importation of aircraft, parts of aircraft, engines for aircraft, and parts of engines for aircraft, shall be forbidden in all German territory.” But the treaty said nothing about gliders, and in the 1920s, glider clubs sprang up all over Germany, training many aviators who would one day form the core of Hitler’s Luftwaffe. In 1933, German glider activity was centralized at Darmstadt under the DFS (Deutsche Forschunganstalt für Segelflug, “German Research Institute for Sailplane Flight” and began to design combat-capable gliders. The architects of the Versailles Treaty doubtless had no conception of what a relatively small number of gliders such as the DFS 230 could achieve.
The DFS 230 was Germany’s first assault glider and saw the most active service. It was the one the Wehrmacht used in the Battle of France and again in Crete. It was narrow and much resembled its sporting glider antecedents. It was a lightweight glider made of tubing and fabric and had an excellent glide ratio. The wheels could be dropped in flight and landing made on a ventral central skid. The glider normally held a pilot and nine men. The passengers sat in a line down the center, straddling a bench. The last four men faced the rear of the glider. The only door was in the port rear, but “kick out” panels on either side of the fuselage could be removed for a quick escape. The DFS 230 was a braced high-wing monoplane with a tubular steel frame and wooden wings. Built for a one-way trip, its construction was very light and bare-bones, with only basic instruments: an airspeed indicator, altimeter, rate-of-climb indicator, turn-and-bank indicator, and compass.
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DFS 230 assault gliders being towed by Junkers Ju 87 Stukas over Cyprus, January 28th, 1941.
The gliders landed and threw up clouds of dust, hiding and saving many soldiers from being mowed down by gunfire as they disembarked. The DFS dotted the Cyprus landscape as they landed, and their soldiers panned out, gunning everything in sight. They were helped by their Fallschirmjager and Folgore Division brothers dropping from Ju-52 and Savoia-Marchetti SM.75 Marsupiale transport planes. The sky was full of white parachutes, especially over Nicosia, which the Axis believed had the toughest defenses. Some were Italian, some were Germans. Soon, the Allied defenders began to be overwhelmed.
Paratroopers could only drop with a limited amount of equipment on them because they needed to land safely and couldn’t be too heavily laden. This problem was solved by dropping large equipment containers at the same time as the parachute drop. Called Waffenhalter, they had to be carried and dropped from the transport planes during the attack in Cyprus. A single 40-man platoon of Fallschirmjager needed no less than fourteen containers just for weapons and basic ammunition supply. The containers were carried either under the Wings or in a bomb bay. Each container could hold over 100 kilograms of equipment, and the maximum loaded weight was 120 kilograms. It was a meter and a half long and about 40 centimeters square. The container had a crash pad at one end, and the parachute was connected at the other end. Some containers were equipped with a pair of small wheels and a tow bar that could be clipped to the container after the drop. This allowed the container to be towed from the drop zone. The number one priority of the troops upon landing was to find their containers. Colored bands or other markings were used to aid retrieval by the correct units and to indicate which items the container carried. For the first hours, the Folgore and Fallschirmjagers got busy surviving enemy fire while they gathered their weapons.  More and more parachutes fell from the sky while the Axis planes (German and Italian alike) smashed everything in sight.
The battle soon degenerated into a brawl across the island. The first city to be secured by the Axis was Nicosia, as they sent the greatest number of support bombers and troops to take control of it. The small British battalion defending it was overwhelmed and soon ordered to scatter in retreat into the hills to the south.
Once this part was achieved, the Axis was in control of the major airport in the city called RAF Nicosia. It was a modern Royal Air Force station built in the 1930s. From there, the real big boy arrived. The Messerschmitt 321, also called the Gigant, was the largest glider ever used in operations during the conflict. In fact, it would go down in history as the largest flying object of the war.
It had a 55-meter wingspan, was 28.15 meters long, and nearly 6 meters deep. It weighed 12 tons and could carry about 20 tons. The Gigant gliders landing in Nicosia on the 28th and 29th either contained 200 troops or two Panzer II (they weighed 9 tons each) and a squad of men. Loading was via a pair of huge clamshell doors in the nose. The 321 was towed by three Bf 110 fighters in concert, the “troika” tow. This was as inherently unstable and as dangerous as it sounded. It was so difficult that two of them crashed on takeoff in Greece and Crete. Two more crashed on their return flight from Cyprus, and in total, ten were destroyed during the entire battle as they made round trips to reinforce the troops on the island.
The glider was stable but heavy and sluggish. Luckily for them, Allied planes were not present in enough numbers to stop them from landing. The Anglo-Japanese fleet could have done something about it, but Admiral Cunnigham and his colleague Admiral Kondo were executing an operation on Tobruk to relieve the siege.
By midday on the 28th, Nicosia and Keryneia were under Axis control, while the other areas were still held by the Allies, and casualties for the paratroopers were heavy. During the night between the 28th and the 29th, German General Herman Balck landed with 2 Regiments detached from the 21st Panzer Division. From there, the outcome was never again in doubt. The Allied weak defenses did not include a lot of heavy weapons and very few mobile units or tanks. Five more days of fighting was all it took for the German-Italian forces to conquer Cyprus.




Sturzkampfgeschwader 1
Operation Jupiter, January 28th, 1941
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(…) On the way for the first strike (…)
It was pitch-dark all-around Hans Bickell, a Stuka pilot in the Luftwaffe. He could hear the whistling and the howling of the wind through the tiny gaps in his cockpit. Rain poured inside and drenched him.
From time to time, a flash of lightning illuminated everything bright as day. Then, he could see the clear outlines of his comrades flying beside below and above him. He was part of a large strike force headed for Cyprus’ capital city, Nicosia. Fierce gusts of wind shook and rattled the aircraft and sent violent shudders through the structure. They had been told to expect a storm like the one that was raging now between Rhodes and Cyprus, but Luftwaffe command expected clear skies over the target.
No earth was yet visible; there was no horizon by which he could right his aircraft. The only way to keep flying level and avoid colliding with his squadron mate was to follow the light in front of him. It was the tail light of the Stuka ahead. Commander Malhke flew in front of everyone, and he was the one with the true challenge of finding his way through this pea soup.
The needle of the vertical speed indicator had ceased to oscillate some time before, and that meant it was good since his altitude was stable. He only needed to keep his focus on the aircraft in front. He hoped there wouldn’t be any more of those strong gusts of wind that scattered everyone in the formation. All was well because the ball and arrow, which indicated the aircraft's position in relation to its lateral and longitudinal axes, were nicely one above the other.
“Everyone keeps flying in formation. Stay concentrated on your altimeter and the plane in front of you. I’ll take care of the rest,” Malhke’s voice crackled over the radio. The flight from Kalathos in Rhodes (Sturzkampfgeschwader 1 base) was over four hours long. According to Hans’ calculations, they still had another hour to go. He thought he saw an inkling of daylight on the distant horizon. It was an almost imperceptible line of faint light, but there it was. The day was coming, finally.
(…) Above the target (…)
Bickell felt the pressure wave of the g forces pressing on his chest and took a quick breath. There was nothing to do about this moment. Every time a Stuka dove, this was the result. Human beings subjected to more than 5g in a seated position suffered vision impairment in the form of a grey veil known to Stuka pilots as "seeing stars." Hans always lost vision while remaining conscious; if he maintained the dive too long (more than five seconds), he could black out. Once the dive was done, the physical stress wasn’t over. The Ju 87 pilots experienced the most visual impairment during "pull-up" from a dive.
He pressed the bomb switch ...dead on. His bomb hit the hangar he’d targeted. He saw flames break out from the building’s window and the open door while the ceiling collapsed. “A hit! Commander,” said Storch, his rear gunner, as he sent a burst of his machine gun at some target above them. “Watch out for bogeys, coming hard from our twelve o’clock!” And indeed, British and Japanese fighters were in the area. The moment after the dive was the one when the Stuka was the most vulnerable. The plane was going very slowly as it began climbing back to a safe altitude, and its pilots could not see properly because of the G forces they’d been subjected to moments before.
The enemy fighters were not present in great numbers, but the surprise of the day had been to see Japanese Zeros with their characteristic red sun circle on the fuselage. They buzzed about, and Hans had hoped they wouldn’t draw a bead on his bomber. “Are they coming at us?” There was a pause while Karell figured out if one was lining up to attack them. “Damn, Commander, seems like one is coming straight for us,” he continued. His words were immediately followed by a burst of his MG15 machine gun. The tracers could be seen in a straight line from the group of enemy fighters coming up on them.
Hans was an experienced Stuka pilot at this point of the war. He had faced enough enemy fighters to know it was pointless to try and outrun them. Bombers were slow, and the Stuka even more so. If he couldn’t outrun it, he needed to outmaneuver it and hope for the best. The best in this case would be Karell shooting it down with his machine gun, or else a Bf-109 would save the day and shoot down the enemy fighter. He and Karell had scored kills on some rookie fighters who chased and overtook them and appeared in their sights, but other than that, Stukas were sitting ducks for even for those pilots who were less reckless and more careful. And from what he’d heard from the Japanese fighters in the theater, these bastards were anything but rookies.
He looked around to find some ground feature he could use to try and shake the fighter coming down on them. “Sir, the enemy fighter is definitely on our tail now,” said Karell. Hans did not need any confirmation as tracers already started to zip by his plane moments later. There was only one spot where he thought he could survive and outmaneuver the enemy. During the briefing for the mission and the battle for Cyprus, they’d been briefed on what they would encounter on the island. It was part of the preparations for any new air campaign. It was important for pilots to know and understand where they were headed. He’d been given maps and some information, and Hans had learned from the very early stages of the war that knowing the area you were going to fight in could make the difference between life and death. 
He pushed on his plane stick to try and go downward again, looking in the distance at the area he aimed at. The Troodos Mountains, west of Nicosia. The Troodos was a mountain chain in the middle of the island. It was dissected by steep valleys covered with stands of pine, cypress, dwarf oak, and cedar; some of its peaks were so high that they were snow-clad at this time of the year. He pushed the speed throttle to the maximum, hoping he would make it in time. Once he was in the steep valleys, he hoped he could lose the enemy fighter.
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Troodos Mountains, Cyprus
Half a minute later, the Stuka was nearing the first deep valley Hans wanted to reach when the first enemy 20mm shells exploded on the ground and zipped by the bomber. He adeptly dodged the streams by veering his plane left and right, but he was not able to shake off the enemy fighter. All the while, Karell tried to hit the bastard with his MG15 machine gun, but without success.
“Sir, if you’ve got an idea on how to shake this bastard, it would need to be soon,” said Storch. The man was facing toward the rear and had a first-row view of the enemy. “Working on it, Karell; working on it,” he answered, deep in concentration.
He dropped the Stuka even further down toward the ground, flying just above the green cedar treeline. As he thundered above them, the trees shook, and leaves flew in the air all around. The Japanese pilot fired another long burst, and while missing the bomber, it hit the numerous trees around it, blasting a cloud of smoke, fire, and greenery above and around the German plane.
This was the moment Hans had hoped for, and he took his opportunity. As the enemy pilot’s vision was temporarily impaired by the expanding cloud of debris, he yanked the control stick to port. The evasive maneuver was quite simple, and he’d learned it in training. He hoped that his opponent, while skilled, had not yet encountered the Stuka.  The Ju 87 could turn a lot more tightly because it was going at a low speed, giving it the ability to make a tighter turn than a fighter. This, in theory, meant that the enemy pilot would not be able to turn as fast.
The valley he was flying in was large enough for a slow turn, but it was rather narrow for a fighter going at a higher speed. The moment he started to make his turn, the Japanese pilot just thundered by since he didn’t have enough room to turn as well. The Zero throttled hard in a straight line and climbed to make a turn above the mountains. This was the moment Hans had looked for.
As he climbed, the fighter would be blind for a moment in the sense that he needed to go the opposite way before being high enough to circle around for another firing pass. He continued on his turn and dropped his bomber so low that it shook as it hit tree tops. Once the turn was complete, he directed the Stuka in one of the side valleys, trying to hug the ground from as close a possible.
“Damn commander, that was some nice flying!” said Storch enthusiastically. The Japanese fighter, having completed its turn, flew back over the valley they’d been in, but apart from some flaming trees and dust still floating in the air, there was no sign of the enemy Stuka. The pilot took altitude again to try and find the German bomber but he didn’t find it. Looking back at the fight above Nicosia, he decided to go for easier pickings where they could be found.
Bickell directed his Stuka back toward his Kalathos home airfield in Rhodes. It was a close thing, but he was alive and well. His plane eventually arrived over the blue water of the Mediterranean, and he saw that there didn’t seem to be any cloud cover on the horizon. He smiled. The storm was gone, allowing the flight home to be a lot more enjoyable.




Extracts of Hermann Balck’s 1981 book, Odnung im Chaos: Eirinnnerungen 1893-1948 



Ephesus and Cyprus, January 23rd to February 4th, 1941
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Once Turkey surrendered to us, I got very busy with garrison duties in and around Ankara. The Turks were not what you call happy people once they surrendered. They were not a docile people. After all, they were the descendants of the fierce Central Asian warriors who destroyed the Byzantine Empire and founded the Ottoman Empire. They did not like being on the losing side. I remember being quite disappointed with not having time to visit the multitude of Greco-Roman historic sites around the Turkish capital. But I was well-served a few weeks later.
On January 19th, we received our transfer orders back to Izmir for future action in Operation Jupiter, the invasion of Cyprus. There, I was to be served with my historical curiosity. The city of Izmir was our embarkation point as two regiments of my division (the 21st), our part in Operation Jupiter, were to land in the northern port of Keryneia. As I flew there, I arrived several days before my men and their panzers, enabling me to look for something to visit.
The entire area teemed with old historic towns. In fact, the entire Turkish-Adriatic coastline was full of sites. I quickly chose my spot, the old Greek city of Ephesus and the Library of Celsus.
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Ruins of the Library of Celsus in Ephesus
At its peak, Ephesus was the fourth largest city of the Roman Empire, and it had magnificent Roman structures still preserved after two thousand years. One of these spectacular buildings is the Library of Celsus, which was one of the biggest libraries of ancient times, right up there with the Alexandria Library.
What was interesting about this building was that it was not only a library but a mausoleum as well. It was the tomb of Gaius Julius Celsus Polemaeanus, who had been consul in 92 AD and, then, the governor of the province of Asia in 115. After his death, his son, Consul Gaius Julius Aquila, had the library built in his father’s honor, as we read from the inscription on the building’s front staircase. The library was completed in 135 AD, and Celsus’ body was put in a white marble sarcophagus, which was placed in a crypt beneath the building.
The building was as magnificent in person as I had imagined it and seen it in drawings. The façade was intensely ornated, with 16 columns arranged in pairs. The columns at the center of the façade were shorter than the others which is an optical illusion giving the impression of greater size. A staircase with 9 steps led to the facade of the library. The columns were richly decorated with the motifs of vegetation and mythological figures: Bellerophon riding Pegasus, a couple of Eros and Psyche darting from acanthus leaves, and the scenes of the life of Apollo and Dionysus.
Besides, four female statues placed in the façade’s niches were also remarkable. From left to right were Sofia (Wisdom), Arete (Virtue), Ennoia (Insight), and Episteme (Knowledge). They were personifications of the virtues of Celsus but also of the virtues the life of high Roman officials should have had. The library was restored with the aid of the Austrian Archaeological Institute, and the originals of the statues were taken to Ephesus Museum in Vienna in 1910. It was another great moment for the history buff that I was.
But soon, the reality of war came back at me. The time for sightseeing was over. Once my two regiments were in Izmir (the 21st), they embarked on transport ships bound for Keryneia on Cyprus. The small fleet we were part of left on the 26th. It included five large transports with some of my men and support units, along with six Italian destroyers escorting us.
The voyage to Cyprus from Izmir was pretty smooth except for a powerful storm we encountered on the last part of our voyage on the night before our landing on the 28th. There, the fleet encountered giant waves, and some of us got lost, only to be found again the next morning.
The fight on the island was fierce and quick on the 28th, and by the end of the day, the Fallschirmjagers had taken control of the Keryneia Harbor, enabling me and my men to get ashore during the night between the 28th and the 29th. Once I had assembled enough panzers (about two companies strong), I led an attack inland toward Nicosia to try and link the also conquered enemy capital city with the harbor. The rest of the regiments arrived piecemeal during the day. The ships themselves were attacked a few times by enemy air strikes, and a destroyer was sunk, but no large losses were reported in the unit.
The fight for Nicosia was easy in terms of fighting but hard in terms of ground to cover. The British had mined the road and prepared several roadblocks, impeding my movements, but by sundown on the 29th, and while my units were still disembarking, we linked with the Fallschirmjagers and relieved them. Interestingly enough, my panzers were refueled by the same men I had come to help. The Luftwaffe was in control of RAF Station Nicosia and had been landing Gigant and Ju-52 transport planes, disgorging reinforcements and supplies. By the time I got there, the Gigant had already been able to bring 10 Panzer IIs, and I took control of them as I was responsible for all of the mobile forces during the campaign.
The rest of the story was much the same, with my tanks driving across the country and working alongside the Folgore (Italians) and Fallschirjagers para troops. We took one city after the other, and by February 2nd, the island was declared secured.




Fight across the Douro River 

The 141st assault over the Douro, February 3rd, 1941
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A giant geyser of water blasted outward right beside Marco Peters' inflated boat. All around them, enemy tracers raced, hitting the water as well. Looking up, he was certain he could see the arcing artillery shells as they howled and whistled down towards him and the rest of the 141st Regiment, trying to cross the Douro River.
Above, planes from both sides raced in a fantastic dogfight that might have been funny to watch if Peters and his friends hadn’t been right in the middle of it. Looking at the river’s opposite bank, he could see swarms of Portuguese soldiers running from one cover position to the next and a few machine gun nests barking away at the multitude of inflated boats trying to cross the body of water.
Marco’s only focus was to reach the other side because, at least then, they could fight back. The flimsy inflated water boats they had were fine to cross a river but offered no measure of protection from enemy fire. Their only defense was the luck of the draw, meaning that they could only rely on not being targeted by the enemy as the only hope of survival.
The Douro was the highest-flow river of the Iberian Peninsula. It rose near Duruelo de la Sierra in the Spanish province of Soria, meandered south briefly, then flowed generally west through the northern part of the Meseta Central in Castile and Leon into northern Portugal. And at the end of its long journey from land to sea it was met by the second largest city in the country, Porto. This also happened to be the Wehrmacht's ultimate objective for victory in northern Portugal.
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The Reich was not having as easy a time in Portugal as in its recent campaigns against Turkey or Cyprus. The Portuguese Army was less numerous than the Turkish, but in return the Germans didn’t have as many troops as most of the Wehrmacht was committed elsewhere in Europe, North Africa, and the Middle East. While reinforcement poured in from France and the depleted units from the Battle for Gibraltar, it still wasn’t enough to get the Portuguese to bend the knee. The reason for that situation was that the Anglo-Americans had landed three solid divisions in Porto and greatly stiffened their smaller ally’s spine.
The Germans were advancing, but at a very slow pace, hampered by the effective defense put up by the American theater commander, General George Patton. The rough and difficult terrain was as much accountable for the situation as the brave Allied resistance was. Just as in 1807, during the Napoleonic Wars, it appeared the British would again win their gamble of establishing a bridgehead in Europe against the continental power.
Von Reichenau, the general in charge of all Axis forces in the Iberian Peninsula, had no intention of becoming a Soult, Massena, or Marmont, the Napoleonic Maréchal d'Empire (Marshal) who failed to master Portugal for Bonaparte. And besides, he was under heavy pressure from the Fuhrer himself to quickly put an end to the campaign. The Reich had other theaters to take care of, and Portugal was a sideshow that it did not need.
As part of his offensive in northern Portugal, Reichenau now commanded 7 divisions, four of which came from Gibraltar (depleted), including one panzer division. While his initial attack through the border went well and enabled him to take important cities like La Garda, the next two towns on his list, Viseu and Villa Real, resisted with all their might. There, the Portuguese Army had entrenched a couple of divisions in each city, reinforced by several smaller American and British units. Allied air power was also very active in the theater because, again, the Luftwaffe was busy elsewhere, and Reichenau didn’t have enough planes to scatter them out of the sky.
The focus was now on storming Vila Real, but the Allies were offering a very stubborn resistance and the Germans had decided to try and flank their position from the south by sending men across the Douro to attack them and unravel their entire defense. This explained Marco’s presence in the maelstrom that was the crossing of the Douro River.
“Damn, guys,” exclaimed Felix as the boat beside them folded in two after being hit by an artillery shell exploding right down its middle. The men inside it were catapulted in every direction, shattered to pieces by the blast. He didn’t have time to say more as their inflated boat was rocked hard by the blast and toppled over by a gigantic wave, sending them all in the water. The 12-man team in the boat plunged hard in every kind of position.
All the soldiers were heavily laden with equipment and with their guns; thus, they dropped to the bottom like rocks in the water. Marco gasped for air as the blast wave emptied his lungs. He panicked almost instantly, but the bottom was close, and he soon landed on his bum. He then sprang forward to try and get out and was rewarded with the blue sky and he took in a big air intake. The squad was lucky; they had gotten sunk in a shallow area of the river, and all of them got back to their feet. Private Stomker’s luck, however, soon ran out, as he was hit by an enemy bullet right in the head, spilling his brain all over the water. Private Shoclst was then hit in the neck, also killing him instantly. “Quick! We need to get out of the water; follow me!!!” It was their NCO who had also survived the boat’s capsizing. Marco didn’t know how, but he'd kept hold of his rifle, which he decided would come in handy if he reached the bank.
He started to wade through the water, and he noticed that the current was strong. He wondered for a moment if it would be better to let himself slide downstream and avoid the battle. He advanced with difficulty, surrounded by sprouts of water from the enemy bullets. Daimler and Konstantin were near him, and they yelled out of desperation.
When they were about meters from the small sandy beach, Marco noticed that enemy fire slackened considerably. He then realized that many German soldiers were on the other bank and attacking the Portuguese defenders. The tide of the battle was turning.




The Fight for Portugal

Patton plans the defense, February 3rd, 1941
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The Overall situation in Portugal, February 3rd, 1941


While the fight for Portugal was far from going the way the Germans wanted it, there was a definite possibility that they would eventually conquer it. The Axis was just too strong for the Portuguese, even helped by their Anglo-American allies, who didn’t have the troops nor the logistical capability to support a large army in the Iberian Peninsula in early 1941. America was still gearing up for war, and the British were rearming as well, having been caught unprepared by the war. And besides, if the Wehrmacht had too many obligations all across the world, it was the same for the Allies albeit on a different scale. They had large armies in Morocco, Egypt, India, and the Far East. The outcome of the campaign in the small country would end up in a German victory, by all probability. Would it, really?
Not if General George Patton had anything to do about it. “But Ike, damn it,” I need more troops!” The Allied Portuguese commander was speaking to the newly minted overall commander in Tangier, General Dwight D. Eisenhower. “Very well, sir,” he finished, slamming the field phone down in a shattering noise. The phone lines still worked between Tangier and Porto. He had taken the opportunity for a direct conversation with his boss to ask for more men and supplies. He firmly believed he could beat the Axis forces, but he needed the men and equipment to do it.
“Is everything okay, sir,” asked his chief of staff, Brigadier General Hobart R. Gay. “Try to guess, Hobart.”, he answered grimly, while Gay just shrugged as a sign of his ignorance. “Ike’s has had something on me ever since West Point, and he’s only too happy to be my superior.” Patton was referring to the two men’s rivalry that dated back to West Point and the start of their careers.  “The damned bastard will not be sending us enough troops. He’ll be landing an additional division in Lisbon to help with the defense of Lisbon and the western portion of the Iberian Peninsula on the River Tagus. He doesn’t want to risk removing too many troops from his North African Army and considers Portugal to be only a sideshow.” Hobart’s eyebrow raised in a questioning look. “What does that mean, a sideshow? Damn, sit, we’re fighting like demons here.” Patton turned his back on his chief of staff and put both his hands on the table where some maps were laid down. The two men were in Porto, more specifically in the Fort of São Francisco Xavier. The fort was situated in a dominant position over the ocean, a short distance from the mouth of the Douro and Leça Rivers. The trapezoidal fortress was hanging over a cliff and circled by a dry moat. A great place for an HQ.
“He means we are to fight and act as a delaying action, waiting for the forces in Morocco to continue to build up,” answered Patton in a low growl. The general was as angry as hell, Gay could tell.
Patton was mad at Ike alright, but he was also quite unhappy about the overall situation. His chief of staff knew the man. When he was not able to find a solution, it made him go crazy with rage. The Axis forces were making good progress toward their positions and were threatening the last fortified city before Porto, Vila Real. In the south, numerous troops were approaching the Tagus, the last natural barrier before the Lisbon Peninsula. Overall, the Allies were doing well, but they were being outflanked, and the Portuguese just lacked the training and the modern military equipment. The general was not someone who liked to lose, and he had not accepted this command, thinking he would run with his tail between his legs.
Patton suddenly hit the table with his right fist. “You know what, Hobart?” Gay was startled even if he knew his commander was about to explode. “Bring me those Torres Vedras Napoleonic maps, will you?” He turned back to face his officer. “I think we’ll show Ike that he has no choice but to defend here with us.”
A few hours later, Hobart Gay was back with a bunch of old and dusty maps that seemed to have seen the centuries. And indeed, they had, since they dated back to Napoleonic times. The moment Patton had landed in Portugal, he had called for a few special squads to get him information on the famed Torres Vedras Fortified Line, built by Arthur Wellington himself. Facing utter defeat and annihilation against a far superior French army, the British and their Portuguese workers constructed it between November 1809 and September 1810. It was instrumental in stopping Maréchal d'Empire Masséna's 1810 offensive.
The defensive lines of Torres Vedras were crafted out of two successive ridges of hills by local labor working under the supervision of British engineers. Mutually supporting closed earthworks, mostly small redoubts holding 3-6 guns and 200-300 men, were sited along the high ground of each ridge. Buildings, sunken lanes, olive groves, and vineyards were all erased from the landscape, denying any cover to an attacking force. Rivers and streams were dammed to flood the ground below the hills. Sections of hillsides were cut or blasted away to leave small but sheer precipices. Ravines and gullies were blocked by entanglements. All this was accomplished without a word of it reaching the French.
 
[image: A map of a well known wine region  Description automatically generated]
While much of it was overgrown by 1941, many parts of it remained, and it was the strategic spot to try and hold Portugal. Patton was a fiery commander and not always the most patient nor the best of person at times, but he was a great military commander, well-versed in tactics and strategy. Following the Allied landings on Portugal, and after having made sure the situation was stabilized, he had himself flown to the remains of the Torres Vedras lines north of Lisbon and liked what he’d seen. Knowing his new commander because he went to the West Point Military Academy during the same years, he suspected that Ike would lose his nerve and use Portugal as a diversion and a way to gain time for the Morocco position.
The Duke of Wellington had built his defensive works there for a reason. It was on a series of hills and low mountains and went through very rough terrain. It was also on a narrow strip of land, easy to man without a lot of troops, negating any attacking force's quantitative superiority. It was flanked by the sea in the west and east with the Tagus estuary. It was impossible to outflank like the Germans liked. “Okay, Hobart, let’s get to work,” said Patton, unrolling one of the dusty maps on the table. “If Reichenau wants Portugal, he’s going to have to send his men through here,” continued the energetic generals, pointing at the spot where the lines were on the old map. Just like the famous Wellington of old, another military genius was about to make a stand on the Torres Vedras Line.




The Struggle for Sakhalin Island Part 1

The Russian South Sakhalin Offensive Operation, February 1941
The South Sakhalin Offensive Operation was the Soviet invasion for the seizure of the Japanese-controlled southern half of Sakhalin Island.
Sakhalin was the Russian name for the island known to the Japanese as Karafuto, which lay just to the north of Hokkaido, the most northerly of the Japanese home islands, across La Perouse Strait. The island was 560 miles long and up to 60 miles wide, with an area of 27,989 sq miles and a highest point of 5,279 ft. The island was mountainous and heavily forested but also possessed considerable areas of swampy ground. The valleys of the Tym and Poronai rivers constituted the main corridor of land communications on the north/south axis, and it was there that the Japanese had located most of their defenses centered on the town of Koton.
The Japanese and Soviets controlled the southern and northern halves of Sakhalin, respectively, as a result of the Treaty of Portsmouth in 1905, which ended the Russo-Japanese War (of 1904-1905) and split control of the island along the line of 50° parallel. The Japanese knew the southern half of the island as the Karafuto Prefecture, and the Soviets called their half the Northern District. The northern half was the more important, for it possessed significant oil fields at Ekhabi and Okha. The Japanese had oil concessions there and, in 1938, had even tried without success to persuade the Soviets to sell them the northern half of Sakhalin.
Following the start of the war between the USSR and the Japanese Empire, a fight almost immediately broke out between the two powers on the island. During the first few months, things stayed quiet because both the Red Army and the Imperial Army were busy slugging it out in Manchuria and the Maritime Provinces. It didn’t take long for events to heat up into a full-blown campaign. After Guderian’s victory at Khabarovsk, the Soviet forces were able to reorganize themselves and, despite Japanese naval superiority, used barges and small boats to get the northern half of the island supplied. Stalin did not take long to ask his forces to invade and take control of the southern part.
The Soviet attack came under the strategic direction of General Leonti G. Cheremisov’s 16th Army, whose primary asset was General Anatoli A. Diakonov’s LVI Corps (79th Division, 2nd, 5th, and 113th Brigades, and the 214th Tank Brigade). For air assets, the Russians had the 255th Composite Aviation Division, with 106 aircraft. The Red Army had a total of 36,000 men for the invasion.
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The Japanese defenses were based on General Kiichiro Higuchi’s 5th Area Army. This formation was tasked with the defense of Hokkaido Island, the Kurile islands group, and southern Sakhalin, and for the last, relied on the 88th Division, which had been established in Yuzhno-Sakhalinsk as a 20,000-man division. The fixed defenses were centered on the Cotonou Fortified Area (also known as the Karafuto Fortress Defense line). It was composed of 17 bunkers, 28 artillery positions, 18 mortar positions, and other elements, with 5,400 men of the local border guard manning it. The outlying elements of the defenses were handled by a number of reservist detachments, which came in addition to the 88th Division. In total, the Japanese had 27,000 men for the defense of Southern Sakhalin.
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As mentioned earlier, from 1939 to the end of 1940, the frontline was somewhat static, and both sides shot at the other while staying on their side of the pre-war border. Things, however, changed when the Soviets won at Khabarovsk. The victory meant that the Red Army was able to resupply its forces on the island and prepare for a renewed offensive.
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On the 3rd of February 1941, amidst a powerful snowstorm, the 30,000 men and the tank brigade of the Soviet 16th Army began the “South Sakhalin Offensive Operation” from northern Sakhalin. Despite enjoying a local superiority of about 3 to 1, the Russian forces were quickly brought to a halt by the sturdy Japanese defense of the so-called Karafuto Fortress Defence Line. In this area, along the principal railroad that crossed the island from north to south, there were 17 permanent, well-built emplacements. These installations were constructed by Imperial engineer Obishiro Nayaro in 1939 over ancient fortifications from the Russian-Japanese War period.
The fight raged for a full seven days, and the Soviets gained no ground whatsoever, faced with determined Japanese resistance. When the weather cleared on the 10th of February, the Imperial Fleet, with no less than Grand Admiral Yamamoto in command, made an appearance and shelled everything in sight near both the western and eastern coastlines. The Imperial Air Force again showed the Soviets that they were not the master of the air and smashed the Russian airfields and the Red Army on the ground.
On the evening of the 10th, a stalemate became evident, and the Soviet offensive completely bogged down. It was then that the Japanese struck with their own attack.




Dogfighting over Salamanca

Dorniers, February 1st
British pilot Giles Hayes dropped the stick on his Spitfire plane and shot out of the clouds in a burst of vapor and white mist. To his great surprise, a long procession of Dornier-17 bombers (about ten in total) was lining up to land at the airport south of Salamanca. He smiled since the bastards thought themselves safe with their enemies gone.
The rest of the Allied airstrike had left, and by the looks of the long and heavy column of dark smoke over the train yards and the airfield, it had been quite successful. He had been part of the fighter escort but had been ordered by Squadron Leader Malan to stay a little longer as his fuel gauge was showing half full. He was expected to take some aerial photos of the damage done to the German installations. It had become obvious to the high command in Tangier that the enemy was using Salamanca as a staging area for most of its offensive in Northern Portugal. Hence, the reason why the Allies had just sent a large air strike and now why they wanted pictures of the area and its installations.
His temporary home airfield was near Lisbon, but he figured that if in trouble, he could land anywhere in between. After all, the worst had already happened when he’d been forced to belly land on a small airstrip in the middle of the Portuguese nowhere.  He’d come out of the ordeal unscathed and had soon been back in the sky.
The ground he approached was still heavy with black smoke from their earlier attack. Raging fires dotted the landscape in and around the airfield and the railyard.
While Giles wanted to focus on his mission, he decided that no one back at HQ would be mad at him for taking advantage of such a situation. This was a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity. He smiled thinly to himself, thinking himself quite lucky.
The air strike planes were only 10 minutes away, going back to Lisbon, so he radioed his mates to come back on the double to help him out. While he was calling everyone to him, he looked through his canopy to see that the German escort fighters for the Dorniers were above the cloud he had exited moments before. They had started to tilt their noses downward toward him. He had been spotted.
Dropping all pretense of having any further discussions and his message having been sent, he quickly dipped his plane to drop below the bombers. He did this at full speed and was rewarded with a serious push in his seat. That was a lot of G force for his body, but not enough to make him blackout.
The idea was that by placing himself and his plane below the bomber formation, still lining up to land one after the other, the German fighters above would not dare fire on him. If they did, they would surely hit their comrades. They would have to veer a bit off course and level their planes back down below the bomber formation, giving Giles some very precious time to shoot down the Dorniers.
It was almost like the enemy aircraft were lining up just for him to kill them, like cattle in a slaughterhouse. He pulled on his stick to gain a little altitude, putting his plane’s nose directly toward the last bomber in the formation, and fired away. He was rewarded with part of the Dornier-17 exploding outward and a large fire on its left-side engine. The bomber rapidly drew out of formation, smoking and on fire. A moment later, it started to break up and finally exploded, just as Hayes concentrated on his second target. He adjusted his Spitfire a little more and fired on the second bomber, completely exploding its tail, sending the Axis plane in a fast-spinning tumble toward the ground. Seconds later, the eight remaining bombers scattered wildly in every direction (up, down, left, right) to confuse him and prevent more of them from getting hit. This maneuver, unfortunately for the British pilot, cleared the Bf-109’s field of fire as they thundered down to catch Giles and stop him from massacring more of their Luftwaffe comrades.
Like rain, tracers started to fall down toward the British fighter, and Hayes started dodging, rapidly finding himself in a bind. Two German pilots finally maneuvered to line up behind Giles’ plane and started tailing him as they fired away with their machine guns and 20mm cannons. The green tracer shells traveled below and to port, missing him as he initiated some truly wild evasive patterns.
He was quite busy surviving against maddened German pilots. He only barely registered to contact his squadron mates, acknowledging that they were on their way back to help him. By then, one more fighter had joined in the attack, this time from above. Its tracer shells fired short of his plane, just meters from the tail.
By then, the Axis bombers were nowhere to be seen, and anyway, Giles didn’t care anymore. He had other things to attend to, like his own survival.
The three German fighters on his tail were inexorably closing in, and the tracers zipped by closer and closer. He checked his altimeter and figured that he would soon have to do something drastic if he wanted to survive. He decided to plunge down toward the ground and use the rough ground for cover. He started his wild descent toward the green hills, when he saw a jagged rocks area that seemed enclosed in some sort of passage. A small valley, perhaps? He didn’t know nor care. As long as it was large enough for his fighter to pass through, he was fine.
He pushed the speed throttle to the maximum, and he was rewarded with a blurring vision with the hard G-forces pushing him into his seat; the enemy Bf-109s followed him. The Spitfire loudly flew by, not five meters from the ground, scaring a flock of sheep that tried to run away in every direction. A flight of birds also took fright and flew off because of the noise. Luckily for Giles, the flock of large, white birds flew directly into the path of the hot-in-pursuit Axis planes. One of them collided head-on with three of the animals and veered sharply left, mortally wounded, crashing in a fiery explosion. The plane disintegrated into a million pieces. One other Axis pilot pulled his plane stick so hard that he climbed out of range of the flock but also off of Haye's fighter’s tail for the time being.
The third German plane had kept some measure of altitude as his two other colleagues had tried to follow Giles in his crazy reckless dive and was flying over the small rocky-edged valley. He fired a burst of shells into the ground and rock near the British fighter, exploding the rockface and showering dirt all around the Spitfire. The Germans had the altitude and the tactical advantage. Having the high ground was paramount in air combat, giving the one with it more speed and room for maneuvers. The German pilot consequently continued to fire like a madman, his tracer shells pumping lead and steel into the ground in a maelstrom of fire.
Seconds seemed to stretch into hours for Giles. He was in a bind and knew it. As he veered his plane in as much an unpredictable way as possible, he evaluated his options.  Fly upward, and the German pilot would catch him easily. Trying this maneuver would kill his speed and make a perfect target. Continue to fly with his current veering and wild maneuvering, and it was a sure thing his luck would eventually run out.
He took a deep, calming breath, feeling that his time had come to die. The Axis fighter pilot also thought the same, and as he was preparing to fire his last burst that he believed would surely destroy the crazy, brave Allied pilot. But instead of firing his killing shot, his Bf-109 exploded in a fiery ball of fire. Giles looked up to see three of his squadron’s mates fly over him and fire their shells at the other fighters that were pursuing him. “Need a helper, Hayes,” said Squadron Leader Malan over the radio. “Yes, sir, I am relieved you came back for me,” said Giles. One of the British fighters thundered by and leveled by his side. The other two took aim at two other fighters that had been only moments before closing in on his Spitfire.
The Germans, seeing that many more Allied planes were now in the vicinity, thought it prudent to veer off and retreat. The Dorniers were long gone, and so the purpose of their attack had succeeded. They saved several of the bombers from a terrible death. Giles was out of trouble, and he climbed up, pulling the plane’s stick toward him to do so. Malan even gave him time to take the pictures he’d been supposed to get and then they left together back toward Lisbon.
On the way back toward the base, there was much happy chatter in the planes between the victorious pilots. Giles had again been touched by fate. He would need, however, to pay for a lot of drinks in the evening as he owed his life to his pilot comrades. He didn’t mind, as it would surely be a great night of fun and party.




Air Defense 

The strengthening of the Taranto Naval Base, February 1941
Italy, especially at the outset of the war, relied on extremely primitive air defenses. Instead of using radar to detect enemy aircraft, a system of "aerophones"—acoustic listening devices—was put in place, often operated by blind people who were considered to have better hearing. Aerophones were linked to information-gathering centers, in turn connected to the Anti-aircraft Territorial Defense Command (DiCaT), which issued orders to fire. Anti-aircraft batteries were equally antiquated, most dating from the First World War; before 1940, no funds had been found to update either the means of detection or the available weaponry. Simply put, they could be surprised easily, and in their most important bases.



Although Italy's air power theorist Giulio Douhet had warned since 1921 about the frightful impact of an air offensive in the next war, expectations about a future air war proved to be an inaccurate forecast of the actual conflict.



With no serious air defense to talk of, the problem for the Italian Fleet was worsened by the paucity of fighters in and around Taranto. Not one Italian tactician and naval commander had had enough of an imagination to think that something could happen to their powerful base.



In short, no one in Italy, from The Duce to the lowly gunnery officer in charge of antiaircraft defenses, had put any serious thought into the air threat. That was until Taranto.



As the ships still burned and salvage operations were ongoing in the harbor, Mussolini threw one of his greatest fits of rage at the heads of the Italian Fleet and ordered them to fix the problem. They scrambled out of their stupor to make a semblance of a defense for the naval base.



The Italian Royal Air Force transferred everything it could spare regarding fighters to southern Italy. Those were the numerous 2nd Fighter Division “Borea,” the 3rd Fighter Wing, which included the 18th and the 23rd Fighter Squadrons. From Sicily and Sardinia, were also flown the 53rd Fighter Wing, with 150th and 151st Fighter Squadrons, the 6th Bomber Division “Falco” and finally, the 9th (independent) Fighter Squadron. Belatedly, a staggering 567 fighters would now be responsible for protecting the Regina Marina and the central Mediterranean. While many of its aircraft were obsolete or inferior to the amazing Japanese Zeros, it was deemed sufficient to protect the remaining ships and the convoys.



In Germany, the net result of the Taranto disaster was that the Fuhrer no longer believed the Italian military and home fronts were up to the task they faced in order to defend the shipping lanes and to master the Central Mediterranean at a minimum. Hither thus ordered the Luftwaffe to deploy a number of anti-aircraft units in and around Taranto. The German 10th Air Corps was removed from its bases in Northern France and was flown and railed toward southern Italy as quickly as possible. 


Some radar units were also moved, and a full Luftflotte was flown to Taranto and other major airfields in the south. A typical Luftwaffe fighter squadron, also known as a Jagdgeschwader (JG), usually consisted of around 12 to 18 aircraft. This number varied depending on the specific type of aircraft and the operational requirements of the squadron. In the case of fighters, it was 18. Luftflotte 4 contained five squadrons; thus, 90 pristine Bf-109s arrived in Italy to contend the sky with the Anglo-Japanese planes if they ever chose to attack again. 


Although Taranto was now a very well-protected base, this would not impede the Allied fleets from roaming the Mediterranean at will until the Regina Marina risked a sortie when it was repaired and ready to go out to do battle. 


The defense boost was what the Axis had to do to ensure the continued survival of the Italian Fleet, but it came too late and was too far in terms of distance to have any impact on the disaster about to befall the Afrika Korps. With the Regina Marina at full strength, the Allies would have never attempted what they did in Tobruk. Without it, they were free to attempt anything they wanted.







Fight across the Douro River Part 2 

The 141st assault Vila Real, February 3rd, 1941
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Fighting in Vila Real, circa February 1941
“Peters, get up there, you bastard,” the sergeant yelled at Marco, who was bunching up against a stone wall, rifle in hand and close to his chest. A large explosion nearby sent rock and debris flying everywhere, showering him and Daimler. “Yes, Feldwebel,” he answered unconvincingly. He got up. “Let’s go, Felix, he said to his friend.” The damned crusty NCO, who had rallied them after the Douro crossing, had just pointed to one of the high floors in the large mansion they were fighting in.
They both got up and started running across the large half-burning garden to the other side, where a large broken door led inside the building. “Where the hell is Konstantin?” said Daimler, half out of breath as they were running. Another large blast in the courtyard catapulted both men to the side. Almost stunned out of consciousness, they both crawled to a hiding place, luckily uninjured. A couple of soldiers, unaffected by the blast, ran past. “I have no clue, nor do I care right now. I have my own hide to take care of, and you should do the same,” answered Marco, still groggy from the blast. His ears rang like an annoying doorbell.
Felix rearranged his helmet but was too stunned to answer anything coherent, thus he just grumbled. “Come on, we need to get up and get into the damned building!” Marco was more afraid of that bastard of a sergeant than dying from enemy fire. The man was crusty and had an overbearing presence. They both got up, picked up their rifles (they were a few paces beside them), and ran for dear life for the door. They were in some sort of square enclosed courtyard. They entered the large mansion because a captain had ordered their NCO to storm it. The enemy was using its high floor (it was one of the highest houses in the entire city block) to shoot down the Germans attacking in the streets. The fight for the city of Vila Real was fierce, and the officer had figured that they needed to kill the buggers firing at them from the high windows of the manor. The place was some sort of noble's villa, as it was an exquisitely decorated place, even if the battle between the Allies and the Axis forces was doing a good job of demolishing it. At the very least, Marco figured that some filthy rich people lived here.
Once they had been able to get across the Douro, they had fought some truly dreadful and gory hand-to-hand fighting. The flurry of German soldiers wading across the Douro eventually won out because of their superior numbers. Marco and his comrades (Felix and Konstantin had been there, as well as several other soldiers) even stormed one of the enemy makeshift bunkers to kill a machine gun team.
After that, there had been no time for a break as they were directed toward Vila Real. The city was near the river and was the reason divisional command had made them cross the river. The place was resisting the assault from the east, forcing them to outflank it. A few hours later, they had entered the densely packed medieval-looking city and been initiated into one of the worst street-to-street fights Marco had seen to date.
The Portuguese fought dirty and never took any prisoners. And they almost never surrendered. This made for a reckless battle on both sides, as the Wehrmacht soon figured that it was either kill or be killed.
They finally got into the large building entrance. Inside, three German soldiers were busy firing their rifles up a large marble staircase going to the higher levels of the mansion. Just as they arrived, an enemy body fell from above and crashed to the base of the stairs in a sickening thud. “That takes care of that,” said one of the men who had been firing upward. “Konstantin!” Daimler was speechless. “What the fuck are you doing here?” Marco was amazed. How did the kid get inside too fast? He must have been one of the two soldiers who ran past when he was rocked by the blast in the courtyard. “Just doing my job, Felix,” he answered, giving a nod to Marco. “Come on, guys, let’s go up. We’ve just smoked the bastard that was firing from the third floor. The way is clear now.”
They started to climb the stairs, rifles pointing upward. They walked sideways, turning on themselves and watching everywhere with their rifles pointed and ready. The building was in terrible shape, and it was a testament to its construction that it was still standing. The exterior walls were blasted open, some steps in the stairs were missing, and if one looked straight up, he would be able to see a large hole in the ceiling. There was almost no roof left anymore. Dust permeated the air everywhere. Shots could be heard from the top floor as the Portuguese soldiers there continued to fire on the German invaders in the streets below.
They moved to the fourth floor (the last one) before encountering fresh resistance. A bunch of Portuguese and what seemed to be a few British soldiers were holed up in a room at the end of a long corridor. They had made a makeshift barricade to block the corridor with chairs and other furniture and fired through the many holes at the freshly arrived Germans.
By then, Marco was only one of many German soldiers. About twelve of them had climbed up to the top of the building. A rifle duel ensued, only broken by a bunch of men throwing half a dozen grenades, exploding the barricade and blasting the Allied defenders to smithereens. After that, it was a blur as they assaulted the large room and killed everyone in it within half a minute. The enemy would not fire on the Germans from that position anymore.
A few minutes later, the crusty NCO came up to the building and inspected the area. He walked by Marco and his two friends and gave them a smile. “Good work, soldiers. Now we need to go down and get shit done. We have to do the same to the next enemy building now. Come and follow me.”
The battle was far from over for the three German soldiers.




The Struggle for Sakhalin Island Part 2

The Japanese conquest, February 15h-25th 1941
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Grand Admiral Yamamoto stood on the bridge of the older battleship Fuso. He looked through his binoculars at the effect of the big shells of his ship and the other dreadnought in the task force, the Haruna. Both ships were shelling the enemy's defensive position off the coast of the Piltun Oilfields, one of the major objectives of the new Japanese offensive to conquer Northern Sakhalin. He did not expect much resistance as the Red Army was mainly positioned in the south for their failed offensive against the Karafuto Fortress Defensive Line a week earlier.
Yamamoto’s proposed plan had been accepted by the Army and by the Emperor a few months earlier. The idea was to use Japanese naval superiority to overwhelm the Soviet defenses. The idea was strikingly simple: Land all around the island while the Russians had no ships to prevent them from doing so and a very small air force with obsolete planes. With the obviousness of the Soviet preparations for an attack against the Southern Part of Sakhalin, the amphibious landing attacks were put on hold to await the result of the enemy attack. Once it was clear the Soviets were bogged down, Yamamoto gave the go-ahead for the fleet to embark the troops on Hokkaido Island and sail them around toward their landing areas.
The campaign had one major objective and three secondary ones. The first was to destroy the enemy field forces. This the Grand Admiral and the Imperial Army proposed to do by executing several amphibious operations behind enemy lines and cutting the supply lines for the Russian 14th Army of General Cheremisov. The second objective was to rapidly occupy the two major cities. The first one was the city of Alexandrovsk, in the center of the island. One division would be landed to take it. The second objective was the main city of Okha in the extreme north. Again, a division would be landed there. The third, and probably the most critical for the continuation of the war for Japan, was the storming of the Russian Sakhalin oilfields.
Industrial exploitation of the oil resources on Sakhalin (the northern part) started in 1928 when the first wells were put into production in the Okha area. Subsequently, two other oilfields were discovered by the Soviets and were gradually put into production in the 1930s. The Ehabi Oilfield, which was drilled in 1936. The Katanglu Field had just started to produce oil in 1940.
Japan's only (and very minor) oil production was located in Manchuria, and unfortunately, all those small wells were now occupied by the Soviets. The Nipponese war machine needed to get hold of these wells and make sure they were not thoroughly destroyed by the Russians. Yamamoto and Marshal Sugiyama had put absolute priority on attacking and securing the oilfields first and then getting the other objectives fulfilled.
They were confident that they would be able to do it since they enjoyed a very comfortable quantitative superiority in every area. They had a powerful fleet and aviation, and with the 88th Division defending the south, they landed four more at different points on the island, ensuring a 4 to 1 superiority.
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Sakhalin oil production in metric tons up to 1940. It was rather a small quantity compared to the Dutch East Indies or the United States (Output in East Indies Reached 7,398,585 Metric Tons in 1938), but nonetheless, something Japan needed dearly.
Landing armies during the Siberian winter was no easy endeavor, but feasible since it was not as cold as Siberia at the same latitudes. The climate on Sakhalin Island was temperate and monsoonal. Winters were cold but more humid and less severe than on the mainland. The summers were relatively cool and rainy.
“How are the landings going, Admiral Ugaki?” asked Yamamoto, lowering his binoculars and turning around to face the man he had just spoken to. Admiral Matome Ugaki was Yamamoto’s chief of staff in the Navy and was the man responsible for creating the attack plan with the Army. “The 1st Imperial Division has landed and encountered only light opposition, Grand Admiral. They report that they are already on the outskirts of the Piltun Oilfield. No sign of major sabotage. Our surprise attack seems to be complete.”
Very well, said Yamamoto satisfactorily. “What about the landing in Okha, Admiral Kurita’s attack on Alexandrovsk, and the last operation on the northern tip of Sakhalin?” “Sir, everyone reports success across the board. There are almost no Russian defenders. It appears we have achieved strategic surprise with your plan, Grand Admiral,” answered Ukagi with a beaming face and a radiant smile.
The mood aboard the old battleship was enthusiastic. As its guns boomed, its sailor cheered to the blasts they created ashore. “So far, so good,” finally said Yamamoto. It seemed the attack was going well.
The second part of the attack was executed by Admiral Kurita, who was in charge of the other Japanese Imperial Navy task force. He had the battleships Kongo and Yamashiro. The carriers Zuikaku and Shokaku, the only two remaining in the Pacific theater (the other four were in the Mediterranean with Admiral Kondo’s expeditionary force), stayed well east of Yamamoto’s task force just in case the Soviets were able to mount an airstrike. The carriers were precious to Japan.
Within the first four days, Okha, Alexandrovsk, and all the major oil wells were conquered by the Japanese forces, while the Soviet 14th Army tried to move northward to the rescue, but to no avail. It was caught in the open by forces landed by Kurita and Yamamoto and attacked by the 8th Division following closely behind.
The battle between the two forces raged for another week or so, but by the 25th of February, General Cheremisov was ready for a general surrender. There was nothing the Soviet Union could do for its beleaguered island. The Japanese Imperial Navy blockaded any new attempt at supply, and the Nipponese planes dominated the skies.
On the 25th of February, the Soviet commander gave up and surrendered his men. On the 26th, the first crude oil convoy left Okha for the Home Islands refineries.




Counteroffensive in Tobruk

The Anglo-Japanese surge to the attack, February 7th, 1941
If the Axis were worried about a second attack on Taranto, they were mistaken. Operation Judgement had only been a means to an end. The elimination of the Regina Marina as a fighting force that could intervene against the Anglo-Japanese Fleet had been the real objective.
General Wavell, the Allied commander in Egypt and Palestine-Syria-Iraq, was in a tight bind. He was encircled on every side, with the Germans advancing in Syria, the Russians all-conquering in Iraq, and General Rommel’s Afrika Korps besieging Tobruk, the last fortress before the Germans reached Egypt’s western border.
Wavell had a very strong force, one supplemented by a full Japanese elite corps comprising three experienced divisions, and the man was of a mind to attack instead of waiting for the Axis to crush him from every side. Cyprus was now under German-Italian control, and Alexandria was being raided every day now that the Luftwaffe and Italian Royal Air Force had fighters in range that could fly from Nicosia or Famagusta on the island. The noose was tightening, and something drastic needed to be done.
Looking at the map, there were only two very obvious choices. Wait for disaster to happen and all the Axis armies converging on him to arrive at the same time or try to defeat them piecemeal, just like Napoleon Bonaparte would have done during his masterful Napoleon campaigns of old. When meeting an overwhelming force coming from many sides, the trick was thus to attack one after the other and try to defeat them with overwhelming force.
Wavell could count on a very decent number of troops. He had 70,000 British Commonwealth troops (many nationalities) and 36,000 Japanese troops under the command of General Tsutomu Akinaga. Also included in his force were the dubious but still valid 30,000 French forces. The units were moved out of Syria and Lebanon and brought to Egypt for the final defense. Wavell left 10,000 provincial troops in the area as they could not really be moved (they were provincial troops). They were offered as a sacrificial lamb to the Axis forces and would do a fine job of slowing them while Wavell was busy in Cyrenaica.
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Considering the number of troops bearing down on him from all sides (200,000 Russians from Iraq, 250,000 Axis troops from Turkey, and 95,000 from Rommel’s Afrika Korps), any sane general would have decided to throw the towel and evacuate southward.
But that was just it. The decision did not rest with Wavell but with Churchill. Suez could not be lost, and thus, the Empire had to fight tooth and nail for it. Presented with this reality, Wavell planned accordingly.
Once the siege of Tobruk began, he started to imagine a way to attack the German-Italian Army while it was busy besieging the fortress. With the help of the Anglo-Japanese Fleet, there were very good chances of achieving something. Time was of the essence as the Red Army, the Wehrmacht, and the multitude of other Axis allies. He figured he had about three to four weeks before the Axis forces in the Levant and the Middle East could move up in force to the Suez and attack across it. Plenty of time for a major attack west. Leaving the 30,000 less mobile French troops with the 1st South African in Egypt to guard the territory, he moved the rest of his forces west toward Tobruk.
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Meanwhile, in Tobruk, German General and Afrika Korps commander-in-chief Erwin Rommel was busy trying to reduce and destroy the enemy fortress, but to no avail. After a couple of weeks of heavy artillery shelling, air attacks, and assaults, he was forced to put a halt to his offensive operation against the British fortress to react to Wavell’s advance. Moving such an army in the desert could hardly be a surprise for any of the camps, as the desert was a wide expanse of nothing without any significant cover. Roads were few, and thus, all the warring armies had to move through the same, and there wasn’t much room for grand-style maneuvering. They had enough forces to grapple with the Allies, but not if they were still besieging Tobruk, presenting their flanks. By February 2nd, the siege of the city was being lifted by the Axis forces in order for Rommel to move to more defensible and mobile positions. The dynamic general thought he had things under control and that he would receive the Allies as they deserved. But the enemy had a nasty surprise for him before he left the vicinity of the sea.




Counteroffensive in Tobruk

Air attack and ground fighting, February 7th, 1941
(…) Kiddo Butai air strike (…)
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Western German perimeter under attack at Tobruk, February 2nd, 1941
Captain Minoru Genda looked at his instruments one last time as he saw land before him. He looked back and thought he perceived the flashes of the battleship guns behind the airstrike. The entire strike group had left half an hour before and was flying toward its targets in Tobruk. The combined Anglo-Japanese fleet of Admirals Kondo and Cunnigham was surging forth to help Wavell with his land offensive. Their part in the battle was first to disrupt the enemy and then to act as a mobile artillery platform and airfield. Most of the war in the desert was fought near the sea; thus, a fleet could be used with a lot of effectiveness against ground troops.  


Their mission (he was leading the large group of 90 carrier-bombers from the four Japanese carriers) was to bomb the German artillery positions before they could unlimber and move them out and also find any target of opportunity in terms of tanks or other mobile forces. He still flew his Nakajima B5N2 Type 97 carrier attack bomber. For the attack, he carried six 60 kg bombs. He could carry bigger, more powerful ones, but the softness of the targets they were hunting for called for lesser ordinance and to have more of them. The same bomber could carry one 800kg bomb or torpedo (one or the other) or two 250 kg bombs. Today, they weren’t going for tough ship armor. They were going for flimsily protected (from his point of view) ground targets.



He was flying top cover, meaning he was above the rest of the air armada. He liked to do that since it enabled him to spot things from afar. As luck would have it, it was a clear, beautiful day, so the visibility was very good from a distance. There were hardly any bad weather days in this area of the world, which suited Genda just fine. Good weather was perfect for attacking planes. When it rained, snowed, or with too strong a wind, they could be grounded and left to rot on the carriers.



Tobruk was on fire, and dozens upon dozens of dark smoke columns rose in the air. The Allied fortress had been under siege for weeks, after all. Before he gave the signal to attack beyond the fortress perimeter where the Italians and Germans were located, he was suddenly amazed at the sudden blossoming of fireballs all across the enemy line. He smiled, for that was the result of the fleet’s big guns (its four battleships and many cruisers). It was time to add his own mayhem to the growing destruction. “To all pilots,” he started over the air strike radio. “Attack at will.”



(…) Western defensive perimeter, Tobruk Fortress, 9th Australian Division (…)
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Kevin could hardly believe it. “Mate, the Germans are leaving!” said his friend Arthur Archibald. “Where have you heard this,” he answered, but at the same time, he had no trouble believing it. The ground ahead of them (on the enemy side about 500 meters to the west) had suddenly erupted in fire from a blossoming of very heavy artillery ordinance. Every soldier in the fortress knew that the Allies did not have such big guns available. The conclusion was quick for most of them that the fleet was coming to the rescue. Not only the fleet but plane after plane thundered above them. The aircraft harbored the red sun of Japan, and as they flew over the German-Italian lines, they dropped their bombs, adding pandemonium to the already very destructive moment. “Mate! Its fuckin Admiral ABC!” continued Archibald. He was referring to Admiral Cunningham, who was widely known as ABC, for his initials (Andrew Browne Cunningham). 


And indeed, it was. And the man had come with friends. The awesome power of four battleships rained down right in front of them, and they had a front-row seat to watch it. The Germans, already in trenches, cowered in fear from the massive shells of the Allied naval attack. There couldn’t be much more done while the shelling continued. “Way to go, guys,” he yelled, standing upright from his trench, gun raised in the air. Kevin was about to tell him to get back to cover, but noticed that a lot of Aussie soldiers were doing the same and so he stood up and cheered like his brothers. There wasn’t much danger as the Axis soldiers had other things to think about while getting bombed out to oblivion by the Anglo-Japanese fleet.



Japanese bombers buzzed about while their Zero fighter cover fought it out above with German Bf-109 and Italian Macchi fighters. The moment was truly momentous, because the Allies were about to get their first real land victory of the war in the West.



(…) 1.5 miles west, German field HQ (…)



Rommel was busy getting everything ready to send the orders for the general retreat to a more defensible line when he started to hear the increasing rumble of artillery and explosions. The siege produced a steady flow of explosions and gunfire sounds, but the entire affair was brought several notches higher in a few startling seconds. “Bayerlein, go see outside and tell me what’s happening,” he said, keeping busy with his paperwork and the maps he had been working on for the last few hours. His chief of staff walked outside and came back in an instant with a blank stare. “General,” he said, but Rommel kept his head into his work. “General!” he said, this time more forcefully. “What is it, Bayerlein; can’t you just manage for a second! You know I am busy!” The German officer kept the same stare, trying to keep his cool. “Sir, I think you’d better come out to watch yourself. All the work you are doing might be for nothing.”



That last phrase caught all of Rommel’s attention. “Very well, Oberst,” he answered, followed by a grumble. He stormed out of the tent and picked up his binoculars. The sight that greeted him rendered him speechless for a second or two. “What…” He put his binoculars to his face to have a closer view. “Those are battleship guns, Bayerlein. Battleship guns!” “Sir, and I think those planes are flying the rising sun banner. There Japs, sir.”



The German panzer general considered his options for a few seconds before reaching a decision. It wasn’t a hard one to come to. Wavell was but a day away from Tobruk with a large army. While he initially thought he could face it with his troops, the enemy fleet’s sudden appearance changed things considerably. He had to fight close to the sea and, thus, could be under their guns and planes all the while. “Damn stupid Italians,” he thought to himself, referring to the disaster at Taranto. No wonder the Allied admirals were getting bolder. “Fritz,” he started, turning back toward his tent to change his plans. “Order the Afrika Korps to wait out the bombardment and get the word out that everyone moves out this evening. We’re going back into Cyrenaica to more defensible positions.” “Yes, sir.”
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CHAPTER 4 







French North Africa

The Axis advance and the Allied defenses to February 10th, 1941, 1941
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If things were looking up somewhat for the Allies in Tobruk and the Eastern Mediterranean, the same could not be said in the Western Mediterranean theater. The total Axis strength had climbed to a staggering 310,000 soldiers by the 10th of February. Von Arnim had received two new excellent units (5th Panzer and 8th Mechanized), while General Messe had been reinforced with yet another division (4th Infantry – Bolzano). Furthermore, most of Algeria was under Axis control.
The German and Italian advance through Algeria was mostly unhindered, as the Allies could simply not defend too far forward because they just didn’t have the men. Some of their troops, namely the Spanish and French ones, were not very mobile because they were either second-rate soldiers (French colonial forces) or else had lost everything in the fight for their home country (Franco’s force and the remnant of the French Metropolitan Army). They were best fit to fight where they were, and fighting from well-prepared defenses was their best option.
Theater commander Sir Harold Alexander had thus opted for a defense in depth by using the very rough ground of the Atlas Mountains. If the Axis wanted to reach Morocco and throw the Allies back into the sea, once and for all, they had to cross the mountain range. That could only be done through one main road, the Oujda-Fez to Casablanca road. The path had been the way to cross the Atlas Mountains since ancient times, and while there were tracks and smaller trails across the area, this was the only viable option for a modern army supplied by truck convoys.
Defense was the way to go for the Allies until such time that they could muster enough strength to push the enemy back. Alexander, with the approval of newly-named overall land commander Eisenhower, was frantically working on a defensive line first in Oujda and then several more of them through the rough ground and mountain passes between Oujda and Fez. The goal was to completely block the Axis advance and make it so costly for Arnim that he would give up trying.
But this plan did not stop the Wehrmacht from advancing into Algeria. Following the final battle for the control of Tunisia (El Guettar), von Arnim spread his forces wide to attack Algeria, and he found a mostly undefended country. The French still had some mobile colonial troops and militia, but nothing serious to stop the German-Italian soldiers.
By January 18th, Algiers was conquered. It had been declared an open city by Charles de Gaulle to avoid destruction and unnecessary bloodshed. The Axis forces moved in peacefully and started to build it up as their new logistical base.
The Western Mediterranean did not have the same naval challenges as the Eastern and Central Med for the Axis because, since the fall of Gibraltar, no Allied ships sailed these waters. It became very easy for the Italian merchant fleet and the Germans, who used the French ships that hey had captured in Toulon, Marseille, and Corsica, to get the supplies to their large army. Algiers soon became a bustling harbor that was filled to the gills with food, ammo, and other military necessities.
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Oran was next on von Arnim’s list, and the Axis again entered it in force without a fight on the 27th of January. The city had fallen ten days before, having surrendered to both German and Italian light recon units, but the Army’s main body was in Oran on the 27th.
On the 30th, the Axis forces started their advances toward the Moroccan border and the town of Oujda. By then, the OKW and the commanders on the ground had figured out that the Allies had decided to make a stand in the border city.  The numerous air recon flights that the Axis flew over the area revealed the Allied strategy. Von Armin had his forces advance more cautiously.
It was at this time that the air war started to heat up in a significant way. While the Anglo-Saxons did not yet have a lot of ground troops, they were producing a lot of planes and had overall quantitative superiority in the theater. The Luftwaffe had a large fleet of planes but was spread out with many other responsibilities across Europe, Cyrenaica, and the Middle East.
Advance elements of the Axis forces reached the Allied defenses on the 10th of February but stayed out of range as they approached the major defensive works. There would be no battle apart from the planes above either dogfighting madly or bombing the poor troops on the ground. The main body of von Arnim’s army was still some days behind, but the battle for Morocco was to start soon.




Getting bloodied

The Ironsides get their first fight February 8th, 1941
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Sherman tank near Oujda, French North Africa, circa February 1941
Sherman tank gunner Max Dumont could not believe it. He finally had an enemy tank in his sight. He tried to remember what the tank silhouette was from his training days and from the recent briefings in Oujda. “Commander, they are Panzer IIIs,” he said confidently. He was pretty certain, anyway. Eric Patrin, the tank’s commander, thanked him. Max felt that his commander was as nervous as he was. It was, after all, the first battle for everyone in the Sherman.
Beads of sweat ran down his forehead and on his back. Not only was the space in the tank very confined, but it was also hard to breathe because of the smell and the heat from the engine and the fact that it was a metal machine baking in the North African sun. The inside of the Sherman was manned by a crew of five: driver, gunner, loader, hull gunner, and the commander. These people had to work together in a jam-packed, claustrophobic space to allow for the smooth functioning of the tank. This was no easy task, though.
The Sherman tank was selected for World War II by Gen. George S. Patton, Jr. himself, America's first tank officer and a pioneer of armored strategy. The traits for which Patton loved the Sherman, its speed and agility, ease of transport, and decent gas mileage, made it a general's tank. The things could reliably be manufactured in large numbers and could easily be deployed onto transport.
But the trade-offs that made those traits possible came at the cost of what crews wanted in tanks. Their speed and gas mileage came from — relative to most of their German counterparts — light guns and armor. The Sherman's engine was designed for aviation use and was light and powerful but used a more flammable fuel than some of the other tanks of the era.
So, while the Sherman could support friendly infantry and annihilate enemy infantry, they were vulnerable to attack from enemy armor. In 1941, it was not yet a big problem as the U.S. Army had not yet fought face-to-face battle with the heavier Soviet models or the improved tank version the Germans fielded from late 1942 onward. But still, a Panzer IIIF 3.7 cm KwK 36 main gun was very dangerous to a Sherman.
“Fire at will, Dumont,” said Patrin, while the driver, Dave Reinbacker, stopped the tank for Max to have better aim. The Sherman was designed to be capable of firing as it advanced, but there was nothing better than an immobile tank to fire with accuracy, regardless of optics and suspension systems.
The Sherman was parked at an angle that made it and its comrades (the entire 1st Tank Company was there with Patrin’s team) invisible to the rapidly advancing Germans. The enemy panzers were seemingly a recon unit because there were not many of them. Dumont had counted only 5. The company was at full complement, having received no losses yet due to combat attrition.
“Yes, sir,” he answered, pushing the tank’s fire pedal mechanism that activated the gun. The enemy panzers were driving parallel to the American units and didn’t seem to be having any worry as to where they were. They lifted a large cloud of dust as they drove, and Max wondered for a moment why the bastards were so careless.
His round reached his target in no time, but he wasn’t rewarded with a hit. His shell overshot the enemy tank by half a meter. The round exploded a few meters from the German machine.
Nine of the 17 tanks in the company fired as they had the right angles. The unit was on a bluff, and not every one of them was in a position to attack. Only one of the 9 that did fire was rewarded with a hit. The American shell hit the Panzer III on the side and its round penetrated inside, seemingly fizzling out and only leaving a glowing red circle. But moments later, the tank seemed to explode like a firecracker and started spurting fire from the engine in the rear, and then the turret as a flaming German tanker opened it. The man agonized under the fierce fire and soon morphed into a fireball, crumpling on the top of the hull, dead. Dark smoke soon followed the fire. “Damn, I missed, commander,” said Dumont as he watched the death of the German panzer. “Reload and fire again. There is no time to complain about missing; the enemy is already turning their guns and machines toward us,” said Patrin in a hurry. Max decided that he was right and just tried to concentrate and better his aim while the loader put another round into the gun.
By the time he was ready to fire again, some of the enemy panzers (two of the remaining four) had fired at the company but luckily didn’t hit anything either. The Germans were moving at close to full speed, making it a very difficult shot. Dumont’s tank was rattled by shrapnel and dirt hitting its armor, but it wasn’t anything potentially damaging to the tank’s protective steel hull.
“Firing,” he said enthusiastically, pushing the fire pedal.  The Sherman shook as it recoiled backward in a flurry of scattering dust and smoke from its muzzle. The round raced to its intended destination, and this time, Max was rewarded with a hit on the enemy’s left-side track. The thing broke into a thousand pieces, and the panzer continued to roll for a moment before it ground to a halt, skidding sideways for a meter or two. Four seconds later, the tank was hit by two American rounds, as Max’s comrades figured that the tank was wounded and easier to target because it was immobile.
“Reload,” said Patrin, looking through one of his viewports. The gunner had already been doing that anyway. “Yes, sir,” he answered anyway.
An hour after his first battle, Max was finally permitted to exit the excruciating heat of the Sherman’s inside. He jumped out through the hatch and took a deep breath of fresh air. He felt satisfied with his first kill. After the second panzer was destroyed, the remaining ones had turned tails and fled. They had remained master of the field and accomplished their mission: scatter and push the enemy recon units backward. The longer they took to recon and figure out the Allied defenses, the better it was.
The sun was going down on the horizon, and Max decided to lay with his back to the turret. The heat was still very nice, and he decided to savor the moment before it got cold. Evenings were chilly in the desert wastes of the Atlas Mountains, especially at that time of the year.




Eastern Mediterranean and Middle East

The situation on February 10th, 1941
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General Wall might have just forced the Afrika Korps to retreat and relieved the siege of Tobruk, but that did not really change the overall strategic situation. The Anglo-Japanese fleet's all-powerful attacks across the Eastern and Central Mediterranean could produce as many victories as they wanted, and yet that would also not change the overall situation. No, the only thing he could hope for by producing tactical successes on the ground was time. Time that the Allies needed to build up their strength in Egypt.
With enough of it, perhaps they could think of holding the Suez Canal. After all, the Axis were operating very far from their logistical base. Very far indeed. The Afrika Korps needed to be supplied by a very tenuous convoy system that needed to brave the Anglo-Japanese-dominated Eastern and Central Med. The Russian forces advancing into Transjordan were at the end of a very long logistical line that traced itself all the way back to the Caucasus. The Middle Eastern German (mixed with allies) Army needed to cross the Bosphorus Strait and then truck and rail their supply overland through an underdeveloped Turkish road and rail system.
Armies without proper food and military support had more difficulties operating, and the Axis forces were already showing signs of wear and tear. Rommel’s forces were suffering in the Cyrenaica desert and often had to pause offensive operations to wait for more ammo and gas. The Red Army had advanced very slowly into a mostly empty land in Persia and Iraq, while the same was true of the Germans in Syria and Lebanon. Wavell, Admirals Kondo and Cunningham hoped they could win enough time for the Allies to send more men, counter-attack, or else win a big victory in a different theater, which would, in turn, relieve the pressure on Egypt. Already, a new front had been opened in Portugal, and they had no doubts some of the Axis units fighting there could have been in the Eastern Mediterranean.
But that did not halt the unstoppable (albeit slow) grind of the Axis war machine from closing in on the Suez Canal. After all, the combined might of the Axis forces in all of the Levant and Middle East added up to a staggering 1 million soldiers.
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It was not at all certain the Allies would be able to counter the German-Soviet offensive attacking Egypt and Palestine from all sides.
 
[image: A screenshot of a computer screen  Description automatically generated]
[image: A screenshot of a computer  Description automatically generated]
[image: A black and white information page  Description automatically generated with medium confidence]
General Wavell had a very decent force, one that would have given pause to any nation attacking individually. It was on home territory; it was well-supplied and supported by the powerful Anglo-Japanese Fleet. Regardless, it was only 150,000 soldiers-strong.
But the simple reality of facing 7 to 8 times its number put the Army of Egypt in a real bind. It would take a real miracle for the Allies to pull off a clean victory in this case.
On February 10th, the Axis armies were ready to give battle to the Allies, entrenched in their defensive positions in Palestine and the Sinai Desert. It was going to be one epic battle.




Reinforcements

Vladivostok harbor, February 18th, 1941
As the battle for Sakhalin Island raged, another Japanese fleet arrived in Vladivostok harbor. It was a cold, snowy day, and the 25 large transport ships had something peculiar. While the great majority of them harbored the flag of the Japanese Imperial Navy, a handful had the flag of the United States of America standing proud on their masts.
Critical reinforcements were being sent by the Japanese Army to try and defend the former Tsarist fortress from the incoming Axis forces of General Guderian. Most of the foot soldiers came from the Japanese South China Area Army. Following peace with China and the need to evacuate most of its territories, the soldiers were boarded on transports and, instead of going back to the Home Islands, were redirected to Vladivostok after the defeat of General Umezu and the destruction of his entire army. Headquartered in Canton, it had been responsible for the direction of the Japanese invasion of southern China, garrisoning Japanese-occupied Guangdong Province and controlling military operations in neighboring Guangxi Province.
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The newly arriving army was led by General Masaharu Homma, one of the most experienced Japanese field commanders. The man had seen a lot of fighting in China and was thus a prime candidate for the difficult fight ahead. Vladivostok could not fall because if it did, it would open the way for an Axis invasion of the Home Islands and also flank the future Yalu-Tumen Defensive Line.
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The “Vladivostok Fortress Army,” as it would soon come to be called, could count on several experienced units within its ranks, namely the 5th, 38th, 104th, and 106th infantry divisions, all veterans of the fighting in China since 1937. They were complemented by 2 Imperial guards brigades who would form the nucleus of Homma’s elite force for counterattacking enemy breaches in the Fortress.
From the U.S. Navy ships came the 1st and 2nd Field Artillery Regiments, two old units dating back to the First World War. The reason for their presence was simple. America could not send much, but it was figured by Allied planners during the Washington conference that due to the increasingly static nature of warfare in the Far East, artillery units could be very useful to the successful prosecution of the war. The two regiments included howitzers but also field guns and anti-aircraft guns. The Americans were flanked by several Japanese units of the same type, as the siege-stye warfare the Allies wanted to conduct in Vladivostok went well with artillery. Furthermore, the Allies had the mastery of the air, enabling the artillerymen to be able to operate with relative impunity on the enemy forces. America came along with boatloads of ammunition for the guns, or what the logistical service considered to be two months of heavy daily usage.
General Homma soon was ashore, directing the troop and material unloading himself. By the 21st, most of the men were either manning the defenses or were busy repairing them. Japan could count on a lot of slave labor, especially from Korea, but it had been decided in Tokyo that it would not be the best idea to show the dark side of Japanese Imperialism. The soldiers got stuck with the onerous duty.
The Allies were ready for Guderian.




The Battle of the Golan Heights

The fight for Palestine, February 10th to 13th, 1941
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Golan Heights, before the battle, February 1941
The Golan Heights is a high, volcanic plateau overlooking the upper Jordan River valley to the west. The area had been part of extreme southwestern Syria, under French mandate, since the end of the First World War. It was also a crossroads for any invading armies coming from Iraq or Turkey. Hence, it would be the meeting point between the invading Axis and the defending Allies.
The British commander in the theater, General Archibald Wavell, had long foreseen that a battle would eventually be fought in northern Palestine. While he never really intended it to be the place where he would smash the Axis offensive, it was, for him, yet another speed bump toward the Suez Canal.
As mentioned before, Wavell could not afford to have too many troops on the eastern side of the Suez Canal because of the sheer number of enemy troops and the dangers of encirclement from everywhere. His small forces could be swamped and outflanked at many points in the Levant. But he was obligated to leave the 10,000 provincial troops in the area as they could not really be moved because they were French and Palestinian colonial militias. He decided he would offer them as a sacrificial lamb to the Axis forces. The goal was to win time while the British commander was busy in Cyrenaica.
The Palestinian population was composed of roughly 62% Arabs, 21% Jewish, and 7% Christians, and while they did not get along very well, they could live alongside each other. The militia that thus garrisoned the Golan Heights was a mixed lot of units of Arabs, Jewish, and Christian soldiers. Every unit was homogenous, but the army’s cohesion was dubious at best. With French colonials from Syria, Jews, and Arabs all speaking different languages, it was an impossible problem to get communication flowing. The rest of Palestine was defended by border guards and light infantry that were no match for regular military forces. The Allies could supply them with enough defense in the air, but the Luftwaffe and the Red Air Force fought them hard for mastery of the sky.
The defensive preparations in the Golan Heights were impressive and included three lines of trenches, well supplied with guns and ammo. Small volcanic cinder cones dotted the level plateau, becoming strongpoints. Wadis would funnel the opposing tanks, forming bottlenecks that the few American advisors called “turkey shoots.” Wavell had left the militiamen to their own devices, but not without proper weapons and preparation.
The Heights was not the highest in the world but towered over very rough and broken ground, and the British commander hoped that the defenses would hold for at least 10 to twenty days. But the reality of combat shattered his carefully laid plans.
Despite heavy losses from the “turkey shoot,” the Axis forces crashed down on the line with overwhelming force. The Germans and their European allies attacked with well over 200,000 soldiers, while other forces under Romanian General Antonescu (120,000 men) entered Palestine along the coastline, where there weren’t many defenses, threatening to completely outflank the poor militia. The Soviets outdid the Germans with 200,000 soldiers for the attack on the Golan Heights (General Yadalev), while a substantial army of 450,000 soldiers (General Yeremenko) advanced south of the Dead Sea toward the major town of Beersheba.
 
[image: ]
The conclusion of the battle had already been decided by the incredible discrepancy of force, weapons, and training. Regardless, the militiamen, both Arabs and Jews alike, held their ground with ferocious courage born out of desperate men defending their homeland. The French force, however, quickly disintegrated as they were already defeated soldiers. Syria was occupied, and their morale was as low as rock bottom for most units.
The battle lasted for a full three days, and when it was over, not many of the militiamen were alive and well. The Arabs fought for their lands, and the Jews for their land and their lives. They knew what fate awaited them once the Germans took over.  
The Red Army also moved south of the Dead Sea and advanced at good speed toward Beersheba, where the British had to rush troops to slow down their advance. Wavell was fully engaged on the other side of Egypt against the Afrika Korps and could not afford to get caught wrong-footed and with no real defenses on his side of the Suez Canal.
The fight for Palestine was not yet over and it would deliver yet one more battle, but the writing was on the wall. The Axis was victorious in the Levant.




Porto 

The 141st enjoys the moment, February 19th, 1941
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Two full weeks after the battle for Vila Real, Marco finally felt that things were looking up for Germany and its allies. The road to Porto had been hard, but the city was taken without a real fight. That was fine with him, as he felt he had a bellyful of hard battles lately. The fight for Vila Real lasted four more days after he crossed the Douro, and then American General Patton counterattacked with his armored division, shattering several units and sending the Axis force reeling backward just before Porto a week before. That had not been a good time, and Peters did not like to think about these critical and terrible days.
It had then taken time for von Reichenau to move more troops into position, and by then, the elusive American general had moved his troops south of the northern Portuguese city. “Marco,” said Felix, coming up beside him. “What are you doing? Everyone is getting drunk; the officers are asleep at the switch,” he continued, handing him a bottle of the dark liquid. Marco picked it up, smiling, and then took a sip. It didn’t take long for him to return to his sightseeing. They stood towering above the city, and the view was incredible. They were in the Se du Porto Cathedral. It was built in the highest part of the city, located in the Batalha district, next to the walls that had once protected the city during medieval and Napoleonic times. The exterior of the building had the appearance of a fortress with battlements. They had been ordered to recon the large building and had been rewarded with something unexpected. A magnificent cache of Port wine, the sugary liquor-wine that had made Porto so famous a place in the world.
The Allies had not left a note on the why, but they had gathered a lot of bottles in the large religious building, probably in the hopes of moving them before they had to leave and, in the meantime, protecting it as Germans and Italians alike were not in the business of specifically targeting religious building when they bombed cities. Churches and cathedrals were normally spots for hospitals and other sensitive things that both sides were reluctant to risk or attack.
The view and the gentle wind offered some measure of peace to Marco, and from the silence following Felix’s arrival, his friend felt the same way. There was some comfort in the view before them.
They were standing in the bell tower, the highest point of the building. Below, German soldiers sang and partied. For some reason, there had been no officer present to stop them from looting the Port wine and then drinking it. Marco and the rest of the 141st had no clue as to why but just went about what every soldier normally does when he has a golden opportunity to get drunk: He drinks.
“When do you think we’ll be back at it,” asked Marco to Felix. “I dunno, Peters. Probably tomorrow, just as we have to fight our hangover headaches,” answered Felix with a shrug of the shoulders and another sip of the wine. He smiled and took another sip. True to form, Felix was right. The officers would soon realize that a unit had slipped through their fingers and get things back under control.
“Where is Konstantin,” continued Marco. “Ah, you know, the young kid is full of lust for those nice Portuguese girls we saw back at the tavern.” “Sure he is,” countered Marco with a happy thought. That was another thing soldiers did when they could: Get laid. The Wehrmacht was no rapist Army or was not doing anything back as an occupying force (well, not the regular army anyway, but maybe the SS). The Allies had set up brothels just for them, or else it was part of the local scene. Regardless of what it was, Max Konstantin had decided that he would sample it.
“Come on, Peters, let's go downstairs to party with the guys,” Felix added, tapping him on the back. “I’ll be right behind you,” answered Marco, taking one last look at the magnificent sight before him, before going down the stairs giving way to the courtyard.
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Kourion, Sightseeing in Cyprus, and death in early February 1941
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Once the situation was under control in Cyprus and my units spread all across the island to ensure full control, I was again able to indulge in my passion, along with a few of my fellow historian-officers. Cyprus would never have been a country on my “must-visit list,” but as I was there for reasons beyond my control, I decided to make the best of it. Being a general gives one the opportunity to decide and order people around. I was thus able to arrange a hole in my busy schedule (the two Regiment of my divisions were being re-transferred to the mainland via Syria for the soon-to-come attack on Palestine and eventually the Suez) to make a visit to a very interesting site.
The archaeological remains of Kourion - which was one of the island’s most important city-kingdoms in antiquity – was one of the most impressive on the island.
The city kingdom was built on the hills of the area and overlooked and controlled the fertile valley of the river Kouris. According to local legends, Kourion was associated with the Greek legend of Argos of Peloponnese, and its inhabitants believed they were descendants of Argean immigrants. The once-flourishing kingdom was eventually destroyed in a severe earthquake in 365 AD. The magnificent Greco-Roman theatre - the site’s centerpiece - was built in the 2nd century BC and was a sight to behold.
The entire affair would have been magnificent if not for the enemy air attack that ended up singling me out by sheer backluck in the afternoon. As I was getting ready to visit the old Roman Agora and the baths with my retinue of interested officers, a surprise enemy raid of twenty or so British Bristol Blenheim light bombers came out of nowhere and bombed the area we were in.
The moment went from picture-perfect to total pandemonium in seconds. One moment, we were enjoying the great weather, and the next, we were being tossed around by the blast waves of the powerful enemy bombs. I remember being driven around in my staff Kubelwagen and enjoying the breeze, then a big plane thundering over me and our convoy. Then fire, smoke, horror, death.
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German staff Kubelwagen on Cyprus, 21st Panzer Division, circa 1941
The enemy attack was as intense as it was sudden, and the British aircraft only made one pass before turning back toward their bases in Palestine. Four of my officers were killed on the spot, while I was lucky to escape the ordeal with only a light flesh wound on the head and on the left leg.
The enemy raid obviously put an end to the nice sightseeing moment, and I was driven to a field hospital with the rest of the injured personnel. The next day, I had to organize the burial of the poor officers who were killed.
Soon after that, the realities of the war caught up to me, and I received my final transfer orders. My two regiments were to rejoin my division in Beirut via a convoy leaving the next day from Famagusta. And thus ended my moment in Cyprus. I never went back to the beautiful island.




Battle maneuvers in Portugal part 1 



George Patton fights and retreats, February 16th to 27th, 1941
This seems to me to be the record of a man who was devoted to war. . . As for his great qualities as a soldier, they appear in the fact that he was full of adventure, ready to lead an attack on the enemy. Day or night, and when he was in an awkward position, he kept his head, as everyone agreed who was with him anywhere. It is said that he had all the qualities of leadership which a man of his sort could have.
- Enophon of Clearcus the Spartan,
his first general, ca. 360 B.C. (7: ix-x)
While Patton was accused after the war of not aligning with the politics of the Allies, he did show a definite understanding of the military strategy for achieving victory. The Portuguese campaign was the first prime example of this duality, where he played with his orders and created something entirely different than what his superiors wanted or intended.
As things started to go bad for the Allies in Northern Portugal and the Axis was ever tightening the noose on the troops in and around Porto, he received direct orders from Eisenhower on the 16th of February to evacuate his troops by sea and sail them back to Morocco. For the commander-in-chief, the objective of the Portuguese campaign had been reached. The Allies had won enough time for their preparations in Morocco, considering that they now risked losing an entire army in Portugal if they decided to get stubborn.
The map, the numbers, and the situation called for a retreat, and Eisenhower was not wrong in ordering this. But Patton was of the mind that the Allies were not yet defeated in Portugal. In fact, he saw quite the opposite. For him the entire area was an opportunity to fixate an inordinate number of enemy troops and thus win big in the strategic grand scheme. He understood he had the vast industrial resources of the USA at his disposal to wear down the German Army, and while it was not yet the case, one day, the Allies would be able to bury the Axis in lead and steel. Time was on the side of the Allies. They controlled the sea, had vast industrial resources, and were now only gearing up for war.
He figured that the time to fight them was now and that Eisenhower would find a way to support him. His endgame was to fight his way to Southern Portugal, fortify the old Torres Vedras Line, and make the Axis pay dearly to take it.
He chose to ignore the order to embark and retreat. He initiated a series of fast-paced blitzkrieg maneuvers worthy of the great German panzer generals like Guderian or Rommel. As he retreated his forces south to dig in in the new Torres Vedras Line, he fought and kept himself one step ahead of the Germans.
While the decision to continue to fight was easy, making certain he was not encircled and destroyed was a tall order. By February 16th, the Axis forces were on the move everywhere, and General Rudolph Schmidt, the field commander in Portugal, had 180,000 men with which to attack. About 30,000 to 40,000 soldiers stayed in and around Andalusia to watch Gibraltar in case the Allies decided to get bold, but the rest were on the offensive.
To say that the Axis was closing in for the kill was an understatement. The forces in the north were about to storm Porto, while in the south, the Portuguese barely held on to a tenuous defensive line. The only part that remained free was the center of the country, and that was where Patton planned to gain the time that he needed to finish the repurposing of the Torres Vedras Line.
To make this work, the American general still had three active (albeit depleted from the heavy fighting in the north) and very mobile units because the Allies had landed a lot of trucks and American Jeeps.
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His plan was to execute a fighting retreat southward until he was able to reach the peninsula housing Lisbon, where he was working on his defensive line. By the 18th-19th, when Porto fell to the Axis forces, it became clear to Eisenhower that Patton had either not been able to embark or else chose to move southward. Apart from throwing a fit over the matter, he did decide to support his fiery general in trying to save his armies.
After all, the two men were friends, even if rivals. Patton's dash, courage, and recklessness complemented Eisenhower's stubborn, straightforward caution. Each admired the other and benefited from the relationship during the entire war. The two young majors met in 1919, and almost immediately, they began an argument that would last until Patton's death. Patton thought that the chief ingredient in modern war was inspired leadership on the battlefield. Eisenhower felt that leadership was just one factor. He believed that Patton was inclined to indulge his romantic nature, neglecting such matters as logistics, a proper worldwide strategy, and going along with the overall objective.
The planner decided to help the bold soldier and sent reinforcements to Lisbon to help with the defensive preparation of the Torres Vedras Lines. Engineer Seabees battalions (1st and 5th) were landed along with the newly arriving 7th Royal Canadian Brigade. Convoys were sailed to the Portuguese capital, and ammo, supplies, and the like piled up in preparation for a long siege.
While all of these preparations were fine and well, Patton’s army still had to survive and reach the Lisbon Peninsula, and the Portuguese (now complemented by the brave Canadian brigade) had to hold onto the Tagus Line.
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Once Porto was gone, the situation soon became tense and desperate for Patton, who had to outdo himself in maneuvers to try and stay ahead of the enemy. On the 20th, elements of the German 23rd Panzer Division stormed the city of Aveiro south of Porto, forcing the American general to make a stand in Coimbra to give time to his army’s main body to continue retreating south. This initiated the two-day battle known as the Battle of Coimbra, where the Allies bravely fought the more numerous Axis units to a standstill, helped by heavy air attacks from the American Air Force and British Royal Air Force.
During that time, the Portuguese, now complemented by several Allied units sent as advance elements by Patton, fought the Russian, German, and Italian forces to a standstill along the river, also helped by heavy air attacks. The Luftwaffe was at a disadvantage in the theater because of its numerous obligations elsewhere and because the Allies concentrated almost 100% of their air power there.
The Allies eventually were able to check the German attack in Coimbra, and Patton dislodged his main body from their positions to move southward. It cost him the 6th Marines Regiment, sacrificed to make a stand in order to give time to the rest of the troops to move away from the danger zone. When all was said and done, and the army was back on track southward, the 1st U.S. Marine Division was reckoned to be at only 50% strength from its original complement following the landings on January 21st and 22nd.
On the 25th of February, Patton reached the city of Leria. His arrival in the city coincided with the launch of a major attack by the Russian and German forces on the northern Tagus Defensive lines, and it didn’t take long for the Portuguese units to break up completely. By the 26th, the situation was critical, and Patton thus counterattacked and successfully pushed the Axis back at Santarem in the last major battle before the final retreat behind the Torres Vedras.
The entire Allied front was unraveling by then, and it was about time that the American general was near Lisbon, as he ordered the general retreat toward the last defense of Portugal.




The Battle of Coimbra 

The 141st fight in the city, February 21st
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Men of the 141st Regiment assault central Coimbra. Portugal, circa February 1941
Marco jumped off the Panzer IV’s hull as he was ordered to by Sergeant Trucker, the bastard of a man who had decided he, Felix, and Max were now part of his unit. The tank rumbled forward, pouring fumes from its exhaust and scattering dirt on its sides from the churning of its tracks. Marco landed hard on the ground, rolling to his side since the driver didn’t even stop the machine to accommodate Peter and his comrades. The 141 had been ordered to jump on the tanks of the 23rd Panzer Division and to act as “mechanized infantry” because time was of the essence. The unit was ordered to storm the Portuguese town of Coimbra, and that called for infantry. Panzers alone could not take a city.
The Germans were trying to catch the retreating Allies after the fall of Porto. It appeared that the enemy had failed to embark on its ships to retire to safety, and now there was an opportunity to destroy the army of American General Patton.
One of the nation's most important crossroads, Coimbra, was historically at a junction between Braga and Lisbon, and its river access (the Mondego flows through the municipality) provided a route between the interior communities and the coastal towns. It was a logical place for the Axis to conquer on the road southward as they tried to destroy Patton’s force. Although it ceased serving as the capital of Portugal in the 13th century, Coimbra retained considerable importance in the Portugal of the 1940s. With a dense urban grid, tightly packed streets, old monuments, and numerous churches, it was a perfect place for some heavy street fighting.
Unfortunately for Marco and his two friends, they were in the middle of it. An hour after arriving in the city, they were already black with soot and dust. Max was covered in blood (it was a common occurrence) as he had had to fight a crazy big Portuguese soldier with his field knife. Felix was wounded on the shoulder, but the bullet had only grazed it. It was painful, but he could still fight. Marco had difficulty running, and it appeared he had a half-sprained ankle. But he could still fight, and fighting he was. There was no choice, for that bastard of a sergeant Trucker had no patience for sissies and men feigning injuries. “You guys are fine; get back into it,” he had told them a minute ago after he came by them to see how they were doing.
Their squad was busy trying to reduce a Portuguese mortar position. The enemy had entrenched themselves in the collapsed ruins of a large cathedral, and no measure of artillery shells or aerial bombs had been able to silence the relentless enemy soldiers. The captain had ordered the entire company to assault the place.
The Germans were arrayed around it in a semi-circle and poured continuous fire into the pile of rubble. “Have someone figured out where that bastard of a mortar fires from,” asked Max in an exasperated voice. “Not that I know of,” answered Marco as he loosened another round at the enemy sheltering in the broken pieces of buildings.
“Well, then,” started Max with his usual going-crazy look he harbored every time he was about to get berserk. “It’s about time somebody does something about it.” He got up and started running toward the pile of ruins. “Cover me, and tell the rest of the guys to do the same, I’ll charge the fuckers!” “No, Max, wait!” was the only thing that Marco was able to blurt out before the crazy youngster started his run toward the enemy position.
For a moment, the entire battlefield seemed to catch its breath. A full five seconds elapsed before the first unbelieving Portuguese soldier decided to fire at the recklessly brave German sprinting across the open space between the two sides. He missed, and then everyone else seemed to light a switch at the same time. Pandemonium erupted, and several of the German soldiers stood up and rushed to the position following the crazy Konstantin. Two of them were Marco and Felix, not really believing what they were doing.
A full two hours later, and as the sun finally dropped on the horizon announcing the blessed night to come, the three friends were sitting, still alive and exhausted. The rush of adrenaline was gone, and they silently, lazily sharing a cigarette. There was nothing left in the tank, and they were still shaken from the battle they had just fought. The assault had been sharp and violent. They had destroyed the mortar position and killed every one of the Portuguese soldiers within it.
Crusty Sergeant Trucker walked by, taping all the still-alive soldiers on the shoulder and chatting a little with them. The man might be a bastard, but he was a grateful bastard. He had come to personally congratulate the three of them and let them know they would each receive an Iron Cross for their crazy assault that day.




America's Front-Line Soldier

The U.S. fighting men of General Patton’s Army in Portugal and Morocco and in the developing war
Before the real shooting started in earnest in Portugal, many “experts” stateside had personal theories about the fighting man of America. They were reporters, analysts, intelligence types, or armchair generals. Some said the American soldier would be the same clean-cut young man who left his home; others say morale would be sky-high at the front because everybody's face was shining for the “Great Cause.”
They were wrong. The combat man wasn't the same clean-cut lad because you didn't fight a kraut or commie by Marquis of Queensberry rules. You shot him in the back, you blew him apart with mines; you killed or maimed him the quickest and most effective way you could with the least danger to yourself.
The simple fact of the matter is that the enemy would have done the same to the American combat man. He tricked him and cheated him, and if you didn't beat him at his own game, the combat man didn't live to appreciate his own nobleness.
But the American combat man didn’t become a killer during its fierce baptism of fire in the dry desert of the Atlas Mountains or in Portugal. No normal man who has smelled or associated with death ever wanted to see any more of it. In fact, the only men who were even going to want to bloody noses in a fistfight after this war would be those who wanted people to think they were tough combat men when they actually weren't. The surest way to become a pacifist was to join the infantry. The horror of it was so overwhelming that one didn’t want to live through it again.
While men in combat outfits kidded each other around, they had a sort of family complex about it. No outsiders could join. Anybody who did a dangerous job in the war had his own particular kind of kidding among his own friends, and sometimes it didn’t even sound like kidding. Bomber crews, Marines, and infantry squads were about the same in that respect. If a stranger came up to a group of them when they were bullying, they ignored him. If he took it upon himself to laugh at something funny, they said, they froze their expressions, turned slowly around, stared at him until his stature had shrunk to about four inches, and he slunk away. Then they went back to their kidding again.
It was like a group of prosperous businessmen telling a risqué joke and then glaring at the waiter, who joined in the guffaws. Combat people were an exclusive set, and if they wanted to be that way, it was their privilege. They certainly earned it. New men in outfits had to work their way in slowly, but they were eventually accepted if they survived combat. Sometimes, they had to change some of their ways of living.
An introvert or a recluse was not going to last long in combat without friends, so he learned to come out of his shell. Once he had 'arrived,' he was pretty proud of his clique, and he, in turn, was chilly toward outsiders.
That's why, during some of the worst periods during the Portuguese retreat and the battle for the Torres Vedras, many guys who had a chance to hang around a town for a few days after being discharged from a hospital where they had recovered from wounds, with nobody the wiser, didn't take advantage of it and rejoined their unit.
They weren't eager to get back up and get in the war by any means, and many of them did hang around for a few days. But those who did hang around didn't feel exactly right about it, and those who went right back did it for a very simple reason - not because they felt that their presence was going to make a lot of difference in the big scheme of the war, and not to uphold the traditions of the umpteenth regiment. A lot of guys don't know the name of their regimental commander. They went back because they knew their companies were very shorthanded, and they were sure that if somebody else in their own squad or section were in their own shoes, and the situation were reversed, those friends would come back to make the load lighter on them.
This was the fighting man of America.




Extracts of Hermann Balck’s 1981 book, Odnung im Chaos: Eirinnnerungen 1893-1948 



Palestine and the Battle of Beersheba, February 20th, 1941
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To the 21st Panzer Division:
After the victorious conclusion of the fighting on Cyprus the division had been attached to the Middle Eastern Army to assume its role within the regular force and achieve speed and energy. Faithful to the reputation that preceded it for outstanding combat accomplishments gained in countless battles, the division once again has outstandingly conducted itself on Cyprus. Committed to a precarious landing, it was the first to break through the strong and tenaciously defended enemy positions and helped save the lives of many of its Fallschirmajer comrades. From there, it remained the pacesetter during the thrust toward Famagusta and the rest of the campaign’s objectives. Likewise, during the ensuing heavy offensive engagements, the division, despite stubborn enemy resistance and significant losses, managed time and again to prevent an enemy retreat and consolidation by launching counterattacks under the most difficult conditions and terrain.
I want to express my special thanks and full recognition to the officers, officials, noncommissioned officers, and enlisted soldiers for your outstanding accomplishments. I am convinced that in the future, the division will accomplish all missions with the same energy and motivation. I wish you success and soldier’s luck.
Signed Henrish von Kleist, Colonel General Commander, Axis Middle East Army
Once I was done with Cyprus and with the praises of my commanding general for the conduct of my unit on the island, I embarked at the harbor of Famagusta with my two regiments to rejoin the rest of the 21st Panzer on the mainland. Our destination was Beirut, and we landed just on the day the battle of the Golan Heights ended in total victory for our side (13th of February). The harbor was a hectic place by the time we disembarked. The entire port area was clogged with supplies and new units having landed around the city. We were quickly ordered to rejoin our division south of the city, and we rejoined my unit on the 14th.
By the 15th, I was sufficiently reorganized to start the advance south. We rolled at the best speed toward the countryside and the passable roads in the wake of our Axis brothers, who had already conquered the area. We eventually made it to Haifa, again without a battle because it was already occupied. For five days, it was a wild ride of skirmishes and quick battles as we raced south to rejoin the army’s lead element, converging along with General Yeremenko’s forces to the city of Beersheba, the last real enemy defense in the area.
There, we arrived in time to join the fight but were ambushed by a surprise enemy armor attack. We were attacking Baiket Awed, a small Palestinian village that lay between Beersheba and the sea on a blocking mountain ridge. The British were there with a small infantry unit. It was clear that our frontal attack was bogging down. We could not observe the enemy in the jagged, rocky terrain; the Panzers could not mount a reasonable attack, and our artillery fire was relegated to complete ineffectiveness.

[image: A map with flags and red circles  Description automatically generated]
I halted the attack temporarily, reconnoitered, and determined that our present course of action could not succeed. I let the tanks conduct another feint attack. In the meantime, I pulled out the motorcycle rifle battalion and sent it through the hills to envelop the defending enemies. When the 2nd Battalion, 304th Rifle Regiment, arrived, I sent them around even farther to the right. That unit’s left flank was supposed to march along the ridge that ran toward the enemy. The battalion itself was to move beyond the ridge and, without letting the enemy push them back, penetrate deep into their rearward lines. “Do not end up in front of the enemy under any circumstances,” I ordered, “even if your adjacent unit is crying for support.”

We spent the night moving forward through horrible terrain. At 0900 hours the next day (February 29th), we were to be ready. Shortly prior to that, I had formed up the Panzer battalion, one rifle company, and one engineer company to fix the enemy frontally while the artillery brought the ridge under fire. We took heavy counterfire as the attack started.
The tank in front of me was hit on the flank and exploded, and that was when the real problems started. The British 2nd Armored Division was launching its counter-attack, and my unit was taking the brunt of the assault.
As I was to know, after the smoke and fire from the battle cleared a few weeks later, the British commander had sent several units across the Suez following the disaster at the Golan Heights in order to gain more time for his forces. The main body of his army was entangled with the Afrika Corps in Eastern Cyrenaica around Tobruk, and he quickly figured that our rate of advance could be a potential disaster for him as he would not have enough defenses on the Suez Canal when our numerous forces arrived.
His answer was to rush the 2nd Armored and a few mobile units to Beersheba to push us back and gain a few previous days. The battle started with a bang and in the dark of the night. The first half-hour was very confusing as my men and I reeled back in disarray. The flank attack was also soon joined by a frontal one from the New Zealander unit (a battalion) defending the small town we had been assaulting moments before.
The battle raged for the entire night, and at dawn, the enemy forces retired westward, probably to avoid being attacked from the air as we had a heavy air presence over the theater. The final tally wasn’t pretty. During the night, I lost 14 panzers and 234 men. But I was in control of the small Baiket Awed, and the main body of the army was fighting heavily for Beersheba. All indications pointed to that battle also ending in our favor.
I was ordered to pursue the enemy at 1100 and sent back a request for more gasoline as our supply trucks had not arrived yet. I was able to inspect my men and soothe the wounded. A medic company came by at about 1200 and took away the wounded in a few Opel trucks. I went to the small town and inspected the enemy positions, littered with dead (the British wounded were also whisked away by the medics). I finally got supplied at 1325 and called the go-ahead for the unit by 1536.
Unfortunately, by then, the enemy tanks were long gone, driving as fast as possible westward. The entire Allied line was shattered, and not one of them fought in place. All were trying to execute fighting retreats, and thus, I was able to snatch a few opportunities to encircle and get them to surrender.
One fellow in particular comes to mind from that time. He was a British captain, going by the name of Peter Dorrick. The man was lightly injured and surrendered to our lead recon elements after some fighting. I invited him to my tank during a pause in our advance late on the 20th. Dusk was falling, and we were all tired. The British officer came up to me and identified himself as the captain of the 45th Rifle Company in the 2nd Armored Division’s recon battalion. He congratulated me for our victory, and as I was to give him the same, he fished out a bottle of Brandy from his small campaign bag. He offered me and the men around a taste, and we all drank merrily. The liquor tasted amazing after such a long and difficult day of fighting. One cannot understand how thirsty you can get in a dry place like Palestine.
I had thought that the Beersheva area was a desert, but I was mistaken. The winter rains had turned the entire area green with large patches of colorful wildflowers. I now understood why Abraham of the Old Testament had settled there.
On the 21st, I received news that the Allies were in full retreat and that we were to follow them as aggressively as possible. But that is for another story.




Retreat from Tobruk

Air attack and ground fighting, February 14th-20th, 1941
The defeat at the Golan Heights and the rapid Axis advance in the Levant toward the Sinai Desert and eventually to the Suez Canal marked a turning point for the war in the eastern Cyrenaica desert. General Wavell could no longer afford to fight Rommel and advance against him. He was faced with a choice. Stay and win over Rommel while losing Egypt, or retreat to fight another day and concentrate his defenses.
(…) Tobruk Fortress, February 14th (…)
The sun was slowly tilting over the horizon, lengthening the shadows around Kevin King and his friend, Arthur Archibald. Both were with the 9th Australian Infantry Division defending Tobruk, near the north western perimeter. It had been another hot day in the wretched place, and both looked forward to having some cool weather as the temperature dropped quite rapidly in the North African desert.
Both were in a foul mood. They both had known it was coming at one point, but they had not imagined it would be so soon. “You can’t be right, Arthur,” said Kevin, disbelieving. “I am, mate. A fellow I know from Sydney has told me that General Wavell has ordered the Army to retire back to Egypt, and we’re to stay here and resist as long as possible, just like the original plan.” King shook his head negatively. “Not possible. He wouldn’t leave us here to rot. He saved us once; why leave us here?” “The fellow I know who knows another guy who is friends with one of the higher-ups was adamant it was happening. The word isn’t out yet, but the Army is packing up because the Axis forces are closing on the Suez Canal.” “No fuckin way,” answered Kevin, still not believing it.
Archibald looked his friend in the eyes, taking his shoulders with both his hands. “Mate. I don’t like either, but it’s the truth. Wavell has to retreat because if he stays, we’ll lose the Suez Canal and forego the entire reason we are here: hold Egypt. We’re surrounded and can’t do much else but fight like cornered rats.”
As much as he thought it made sense, Kevin still didn’t like it. He had not joined the Australian Army just to be sacrificed like a lamb to the slaughter. He was worth more than that. “This is not…” he was interrupted by Sergeant Osterby, their NCO, walking by. “Everyone to the divisional HQ in fifteen minutes,” he continued as he breezed by. “Yes, sir,” they both answered.
Fifteen minutes later, he was listening to the Divisional commander and overall boss for Tobruk Fortress, General Leslie Morehead. “Like your forefathers and the Imperial forces before us, we will uphold honor and glory and resist to the last bullet. The Germans can try to take Tobruk, and if they do, we’ll make them pay a price heavier than they would have thought possible.” “Hurrah! Hurrah! Hurrah!” cheered the soldiers. Kevin surprised himself by feeling excited and proud to be part of Morehead’s division. It had been an amazing speech, and he had to admit that it all seemed to make sense. The Empire needed them to resist as long as possible to keep the Axis out of Egypt. Without Tobruk, that bastard Rommel and his Afrika Korps could not invade from the west. As long as they held, General Wavell would only have to fight the invading Axis hordes on the Suez. If they fell, then the Army of Egypt would be encircled, outflanked, and ultimately destroyed. Intellectually, he knew that trying to resist in Fortress Tobruk was madness and that, at best, he would be taken prisoner, but he decided that it was worth it. The general’s words had been inspiring.
(…) Gazala, 37 miles west of Tobruk, February 15th (…)
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Fiseler Fi 156 Storch
Panzer General and Afrika Korps commander Erwin Rommel smacked an annoying fly that had taken the habit of constantly landing back on his left cheek for the last minute. “Ah! Finally!” Satisfied, he took another sip of his morning coffee, followed by a bite of bread. “You know, Bayerlein, this local bread is actually pretty good,” he said with a smile. The bread had been bought in the local half-destroyed market the day before. After the Axis conquest of the city, a semblance of normality was settling back into Gazala, and thus, it had been possible to buy something from merchants.
Rommel liked the North African mornings. The air was still crisp from the night’s cold, and the luminosity was special. It was also at this moment that he was at his best and could think clearly. Well, when there was no night fighting or an air attack in the dark hours of the night. Bayerlein didn’t seem to be in the mood for a conversation with his superior. “General, your Storch plane is ready to go,” he simply answered. “Very well, Oberst,” said Rommel, taking the last bit of bread and draining his cup.
He walked to his staff car, and they drove to the small airfield north of Gazala. It wasn’t a real airfield, but the General’s small and nimble plane didn’t need much of an airstrip to operate. The Fieseler Fi 156 Storch was a German liaison aircraft built by Fieseler. It was one of the best short take-off and landing ("STOL") planes of the entire war. Sturdy, easily transportable, and tough. It was the greatest way for Rommel to recon the enemy lines, although none of his men liked the idea of their commanding officer taking such a risk. As nimble and well-made as the Fi 156 was, it was no match against a Spitfire or a Hurricane once the enemy had decided to set his sights on it.
Nonetheless, Rommel was an avid user. The aircraft’s ability to operate from runways less than 200 meters in length meant that it could be used from anywhere on the battlefield and at any time Rommel chose. Although the only armament of the machine was a rear-mounted machine gun, and the maximum speed did not exceed 175 km/h, the General praised the plane very much and used it every day. Believing himself charmed, he never did worry about being shot down by the enemy.
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General Erwin Rommel near Gazala about to board his recon plane, February 15th, 1941
Just as he was about to board the plane, he turned back to a still Bayerlein. “You sure you don’t want to come this time, Oberst?” The Staff officer just looked at his commander. “No, sir.” “Very well, Bayerlein, maybe one day I’ll get to entertain you with a flyby,” answered the general with a laugh. “Perhaps one day, sir.”
Not ten minutes later, the plane was in the air. His plan today was to confirm what his ground recon units had reported following the capture of a British patrol in the desert wastes between Gazala and Tobruk the night before: The Allies were apparently leaving. He picked up his binoculars and peered through the canopy, giving a quick head nod to the pilot to tell him all was good. The Fiseler climbed rapidly in the air, and he was then able to see what he wanted. A large cloud of dust east of Tobruk. “Bring us closer, Gaug,” he said to the pilot. “Yes, sir.” The plane veered to port, giving a better view of the entire area to Rommel. “Well, Gaug, my friend,” he started. “It appears it's true. The enemy is leaving. Interesting,” he continued, resting the binoculars back on his chest. “Let’s go home,” he finished.
On the way back, Rommel was lost in thought but was inwardly satisfied at his own insight. He had never taken the enemy counteroffensive seriously, hence, the reason why he had ordered his army’s fallback without a fight. He knew the enemy was just trying to gain time, and giving battle to the Brits would have just served Wavell’s plans. The Axis held all the cards in North Africa. The only thing he didn’t like was that they would have to restart the damned siege of Tobruk once again. With the resupplying they had received, it was as if he was back to square one.




Vladivostok 

Guderian’s Army Group arrives before the Fortress, February 28th
“Congratulations, Herr General,” said Chief of Staff Ludwig von Vorberk. “No need for congratulation, Oberst; the soldiers and tankers have done the job by themselves.” Guderian was standing ankle-deep in white snow, overlooking the grey, smoking city that was Vladivostok. Persistent whisps of white fluff drifted all around them as it looked like another damned storm was brewing up. Their breath fumed from the cold, and they wore heavy Russian fur hats with overcoats. Never before had Germans fought in such cold weather.
Behind them lay the General’s armored half-track command vehicle, with the engine still running. It was a Sd. Kfz. 250, a German light and armored halftrack first developed in 1939 and the personnel carrier was used by the Wehrmacht from 1941. It had been shipped via train, especially to Guderian from Hitler as a gift. It was a supplement to the larger Hanomag Sd. Kfz. 251 half-track. It was different from what Guderian normally used on campaigns because it had an enclosed space. The Fuhrer’s engineers had modified it for winter weather, including a heated interior The man did not need creature comforts, but the cold was dangerous and quite unpleasant in the Far Eastern Siberian Steppe. However, Guderian did accept the gift from Hitler. It was so cold in the northern Far East that he decided his pride was not worth refusing such a gift from the master of the Reich.
The driver had brought them to the high ledge that Guderian pointed out to him. It had been a little difficult to get there because of the snow, and the vehicle got stuck a couple of times on the way up. It was even towed by a Panzer IV once when it was stuck beyond hope. The endeavor had been anything but fun for the soldiers and for Guderian, who helped the men during its ordeal. But the view of the upcoming battlefield was unparalleled. The imposing city – and fortress- of Vladivostok was sprawled before them.
Altogether, 16 forts encircled Vladivostok from all sides, 10 of them on the peninsula and 6 on Russky Island, where the now-destroyed Voroshilov battery had towered, although the outlines of mighty Fort Pospelov could still be seen and Guderian had no doubts the Japanese garrisoned it. And indeed, the island was far from done fighting.
He took in a deep breath, as he’d never assaulted such a heavily defended position before. Vladivostok was the strongest and most powerful coastal fortress. It adorned the nickname the “Gibraltar of the East,” which spoke volumes about the coming hardships for the Axis to retake the fortress if the Gibraltar siege was any indication. “Sir,” began Vorberk. “According to the Russian documents I have been given, the fortress contains more than 800 fortifications and infrastructural objects, assembled during almost 40 years of construction.” Guderian grunted in displeasure and picked up his binoculars to have a better view of the expansive complex and city while his chief of staff continued to speak. “150 kilometers of defense lines and 9,845 meters of underground galleries; 1,606 guns, although now since the Japanese stormed and destroyed most of them, we are unsure what they have replaced them with, anti-tank ditches, trenches, minefields, it’s got it all, sir.”
Guderian dropped the binoculars, which then rested on his chest as they were attached to a strap going around his neck. “Well, you know, Vorberk, the documents might say whatever they want; the Japanese have recently assaulted it and, if I remember correctly, taken it.” “Yes, sir, I know, but the enemy was helped by its powerful air force and its battleships that have pounded everything in sight for weeks. We do not have this kind of support.” “No, we don’t,” answered the panzer general, looking at the city with its columns of smoke rising in the air. The Axis might not be as strong as the Japanese in the air, but they had started to bomb it relentlessly. “But we’re the Wehrmacht. We’ll find a way.”
Below him, the units of the German expeditionary corps and their Russian allies were starting to stream into the white plain, occupying the old Japanese positions built the year before for the very same kind of siege Guderian was about to attempt, except that he had his own idea on how to take it.




Sniping in the Far East 

Lamsdorf and Zaytsev shoot Japs, March 1st,1941
War is a ruthless system of killing and being killed. In action, sympathy for the enemy is ultimately suicide, for every opponent whom you do not kill, can and will turn the tables to kill you. Your chances of survival are measured by the yardstick of how you compare in skill and objectivity against your opponent.
This was a principle to which I remained true throughout, which enabled me to write you those lines and to share my experience of the war. If I had an enemy in the crosswire of my telescopic sight and a finger on the trigger, his fate was sealed.
By the time we got to Vladivostok and the army settled into its siege positions, I had 3 kills to my tally. I used my pocket knife to make three notches in the stock of my rifle, a ritual I kept up until I realized how stupid it was. It was suicidal to do this since if I got captured, it was assured death for me. Enemy snipers were not exactly prime prisoners. They were just killed on the spot.
When we arrived, we were conveniently able to take up the Japanese positions that they had used just months before during their siege of the same place. We found it very convenient as it would not have been possible to dig under enemy fire because the soil was rock hard due to the cold. As it was, we only had to clear the snow away and get things going. I was amazed at the level of comfort the enemy troops had enjoyed, and it was obvious they had besieged the city for a while. They had dug-in bunkers, caves, rest areas, and the like. Much of it had to be repaired and repurposed, but overall, it was a hell of a lot better than if there had been nothing when we arrived before Vladivostok.
A few days later, after our arrival I found an interesting opportunity. Since, as a sniper, I could freely wander the battalion lines, it had come to my notice that the Oberstabsfeldwebel ((command sergeant major) of the neighboring company owned a hen named Josephine, which could be relied upon to produce an egg daily for the Oberstabsfeldwebel’s table or barter. A single bird was an ideal target for abduction, for if one exercised due caution, the danger of a general racket, such as one might expect from a disturbed flock, was absent. I was elected unanimously for the job on account of my fieldcraft, since my “Red Indian instincts,” not to mention “catlike agility”, made me the “perfect choice”.
It was a night of the new moon and fully overcast, with howling winds and drifting snow, ideal for a commando raid of this kind. While the others stoked the fire and prepared the cooking utensils, for the first and only time, I put on a full camouflage dress, blackened my hands and face, and attached leafy vegetation to my fur cap and uniform until I looked like a snowy bush. After receiving brief instruction from a former poultry farmer in the technique of killing a bird by hand, I disappeared into the darkness, rustling lightly in the wind and feet crunching in the snow of the trench. Like a fox I slunk into the HQ of the neighboring company. The hen was sleeping in her nest, a lovingly furbished wicker basket meant for artillery ammunition. There was a sentry about 20 meters away in conversation with a friend: they were sharing a cigarette, and every time either took a drag, they raised a steel helmet to their faces so that the glow from the cigarette would not betray them to the enemy.
I was more on tenterhooks than normal, for this was looting, and the penalty for detection could easily be the firing squad. Scarcely daring to breathe, I lifted the catch of the wicker basket. The hen was sleeping with her head under a wing, trying to shelter from the cold. I could not afford to make a mistake. Keeping the lid up by resting it against my forehead, I seized the bird with both hands and swiftly put her to sleep – permanently. With a glance at the sentry, who was chatting and had seen nothing, I stuffed the dead Josephine inside my camouflage jacket and disappeared as silently as I had arrived. Within fifteen minutes, the bird was plucked and eviscerated, and the inedible evidence was carefully buried in snow far from our position.
On the morning of the grand feast, the Oberstabsfeldwebel
appeared and declared that he was in no doubt as to the perpetrators of the crime. “Which filthy swine stole my hen? It can only have been your company because the thief’s footprints in the snow lead here. None of my men would have dared lay a hand on Josephine; I would have shot him personally.” Our facial expressions of hurt and reproach at the implication appeared to weaken his resolve, and, muttering to himself, the
Oberstabsfeldwebel withdrew after making it clear that he had narrowed his suspicions down to one person but had no proof. He promised not to relent, however, and should the evidence needed be unearthed in due course, the person involved would be court-martialed and shot for the looting.
It is amazing how lightly I took the threat. It is in no small measure due to the fact that we all risked our lives daily and that the moment we breathed could always be our last. One never knew when Lady Luck called your number to catch a bullet or artillery shell. After the tense moment, we all went back to our occupation, and the army nicely settled in the siege of Vladivostok.




Battle maneuvers in Portugal part 2 

The Torres Vedras Line, March 1st, 1941
The Lines of Torres Vedras was a military defensive system constructed to the north of Lisbon between 1809 and 1810. Under a cloak of secrecy, the future Duke of Wellington developed a defense strategy based on the fortification of key points on the hilltops so as to be able to observe the access routes to the capital of Portugal and reinforce the natural obstacles of the local terrain. This system comprised three lines of defense, extending over 52 miles from the Atlantic to the river Tagus.
When finished, there were 152 military constructions, armed with 600 artillery pieces and defended by 140,000 men, making it the most efficient – as well as the cheapest – defensive system in military history.
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Original map of the Lines of Torres Vedras during the Napoleonic Wars
Surveying this line from east to west, the first section from Alhandra to Arruda was about 5 miles long, of which 1 mile towards the Tagus had been inundated; another 1 mile or more had been scraped into a precipice, and the most vulnerable point had been obstructed by a huge abatis. The additional defenses included 23 redoubts, mounting 96 guns, besides a flotilla of gunboats to guard the right flank on the Tagus.
In 1941, much of the British fortifications had covered by vegetations and afflicted by general decay over the last 130 years, but most of it was still viable for any infantry force that wanted to dig in. It had the high ground, old redoubts, dry moats, partially demolished stone walls, battlements, and gun emplacements; it was perfect for what Patton intended to do: make the Axis slug it out to take a heavily fortified defensive line.
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Example of old dry moat along the Torres Vedras, sufficiently high to block any tanks in 1941
There were even old forts that were hastily repurposed by the American and British engineers, and the enthusiastic Portuguese soldiers requisitioned for the occasion. Of them, the strongest of them all was Fort St Vincent. Built on top of a hill with a Y-shaped design, it consisted of a set of three strongholds, originally separated by three removable bridges and surrounded by a perimeter wall about 1,500 meters in length. The existing Castle of Torres Vedras, a short distance away, was incorporated into the same defensive line, having eleven cannons. Together, they defended the main road between Lisbon and Coimbra, which went through a narrow valley between the two hills.
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Fort St Vincent, circa 1940
And then there were redoubts dotting the entire line and ridges. The majority of the repurposed ones could hold 200 to 300 troops and 3 to 6 modern guns, like the American howitzers and the British 25-pounder field cannons. The Portuguese military also brought its antiquated guns (Canon de 75 modèle 1897, older French guns from the turn of the century) that would prove quite adept for the siege-style warfare about to be fought. The redoubts were protected by a ditch, normally 16 ft wide and 12 ft deep, with parapets 8 to 14 ft thick fitted with fire steps, and the redoubts were palisaded.
While, of course, the entire defensive line was old and decrepit, the stones, the ditches, and the forts still stood proud. It was thus not very difficult for the Allies to make a great modern fortification from it.
Most of the Allied troops were able to retire to the line except for a division of brave Portuguese soldiers who fought tooth and nail to give the rest of the Army time to enter the Torres Vedras.
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Old Tores Vedras Castle. Decrepit and worn, but a great spot for defending infantry.
(…) Fort St Vincent, March 1st, sundown (…)
General Patton had decided to install his HQ where Wellington himself had once stood. Fort St Vincent held a commanding position over the entire battlefield, and besides the Seabees had made sure it was well-furnished in modern equipment. It had phone lines and a hastily made bunker. A good place for a commander. “Yes, Ike, I have just arrived on the line,” said Patton in his gruff voice. There was a pause while he listened to Eisenhower’s next comment or question. “Ah yes, Dwight,” stated Patton. He liked to call his commander by his first name instead of the more common “Ike”, just to annoy him. It was a jest, but he knew it pissed off Eisenhower, so he continued.
“Most of the troops are in the defensive positions, and yes, the engineers are still at work.” Another pause. “We expect the enemy to arrive at the front of the line tomorrow or on the third.” Pause. “Yes, Ike,” he answered in an exasperated voice. “The men are ready…” pause as Patton was interrupted. “Yes, supply is fine, just make sure I continue to receive a steady flow…” Pause. “Yes, I will talk to Salazar soon.” Salazar was the dictator of Portugal. “He is coming to Fort St Vincent?” Pause. “Tomorrow?” Pause. “Okay, Ike, I’ll get everything ready for the man.” Pause. “Yes, thank you, sir.” Patton hung up the phone and took a deep breath.
“Time to get back to work,” he started again with renewed energy. The man had an endless supply of it. “Hobart, how are the men getting acquainted with their new home,” he started, walking by his chief of staff, busy looking over a few maps of the situation on the battlefield.
(…) Facing the Torres Vedras, March 2nd, 1941 (…)
The Axis forces advanced confidently up until they arrived at the base of the Torres Vedras on March 2nd. Their commander, General Schmidt, was baffled by the Allied fortifications. Just like French Maréchal d'Empire
André Massena before him (and 130 years earlier), he harbored a blank face as he watched the amazing display of firepower pouring out of the line as his men tried to attack it. He ordered a halt to the attack.
“What the hell is this,” he asked his chief of staff with an incredulous face. “Sir, it’s a fortification line,” answered the bland officer beside him. “Hell, Walder, I know it’s a fortification line. But what’s it doing here?” The other man took a deep breath. “Sir, units all across the board report that they are encountering heavy resistance and cannot advance further since they are under relentless fire from gun emplacements and machine gun nests. The tanks are also blocked by these giant moats over there…” he pointed at one of them. The men were facing a high ridge that seemed fortified and dotted with trenches and old walls. From it poured a withering fire from guns, rifles, and mortars.
“This is impossible,” continued Schmidt with an incredulous face. “The Allies cannot have possibly built this in the time they have had.” “Indeed, sir,” answered Walder. “This is the old Torres Vedras Defensive Line. It dates back from the Napoleonic Wars.” He paused. “I don’t know what else to say, General,” he finished. The commander of the Axis invasion of Portugal took another deep breath. “There is only one thing to say, Oberst. Order the men back. We need to reassess and get a grip on the situation, and it's not going to be by battering aimlessly on this fortified line.” “Yes, sir.”
And just like the French Napoleonic Army of old, the Axis juggernaut was stopped dead in its tracks by the Torres Vedras Line.




Dai Honei 

Edo Imperial Palace, March 1st, 1941
The leaders of the Empire were again gathered in the Imperial Palace for an important meeting concerning the overall worsening situation in mainland Asia. They sat at three distinct tables. The Army and Navy leaders faced each other while the political head (Prime Minister Konoye) was in between them. Facing Koyone, and flanked by both Army and Navy leaders, towered the Emperor on his throne. As always, the Japanese leader was silent and unmoving, just like Imperial etiquette needed him to be. The room itself was richly decorated and opened on a large balcony with a plunging view of Tokyo. The windows were closed as it was cold outside. The view was beautiful, since Edo palace rested higher and above the rest of the city. The capital was only getting snow a couple of times a year, and this day was one of them. Small flurries fell from the sky, covering the thousands of roofs with a beautiful white blanket. 
The meeting they were attending was called the Imperial General Headquarters (Dai Honei). It was part of the Supreme War Council established in 1893 to coordinate efforts between the Imperial Japanese Army and Navy during wartime. In November 1937, to bring the chiefs of the Army and Navy into closer consultation with his government, Emperor Hirohito established a body known as the Imperial General Headquarters-Government Liaison Conference within the Imperial General Headquarters.
The liaison conferences were intended to assist in integrating the decisions and needs of the two military sections of Imperial General Headquarters with the resources and policies of the rest of the government. Reaching an agreement between the Army and Navy on strategic planning was often tricky, to say the least. The two halves of the Japanese military did not always work together to attain the state’s objective. Since not much could be done politically (the entire world was at war), the discussions were only to be military-related.
Present at the meeting were the Army representatives, Minister General Hajime Sugiyama and General Hideki Tojo. Facing them were Admiral Osami Nagano (Navy Minister) and Grand Admiral Yamamoto, the head of the Combined Fleet and commander of all naval forces in the Empire. Prime Minister Konoye was flanked by Yosuke Matsuoka, Minister of Foreign Affairs. Their part in the meeting was forecasted to be light on the political side of things.
Emperor Hirohito gave the signal of the head (a head nod) to start the meeting as protocol demanded. Konoye stood up, bowed toward his monarch, and started the discussions. “Thank you, Emperor.” He also bowed respectively to the Army and Navy representatives, who also stood up and returned the gesture.
“Army Minister, the floor is yours.” Marshal Hajime Sugiyama stood up again and signaled for one of the officers by the door. Both the Army and Navy had two young staff officers by the door. Their purpose was not to talk during the meeting but to do their superior’s bidding.
The man exited and returned to the room with a large map on a wheeled wooden board. The map was a large representation of Vladivostok and Northern Chosen (Korea). Suyiyama walked by the mad, who was wheeled behind Konoye’s desk, facing the emperor.
“Gentlemen,” he said, clearing his throat. “The situation is critical for the Empire on the continent.” The men in the room moved uncomfortably in their chairs, making some noise with their grating on the floor. “We have prepared a strong defensive line to protect Chosen and prevent the Soviets from attacking further south.” He pointed to the line highlighted on the map. “The spot we have decided to make a stand is a very strong defensive position, backed by the Yalu and Tumen Rivers, with the Paektu Mountain as the center of the position. We have had tens of thousands of soldiers and laborers prepare the trenches, bunkers, antitank ditches and gun positions for a few months now. The work was as hard as the ground is frozen in most places. The troops have been slowly moved out of the line near Harbin and been brought to the line. We should execute the last part of the strategic withdrawal within the next few days and week. We believe that with this line of defense, we can offset the enemy’s qualitative and quantitative superiority in terms of tanks and guns.” It was a fact that not one of the men in the room liked to admit and would have never done so just six months before. But reality had caught up to them, and the major defeats all over the place had forced these proud men to acknowledge the situation. As a sign that no one was comfortable, chairs again grated on the floor, making some noises.
“This will give us time to get better weapons from our allies and to produce more of the ones we have to eventually turn the tide,” continued the Marshal. “The Navy will support us, and position ships on each coast of the Yalu-Tumen Line, he said, then giving a look to Grand Admiral Yamamoto. The Navy commander nodded. Sugiyama continued. “This should enable us to have powerful gun support for the first 30-40 kilometers of our defenses as this is the range of our battleship naval guns.”
Prince Koyone inwardly smiled. It was interesting to see the new collaboration between the Army and the Navy. While it was born out of desperation and would probably derail the moment things got better (if they ever did), it gave some hope to the Japanese Prime Minister. All the while, the Marshal continued to speak.
“We are expecting to continue to enjoy total air superiority over the battlefield for some time. This is our real trump card, and thus, most planes are now either based in Chosen or as close as possible to Vladivostok. The Navy and Army are contributing everything we have for both areas.” Yamamoto again nodded in a silent agreement.
“Troops from our Chinese evacuation are pouring into Chosen, and several divisions have been landed in Vladivostok. The defenses of the fortress have been repaired as best we could with the time we had. The enemy has now reached the city and has reoccupied our old siege positions from our own conquest of the city in 1940.”
He finished his presentation with as confident a face as he could show. It was Konoye’s signal to speak. “Thank you, Marshal,” he said, sitting up and bowing to the man.
“We also have some good news to report from our new American friends. They have confirmed that several squadrons of B-17s will arrive in Japan soon, along with a few deliveries of fighter squadrons.” Not one of the men around the room seemed happy about the news since they were proud soldiers and sailors. Accepting American help was sort of declaring or accepting their weakness. “But the most interesting news of all is that General Douglas MacArthur, currently in command of American forces in the Philippines, will soon transition to Chosen with most of the units that used to garrison the place.” While that was again good news, not one of the men in the room smiled. They needed the crusty old bastard of an American general, but that didn’t mean they liked it. And they had no idea how much he would piss them off by trying to take control.
The Army Marshal tried to keep a blank face. “Mr. Prime Minister, we do not need the man.” “I agree, Marshal,” said Konoye in a sympathetic tone. “But this was not a request from the Americans. They had just said that MacArthur and his troops were on the way to Chosen. As simple and as straightforward as our Yankee allies can be.” Sugiyama was about to continue arguing about it when the Grand Admiral intervened. “Marshal Sugiyama, don’t you think we are past being too proud to accept help?” “Grand Admiral, this is not your place to…”
“No, Marshal, it is you who will listen. We are fighting a war for our survival, and we could very well lose all of our mainland possessions in the next few months. If the Yankees want to send troops to fight alongside us in Chosen, don’t you think it’s a good thing? I mean, they don’t want to lose their men and will surely send more help that way.”
Sugiyama grumbled, with Tojo right beside him, echoing his words. “If we accept too much American help, this means that we will be losing our independence and our honor.” Yamamoto looked him right in the eyes before answering. “Well,” he laughed softly. “You should have thought about that before taking on the Russians.” Sugiyama was about to respond, while Tojo sat up, seemingly insulted.
Prime Minister Konoye was about to intervene to break up the mounting argument between the two men when something extraordinary happened: Emperor Hirohito broke protocol and decided to speak.
“Perhaps, Mr. Prime Minister, we should move on to the next subject,” said the man’s flowery voice. Konoye could only stand up, bow, and answer. “Of course, your Majesty.” The other men in the room were so shocked that it killed the argument.
The meeting would continue for some time, and the Army and Navy were unusually subdued. Konoye thought that it was a nice change from the usual arguing and endless blustering.




The lead up to the Battle of the Khyber Pass 

The Afghan invasion to March 4th, 1941
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The Soviet invasion of Afghanistan and the attack on British India
The invasion of Afghanistan was not an easy invasion for the numerous forces of the Red Army. What had started as a somewhat easy operation in a the small, backwater country with no standing army, was fast becoming a real pain.
The entire area was mountainous, and its nature was so rugged that it was not possible to occupy the entire land with the troops the Russians had. The choice had thus been what all of the invading armies had done over the ages: Move into the plains and leave the high mountains alone. The British had done it during their two invasions of Afghanistan; the Mongols had done it before that. Even Alexander the Great’s generals had avoided them. And the Afghans embarked on what they did best: raid and attack where the Red Army wasn’t paying attention.
Following the fall of Kabul on the 24th of February, Yvan Yakulev’s Army of Afghanistan took a few days to reorganize itself. The Soviet forces’ advance was marred with supply problems, and Yakulev had been forced to leave a staggering 20 divisions in the rear at different areas in Russian-occupied Afghanistan.
After making sure his supply lines were in working order and that he could advance somewhat safely to give battle to the British, he launched the final part of his offensive, the attack into India.
But before he could burst into the open Indian plains, he had to go through the famed Khyber Pass. The pass was the historical gateway for invasions of the Indian subcontinent from the northwest. Through it had invaded Persians, Greeks, Mughals, and Afghans, as well as the British, for whom it was the key point for controlling the Afghan border. In the 5th century BCE, Darius I of Persia conquered the country around what was Yakovlev in 1941, the city of Kabul and marched through the Khyber Pass to the Indus River. Two centuries later, Hephaestion and Perdiccas, generals of Alexander the Great, used the pass in much the same fashion. Since then, the Khyber was recognized as the way to get across either to India or to Afghanistan.
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Naturally, the Khyber Pass was the place where many battles were fought over the ages and where the British Empire suffered one of its worst defeats. In the 19th century, Britain, with a goal of protecting its Indian colonial holdings from Russia (as part of the so-called “Great Game”), tried to establish authority in neighboring Afghanistan by attempting to replace Emir Dost Mohammad with a former emir known to be sympathetic to the British. This blatant British interference in Afghanistan’s internal affairs triggered the outbreak of the first Anglo-Afghan War in 1839.
Dost Mohammad surrendered to British forces in 1840 after the Anglo-Indian army had captured Kabul. However, after yet another Afghan revolt in Kabul, the British had no choice but to withdraw. The withdrawal began on January 6, 1842, but bad weather delayed the army’s progress. The column was attacked by swarms of Afghans led by Mohammad’s son, and those who were not killed outright in the attack were later massacred by the Afghan soldiers. A total of 4,500 soldiers and 12,000 camp followers were killed. Only one man, Dr. William Bryden, escaped to recount the details of the military disaster.
If the Soviets knew the importance of the Khyber Pass, the British knew it even more. Just a little under half of India’s defending forces of 180,000 men were gathered in the Khyber Pass to make a stand against well over 400,000 Soviets. The stage was set for a battle of epic proportions, which would decide the fate of Northwest India.




The Battle of Kalat 

The Soviet invasion of India through Baluchistan, March 4th-6th, 1941
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British troops fighting in the Kalat Hills, March 3rd, 1941
After the British Imperial forces were able to stabilize the frontline at the end of January, the frontline remained static for around 10 days, and it wasn’t because the Soviets didn’t have the momentum or enough soldiers.
As was the case with the campaign in Afghanistan, supply was a major issue. Once the initial offensive bogged down, it took a while to get organized and ready to launch at the British again. The 10 day-span was the time it took for the Red Army commander, General Yevgeni Sobieski, to “recharge the batteries”. Baluchistan was one of the driest places in the world, a desert in all but name. Balochis were from the same background as the ones living in Afghanistan. They did the same, raiding supply lines and harassing the Soviet invaders. The British had long learned their lesson about the dreary place: leave it alone, and it will do the same. The Soviets were learning that lesson the same way their enemies had over the years: the hard way.
But be it as it may, Sobiesky had well over 20 divisions with which to execute his invasion of Western India. A nuisance like the Baluchi people and their unruly ways were not a sufficient reason to stop him from doing what he wanted with the strength he had at his disposal.
The Soviet offensive rumbled out of their positions on March 4th and rapidly advanced in front of the retreating Imperial forces. British high command had decided to make its next stand at the small historical town of Kalat, the former seat of the Kalat Khanate and the former capital of Sobieski, the Baluchistan area.
Over 90,000 Soviets soldiers clashed with 60,000 British Imperial ones on the outskirts of the town and into the hills around the town. Kalat was built in yet another rugged area but was devoid of any real natural obstacles, causing the battle to be very fluid for a few days.
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On the 6th of March, the battle ended with the destruction of a full Indian Division, and the rest of the force was ordered to retreat back to gain time.




Stuka strike gold 

Helmut Mahlke becomes a hero, March 7th, 1941
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(…) During the Axis airstrike on the Anglo-Japanese Fleet (…)
The Stuka plane thundered down toward the big Japanese carrier. It tumbled down while it burned up as it turned into a bright fireball. It had just been hit by a flak shell from the Japanese main carrier Hiryu. “Commander Malhke!” yelled Bikell over the squadron’s radio frequency. “Bailout, sir! There was a pause of static before the Squadron leader answered. “Son, it's too late for me,” answered his superior officer. “For the Fuhrer!”
(…) From 3 to 1 hour before the airstrike (…)
The alarm had roused everyone on Kalathos airfield in the early hours of the morning. They had been getting ready to transfer to their new base in Cyprus following the conquest of the island. It had taken some time to get the airfield ready because the Pioneer unit military field engineers) had been held up in mainland Turkey because an enemy raid had sunk its ship. It took a week to get another transport to Izmir and to embark on the necessary people and equipment to get to Cyprus. While everyone had grumbled at the interlude, it was a blessing in disguise.
First and foremost, they got a few days of rest and refit and didn’t get any orders to attack anywhere. They also got some new pilots and a few brand-new planes. But most importantly, it meant that they were at the right place at the right time. The enemy's main battle fleet was detected by an Italian submarine just two hundred and fifty kilometers from Cyprus, heading due west toward Italy. It didn’t take more for the entire Axis air units in the Central Mediterranean to be quickly roused from whatever they were doing. It was assumed that the Anglo-Japanese were going for a return engagement to Taranto to finish off the already badly hurt Italian Regina Marina.
Everything that Crete had available was scrambled for the attack, but as it happened, not one of the Bf-109s based on the island was considered to be close enough to follow the Stukas and the JU-88 squadrons that flew toward the enemy ships. While the German fighters were excellent warplanes, they had one fatal flaw: a limited range. A few Italian Macchi C-200 Saetta fighters that were transiting via Crete toward Cyprus were scrambled to the attack as well. While Hans Bickell, Stuka Pilot with the Sturzkampfgeschwader 1, was not overly confident about their ally’s ability to protect him, he figured they were better than nothing. The Italian ground pounder pilots didn’t have a good reputation, but the sailor pilots were better from his experience.
As they flew away from Cyprus, Hans took a little time to look at the Olive-Green planes flying in formation with them. The Macchi C.200 Saetta was a semi-modern (launched in 1936) all-metal cantilever low-wing monoplane, which was equipped with retractable landing gear and an enclosed cockpit. The plane had a distinctive "hump," which elevated the cockpit to provide the pilot with an unobstructed view over the engine. He thought it made the plane look clunky. It had, according to what he’d heard, some excellent maneuverability but was excruciatingly slow like his own bomber.
After the first hour of flight, they were joined by another flight from Crete en route toward the enemy fleet. The final count for the strike on the enemy fleet was 167 fighters and bombers of all sizes and make. There were even a few Romanian and Hungarian aircraft with them.
(…) 25 minutes before the air strike (…)
Commander Genda was on deck walking and talking to some of the next pilots going to fly CAP (combat air patrol) above the fleet. There were 50 fighters at all times over the Anglo-Japanese Fleet because there were a lot of enemy planes in the Mediterranean Sea. The theater of operation they were fighting in was not the wide expanses of the Pacific. In naval terms, the Med was enclosed, and it enabled most modern planes to cross it along its width. This, in turn, meant that most were in the range of any fleet crossing the sea. He was about to start another conversation with a pilot when the Akagi raid alarm blared its ominous sound. Then, a few of the lookouts and sailors started yelling. “Enemy strike approaching!” Indeed, a powerful strike force approached the Anglo-Japanese. It was detected by the destroyers on picket north of the fleet.
Pandemonium instantly erupted all across the carrier’s deck. Pilots ran to their planes or jumped into them, starting their engines. No one knew how much time they had, but it was critical that as many fighters as possible lifted in the air. The CAP above the fleet still had about an hour of fuel; thus, Genda figured they would be all right. And, of course, he could simply not resist the urge to go up himself by ordering one of his men to step aside and give him his Zero. Eight minutes later, he was one of the first planes to take off the deck. It was about time, as the enemy aircraft were upon the fleet. The yellow-steel color of the carrier gave way to the blue of the sea, and he took to the sky.
He saw the other four carriers (Kaga, Hiryu, Soryu, and Glorious) also scrambling their fighters with lines of fighters taking off one behind the other. The flak gunnery was already in action as red tracers raced toward the enemy air strike, and black puffs of smoke started to blossom amongst the enemy host. Looking north, he saw that the picket destroyers and other ships screening the heart of the task force were at work, sending as much lead as they could in the sky above them.
He pushed his machine to its maximum power, feeling it shake as it took altitude. Height was life in a dogfight, and Genda would make sure that he would have as much of it as possible before the enemy arrived above the ships.
(…) Carrier Hiryu, during the Axis airstrike on the Anglo-Japanese Fleet (…)
The large expanding fireball raced toward the Japanese carrier at blinding speed. Hans heard Malhke’s last yell as he thundered toward the carrier in his suicide charge. He didn’t have time to wonder what had happened to his commander. He would learn later that the man had learned that same morning that his wife and children and just been killed in a British air raid on Berlin. It seemed that he had no more will to live, causing the maneuver he was now attempting. Ramming a ship with its own plane (and staying in the cockpit) was nothing short of a suicidal move. While the news of his family’s demise was terrible for the German pilot, it was a good thing for the Axis.
But that was too bad for the Japanese carrier he had targeted, the Hiryu. The Nipponese gunners did their best to pepper the lance of flames going for their carrier, but it was to no avail. It was going too fast, and even if they hit it, it didn’t change a thing. And then (as Bickell zipped above the carrier), Helmut Mahlke’s plane slammed into the carrier’s hull, penetrating its first deck, and then shattered into the plane hangar. The hit was so strong that it seemed as if a giant hammer had struck the main fleet carrier. The stricken vessel bobbed to port hard, and some of its planes were knocked into the sea.
Unluckily for the Hiryu, the German bomber still had its 500kg bomb, and it ignited right beside a store of bombs as the crews below deck were busy preparing other aircraft. The resulting explosion from the crash ignited the ordinance, and then a bigger, secondary explosion rocked the carrier. A horizontal column of flame shot out of the ship’s three aircraft elevators. The fuel storage unit was finally set afire, and within another millisecond, the carrier was doomed. A titanic explosion blew it up from within like an expanding – and bursting – balloon. The shower of debris scattered across a kilometer in radius, and a column of smoke shot through the sky for hundreds of meters.
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Hiryu moment after the Stuka Kamikaze, March 7th, 1941
The blast was so powerful that every sailor aboard the Japanese ships stopped what they were doing. Some because they were stunned because of what they saw, but many because they were thrown off their feet by the blast wave. The British and Japanese ships were sailing closely together for protection, and the explosion rocked them hard. It was a disaster of epic proportions for the Japanese Empire.
(…) Commander Genda’s fighter (…)
Above in the sky, Genda was numb with shock, barely dodging the hail of machine gun bullets that zipped by his Zero fighter. From his vantage point, it looked like the ship below was critically hit. Looking more broadly, he saw plumes of fire and smoke blossom all across the fleet.  Yes, the Japanese and British fighters were numerous in the sky with over 75 units, but the Axis had swarmed them with what seemed to be over 150 fighters and bombers of all sizes and shapes. To him, it seemed that the enemy had scrambled everything available and just thrown it at the Anglo-Japanese Fleet.
An uncontrollable rage built up within him, and he steeled his revolve. He would make the Axis pilots pay for their success and make sure none of the other Imperial Navy carriers were destroyed.
(…) Stuka pilot Hans Bickell (…)
Also numb with shock because he had just lost his commanding officer, Hans tried to stay focused. It was hard because the man that just died was not only a good officer but a good friend. “Damn, Commander!” he yelled in his cockpit, hitting the control board with his fist in frustration. “What is it, sir,” said his gunner Karell Storch. “You know what it is, Storch.” The gunner stayed silent. “Strap in,” started Hans. We’re going in; I’ve spotted one big bastard of a ship; we’re going to land our bomb right onto its deck!”
The Stuka pilot dove as steeply as possible toward the stern of his targeted ship, a big Japanese battleship. He was plunging at a ninety-degree angle while his wind-driven sirens screamed their banshee-like sound. The Germans called them Jericho's Trumpet and used them to terrify people in the area they were attacking. In this case, the sound didn’t matter one bit as the Japanese battleship Nagato’s gunners were well-trained. In response to Han’s approach, several of them concentrated their fire on him. His Stuka soon rocked with near-miss explosions and blasts of anti-aircraft shells.
The enemy ship was getting bigger and bigger in his view. The plane’s frame shook through its core as it sped toward the sea. At around 1500 feet, he pulled his control stick toward him to decrease the angle to 45 degrees, and his Revi gunsight lined up on the target ship’s stern. He also fired his 7.92mm MG 17 machine guns from each wing to help situate his target and to better time his bomb release. Gradually, the bullets moved along the ship's length, and when he saw them striking the water ahead of the bow, he knew it was time to release the bomb.
At the same moment he released his ordinance toward the enemy dreadnought, the bomber’s altimeter warning horn sounded, telling him to press his bomb release and pull out of the dive. Since he was done already, he pulled hard on his control stick to stop his dive and pull away from the sea and into the sky. He thundered in a shattering soundwave just above the ship below. The Nagato’s gunners followed in his wake and tried to hit him. Tracers lined up on him, but he was too fast and they all missed. As they climbed, Karell’s view of the ship was right in front of him, so he took over with his machine gun and peppered the ship below to maintain anti-aircraft fire suppression. The tracer ammo raced to the ship. Some hit the sea, some the deck. Shrapnel flew in the air as the ship’s gun crews raced along exposed decks and gangways to get to their flak stations. Some were lucky to escape, but many were cut down by bullets or splinters.
Meanwhile, Bickell’s bomb hit the ship on the control tower, igniting a large fireball. The blast rocked the vessel hard and sent Admiral Kondo to the deck (Nagato was the Admiral’s flagship), momentarily stunning him. Many of the sailors and officers were injured by the fall caused by the explosion, and four of them were killed as they hit or landed at awkward angles on the hard steel.
Karell Storch, the rear gunner, announced they’d hit the battleship. “Sir,” he yelled. “We smacked the bastard!” Bickell smiled thinly as the aircraft continued climbing back to a reasonable altitude. The hit was soothing and made him feel better following Malhke’s fiery death.
He continued to climb and reached the cloud cover, after which he headed for Kalathos Airfield. He was one of the lucky bombers that made it out of the battle zone unscathed. The radio chatter on the way back was quite enthusiastic because of the hits they were able to inflict on the enemy ships, but when they landed, their mood sobered significantly. Over 70% of the aircraft in the raid did not come back to tell the tale.




Strafing and Rall

Air raid on the Torres Vedras Line, March 7th, 1941
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The British Spitfire thundered noisily at low altitude and over the marching Allied troops that cheered loudly at it with their hands in the air. The men were coming up from Lisbon and were going to the Torres Veras Line, near the Portuguese capital. The pilot was showing off, and the infantrymen loved it. The plane went into a rollover as it flew past, lifting dust in its wake. It was a bit reckless, and he was sure he'd get reported for it, but hey, it wasn't the first time, and an ace with so many victories wouldn't get sacked over such a trivial little maneuver.
Giles might get a reprimand if one of the ground officers complained, but he didn't care. He was one of the Western Allies' top ten Aces, and his status came with privilege. "Hayes," said Pilot Officer Stevenson, one of the pilot's good friends in the squadron. "Better be a little more subtle," laughed the other Englishman. "Sure, Paul, sure," and he pulled on his stick to take altitude, pushing the engine to full gas. The men cheered loudly again. "Let's stick to our mission, buddy," added Stevenson.
The flyboys liked to fly close in with the troops in ground support. Giles's squadron had been flying towards another mission, even if they were only fighters. They had bombers with them, but the Luftwaffe was a little thin in Portugal these days, enabling the RAF and U.S. Air Force to attack enemy troops for lack of targets in the air. Or else maybe it was that Allied air strength was growing. After all, almost 80% of all U.S. air reinforcements were being poured into the theater.
The day's orders were for the squadron to fly full speed toward the enemy position east of the Torres Vedras and attack with their 20mm cannons and machine guns. The goal was to disrupt the German preparations as it appeared an attack was imminent. Later in the evening, a sizeable bomber attack was planned when it got dark to continue the day's work, to destroy supply and Axis back areas.
Axis air defense was not as thick as it should be, as this was not a fixed defensive position. It was an army on a campaign about to attack, and these tended to be quite light on air defense, relying on the Luftwaffe.
Giles noticed that the ground below him was again a blur as his fighter was going full speed forward. He saw some dark puffs of smoke in the air, probably from the German flak that had spotted the squadron's approach.
After another ten minutes of high-speed flying, they finally got to their intended target zone. The enemy positions were dug in parallel to the Torres Vedras Line in shallow trenches and hastily made defenses.
Hayes thought he saw some black dots in the sky above them and decided that they were enemy aircraft. Several of the pilots in the squadron relayed just as much over the radio: "Enemy at twelve and above," meaning that the Luftwaffe planes were directly in front of them and at higher altitudes. "Nice of them to pay us a visit today," said Flight Commander Malan's voice over the crackling radio waves. The man was trying to make a joke, but everybody had other things to do than make fun of the upcoming situation. The enemy was on them.
"We have time to make a strafing pass as we were ordered before the bastards are on us." Flight Commander Malan followed his order-comments with a veering to port and descended upon the defenseless enemy troops below. The soldiers on the ground started to fire their rifles in the air but to no avail. The squadron's pilots followed Malan's move and dove down to their target zone.
In moments, the ground lit up with flashes and explosions, followed by fireballs, dust, and smoke. The British planes swooped down one after the other and peppered the Axis troops below. But there was no time to enjoy the moment for the Allied pilots.
As the scrambling Spitfires either turned, took up altitude, or looped around to dodge incoming tracer fire from the Bf-109s now almost on them, the dogfight blossomed into a full-blown fight. Giles scrambled to get as high as possible just in time to avoid a burst of enemy shells. He veered left and right and was able to shave his would-be pursuer by thundering into a large white cloud. He continued to climb to gain a commanding position over the battlefield.
After a long, arduous climb where he pushed his machine's engine to its limits, he exited the cloud in a burst of vapor and water droplets that hung on his fuselage for a fleeting moment before either freezing or evaporating away. Only trails of vapors were then left in his wake.
Seconds after his reappearance into the blue sky, his left wing was riddled by cannon shells fired from just above him. The Spitfire shook dangerously, but he was able to turn away from the deadly hail of fire that his elusive German enemy loosened at him.
Incredibly, the plane held up in one piece, and its maneuvering was not overly affected. Hayes looked for just a moment at the wing that seemed pierced cleanly in the middle. A hit, but he'd been lucky. Looking thru his canopy, he eventually spotted the damned pilot trying to kill him. The German kept firmly behind his tail. More tracers zipped by his fighter but missed by mere meters. Giles made a feint left and then plunged his plane straight down toward the ground to gain speed and enter back into the cloud. Another shell hit his aircraft, and it shook one more time. He waited, holding his breath, expecting to die or for his plane to fall out of control to the ground. But nothing happened It was only a glancing blow on the fuselage, so the fighter again held together. As he picked up speed once more because he raced downward, the G-force built up within the plane, and he almost blacked out, pulling on his stick to smooth his descent after a few seconds.
Once his plane leveled, it again shot out of the cloud. Looking at his compass, he veered the Spitfire back southward, where safety lay. His plane was injured, and there was no point in being too brave. He learned from hard experiences and many dead friends that it was not an excellent way to stay alive.
Above the cloud cruised, a frustrated but calm Gunther Rall looked at the fleeing Allied plane. He was certain that it was the same pilot he had fought and shot down only weeks before. The German ace knew there was no point in pursuing him from the moment the British pilot plunged back into the cloud; thus, he veered his fighter back toward the battle still raging above the Torres Vedras.
He had almost shot it down again, but it was as if the damned Allied pilot was touched by God or protected by some form of incredible luck. His salvo should have destroyed his aircraft, but the shell had not exploded on impact, and his enemy's machine had flown past him. He also wondered how the man had survived the crash the last time Rall had critically damaged his plane.
His doubts over the matter rapidly faded away as another Allied pilot shot out of the white vapor just below him. With one last thought about his nemesis, he concentrated back on his next kill. He dearly hoped for his next victory.




One last delivery 

A few miles from Malta, March 9th, 1941
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Admiral Kondo grunted as the last British planes flew off the deck of the carrier Glorious, along with twenty Japanese Zero. The aircraft were headed toward the main airfield on the Island of Malta in the Central Mediterranean. A few large convoy ships were also mooring themselves into the La Valetta Harbor on the island. They wouldn’t leave the harbor as they would not be escorted. The Anglo-Japanese fleet was executing one last resupply convoy before they had to exit the Mediterranean Sea entirely. The plan was not to stay for long since the danger of another air attack was too great. The enemy had already sent two more air strikes at the Anglo-Japanese, but except for the suicide bombing of one carrier, they had not been successful in doing more damage.
Malta was the last Allied base left in the area and, as such, was critical for hampering the Axis convoy routes to Tunisia and Libya. But it was not in a good position to continue the fight as it was almost impossible to supply regularly. The convoys had first come from Gibraltar. When it fell, Alexandria got the responsibility and this was why the Anglo-Japanese Fleet was sailing in the Central Med to get the island what it needed to continue the fight. But it was going to be the last time. The fleet would soon have to transition through the Suez Canal and into the Red Sea. The Axis forces were closing in on Egypt and the Canal from all sides. Once it fell, there would no longer be a safe harbor for the fleet in the entire Mediterranean, and as such, it could no longer be supported.
The consequence was that if it wanted to survive, the Anglo-Japanese armada needed to evacuate the theater and hope for the best in the Indian Ocean and the Red Sea.
This entire rationale was the reason the fleet had sailed from Alexandria on one last mission. If it had been for Kondo only, he would have left Malta to its own devices since there was no point in fighting from a lone, out-of-supply island once Egypt was Axis-occupied. But the Japanese commander’s orders were quite clear. He was to increase Japan’s reputation and standing in the alliance. The idea was that if he gave his all and wholeheartedly helped the Allied cause, the Anglo-Saxons would be more amenable to Japan’s views on Asia and on helping the Empire in its war against the Soviet Union.
And that was what he had done when Admiral Cunningham had asked if the Imperial Navy. Support the British and their shoe-string operation and whatever they wanted. The Brits worked with a very different mindset than the Japanese, and Kondo didn’t like it one bit. While he had followed his orders to the letter, he now wondered what the leadership back in Japan would think. With a carrier sunk and several damaged ships, including his own, he believed that there might be people in Japan who would start to second-guess this policy of “full collaboration.” The Allies operated under the assumption that no one could be sacrificed and left behind. In Japan, it was a glorious way to die rather than to die in a hopeless, suicidal cause.
He pressed his hand on the bloody bandage wrapped around his head. The bomb hit on the Nagato rocked the ship hard and sent Kondo flying to the deck. The ship doctor had told him he’d been lucky in the fall. He walked out of the bridge and onto the steel deck outside, giving him a view of his deck and the ships around. Looking down, he saw the mangled steel, proof that the bomb landed very near to the bridge and almost killed him. The Akagi, Soryu, and Huyga also produced dirty, dark smoke columns, proof of the damage done by the Axis strike only a few hours before. Several smaller ships had also been hit, but the main issue was that a main fleet carrier had been sunk. This was a disaster of such epic proportions for Japan that Kondo had trouble reconciling this fact with reality.
He took a deep breath and wondered what was next in store for him and his men. The Axis was closing in from all sides in Egypt, and it did not look like the Allies would be able to resist. The Fleet was to transit the Suez and move to the Port of Aden at the tip of the Arabian Peninsula (in the Aden Protectorate, a British Colony and naval base). It was far from certain it would be able to stay there because the enemy could drive all the way down from its Iraqi and Levant territories. India was invaded, and it looked like Karachi would soon fall. Once it did, there was nothing to block the invading Soviets from taking over the entire western Indian coast. Then, what? It was something to ask his colleague Cunningham.
One thing was certain: the Axis was victorious everywhere, and Admiral Kondo didn’t like it one bit.
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Reich Chancellery, Berlin 

The World is Ours, is it? March 9th, 1941
Commander-in-Chief of the OKW, Wilhelm Keitel, read the newspaper Deutsche Allegemeine Zeitung, based out of Berlin. He was waiting his turn with the Fuhrer. He was flanked by Frantz Halder and Alfred Jodl, both his cronies in the Oberkommando Der Wehrmacht. He was in the antechamber before Hitler’s office at the Berlin Chancellery. As he sat and read, he could not help but inwardly smile. The German press was wonderful to behold since the alliance with the Soviet Union. The dailies competed with each other to give the biggest welcome to the news.
The paper that spent the last few years violently attacking Bolshevism and the USSR now described the alliance between the two countries as a “natural partnership.” As he read, he almost choked on the coffee he was sipping: “The world is faced with a towering fact: two peoples have established a common ground after a long and traditional friendship which has produced the basis for mutual understanding.”
Sharing the page with the quote from Goebbels himself, and as if to underline the import of the alliance, were stories of “unbelievable atrocities” being committed by the Japanese troops in the Far East against both German and Red Army brave soldiers. Keitel found it quite funny and awkward at the same time. He wondered what and how the press would justify if the two powers ever declared war on the other. Hitler Fuhrer didn’t see it any other way. The Reich and the Soviet Union could conquer the entire World together, yet, one day they would have to slug it out to see who was the best between Hitler and Stalin.
The large, ornate, soldier-flanked double doors opened outward, and the Fuhrer’s personal secretary, Martin Bormann, appeared in the opening.


[image: A room with a desk and chairs  Description automatically generated]
Hitler’s office in the Reich Chancellery, circa 1941, Berlin
“The Fuhrer will see you, know, gentlemen,” said the secretary. The three men sat up, and Bormann didn’t make even a trace of a fuss over Goering not being on time for the meeting. The man was notorious for being tardy at meetings and gatherings. While Hitler was a stickler for this type of detail, he seemed to have a sweet spot for the Reichsmarschall since the fat bugger had never gotten in trouble for not being on time.
The place was large, with finely paneled doors and gold ornaments such as state seals and the Nazi eagle. There was a nice reddish rug on the ground, a couch, and several chairs sprawled around the room.
“Ah, Generals,” said Hitler, sitting up from the plush couch he was sitting in on the right at the end of the room and facing his desk. “Come and sit with me,” he continued. Bormann gestured them to go ahead. They put their military caps under their left armpits and gave the Nazi salute. “Heil Hitler,” they said with their arms outstretched. Just as Fuhrer’s private secretary was about to close the door again, the white-dressed Luftwaffe commander Hermann Goering waltzed in with a smile. “Heil Hitler,” he started making the salute and clicking his heels. “Mein Fuhrer, sorry for the delay. I was held up at the Luftwaffe headquarters.” “Sure, he was,” thought Keitel to himself. “Ah, but Hermann, don’t worry about it, and come join us,” answered Hitler with a smile.
They all sat down while another secretary brought coffee and tea for everyone. A plate of pastries was also put on the table in the center of the couch gathering.
Hitler’s welcoming demeanor abruptly changed. “Reichsmarschall, I have to be blunt. I congratulate you on sinking that Japanese carrier. Your men have done an outstanding job.” “Thank you, Mein Fuhrer,” beamed Goering. Hitler continued. “I would like to see to it that the proper awards and medals are distributed to the right people. I want to know everything there is to know about this Helmut Malhke. He is a hero of the Fatherland, and I want him properly honored.” “Yes, Mein Fuhrer,” answered Goering with a smile. “Martin, can you take care of this and organize everything?” “Yes, Mein Fuhrer,” answered the secretary, also nodding to the Reichsmarschall.
“Will this complicate matters in our planned operation against Malta?” Keitel was finally able to speak since the question was addressed to him and the OKW. His HQ was responsible, after all, to coordinate the armed forces as a whole. “Yes, Mein Fuhrer. The Allies have landed two squadrons of new planes. Several supply ships have been moored in La Valetta, the Island’s harbor. The Luftwaffe has been bombing the place for the last day since the enemy fleet left, but we believe the British forces on the island are now supplied and will be for months to come.” “I see,” answered the Fuhrer. Halder thought it a good moment to intervene and help out his boss. “Mein Fuhrer, this doesn’t change our plans. We still have enough force to prevail. The only thing we can anticipate will be a problem will be the additional casualties.” “Very well. Do you have a date for the operation?” “Not yet, Mein Fuhrer, but we will soon. The necessary troops, ships, and planes are being moved in place as we speak. The Fallchirmjagers are also being redeployed from Cyprus to Southern Italy for the operation. General Student.” The man was the Fallschirmjager commander, “He has assured me that within a couple of weeks, his men will be in position.”
“Good.” Hitler decided to change the subject. “Reichsmarschall, what about this continued failure in Portugal?” He was referring to von Reicnehau’s difficulties in breaching the improvised defensive line. “What is this so-called Torres Vedras Line? Please do not tell me we are being held up by an old Napoleonic defensive position?”
Keitel hesitated for a moment before answering. He shot a glance to Goering as the man was smiling, enjoying the military man’s discomfort. There was no love lost between the two men. “Indeed, Mein Fuhrer. I have prepared a few photos for you to see that it's not a feeble position,” he answered, taking a folder labeled “Secret” from his small suitcase. He gave a quick look to the Reichsmarschall, who ignored him. He had come prepared as he’d known Hitler was irate about the delays in the Iberian Peninsula. “Old General Wellington had built something that is well adapted for modern warfare and impeding tanks from attacking.” Hitler picked up the folder and leafed through the aerial recon pictures. He saw the large ditches, the old fortress walls, and the trenches. And it was obvious the Allies had been busy repurposing the entire thing. Keitel continued. “We are taking steps to move the numerous siege artillery that is conveniently close since we had assembled a ton of it for the attack on Gibraltar. I estimate that it will be in place in a few weeks. Once it is, the Torres Vedras will not resist for long.”
While Hitler seemed satisfied by the Reichsmarschall’s words and the pictures, he could not stay silent. “The enemy is so inferior that it can only cower in defensive positions, trenches, and fortress. I wonder if they’ll have the courage to face us in the open for a change. In the East, it's Vladivostok, and now that whatever Yalu Line, in Africa, it’s the Atlas, Tobruk, and the Suez Canal, and in Spain, it’s the Torres Vedras.” Hitler seemed dejected.
“Indeed, Mein Fuhrer,” answered Keitel, who knew the enemy would not do so until it was ready. The force discrepancy between the Axis and Allies was such that he understood and agreed with the enemy's strategy. That’s what he would do if he were in their place, but he refrained from saying as much to his master.
The conclusion so far in the conflict was that the Axis was victorious everywhere and that the Allies could only reel back in disaster and hope for the best with the next defensive line. There was not much else they could do but defend.
The mood in the Chancellery that day was resolutely optimistic as it did appear the Russian-German-Italian alliance was winning the war.
But the story of the conflict was far from over.
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The year is 1942.
The world is at war. Almost every major nation has declared for the Allies or the Axis. Europe is occupied by the Third Reich, and the British Islands have been invaded and conquered by the Germans. Metropolitan France has fallen, along with its North African colonies. Spain and Turkey have joined the Axis. The Middle East is Axis. The USA and Soviet Russia are also at war with the Third Reich.
Only one major power is still on the sideline. Imperial Japan, already busy in its war of conquest in China, dawns on the idea of conquering the Pacific and Southeast Asia following German successes in Europe and the subsequent weakening of the resource-rich Franco-British and Dutch colonies.
The United States, following Japan’s occupation of the French colony of French Indo-China in 1940, froze all of Tokyo’s assets, stopped scrap metal deliveries, and was just about to stop delivering oil to the hungry Japanese military machine. A move certain to trigger a reaction from the warmongers in Tokyo.
President Roosevelt’s decision to do so is about to have dire consequences for America. The Imperial Navy has set its sights on the main US base in the Pacific, Pearl Harbor. And all across the Japanese-held islands of the Pacific, the forces of the Rising Sun prepare for a full-scale invasion that they hope will give them control over the resources the country needs to continue on its expansion.
This is the story of the War in the Pacific.
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The year is 1939.
The World rocks with the news of the signing of the Germano-Soviet pact. A dark veil soon falls on Europe as Poland is invaded and destroyed by the overwhelming forces of the Wehrmacht and the Red Army.
France and the United Kingdom can only sit by and watch the two military juggernauts obliterate the Polish state. No one believes the two totalitarian regimes can agree in the long term as their ideologies completely contradict each other.
Russia wants influence in the Balkans, has eyes on Finland, and wants an opening to the Mediterranean. Germany needs Romanian oil to keep its war machine operational, and Hitler is adamant about not letting the Bolsheviks gain another inch of ground in Europe. At least not more than he has already given out in the treaty of non-aggression signed before the Polish campaign.
The year is 1940.
The French campaign then unfolds with a disaster for the Allies, and the Germans win an incredible victory over the combined forces of the United Kingdom and France. British forces narrowly escape to their island with the remnants of their armies, and France surrenders. Half of the country is occupied by the Germans. It seems that the swastika will conquer the world, especially with the Russian bear watching its back.
Germano-Soviet Axis talks were organized in October 1940 concerning the Soviet Union's potential entry as a fourth Axis Power during World War II. The negotiations include a two-day conference in Berlin between Soviet Foreign Minister Vyacheslav Molotov, Adolf Hitler, and German Foreign Minister Joachim von Ribbentrop. The two powers will try to agree on a formal alliance to divide the world.
The fate of liberty hangs in the balance.
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September 1st, 1939.
Germany invades Poland, igniting a major European war. A few months later the French are also invaded, and the allied armies are utterly defeated. Then the Dunkirk disaster happens, and the United Kingdom loses most of its land army.
Soon, the British Isles are also attacked, and the British are hard-pressed with a serious German invasion. The French struggle to resist the Axis forces bent on conquering all of their mainland home country and the Western African Colonies.
America, watching from its safe shores, cannot stay still while Western Europe and all of the Mediterranean fall to the forces of the Axis. And when the Afrika Corps plunges over the Suez and invades the Middle East, the Soviet Union finally decides to join in.
This is the story of the Second World War.
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The Empire built by Haakon the Great is no more. It's 4124, and the Human race has spread to the stars in four different star clusters by achieving the speed of light and wormholes. A civil war has broken out between the different human enclaves to see who the next emperor of humanity will be.
The Ptolemy and Hadesian Star Nations are invading Elysium, allied with New America from the Alpha Perseis Cluster. Large battles are being fought in star systems between former comrades of the Imperial Fleet. In space, battleships unload their powerful weapons at each other while giant battle mechas fight for control of the ground.

The opportunity is too great for the evil Cybernetic forces in the Caldwell 14 Star Cluster. Having fought – and lost – a terrible war against the Empire two hundred years ago, they are gathering for a return engagement against humanity.

A thousand years ago, Haakon dreamed and foreseen a terrible time for humanity. The Black Death is coming to consume all, and his Empire will not be there to fight it.
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DECEMBER 2ND, 1805
The War of the Third Coalition rages in Europe. Battles have been fought, and Napoleon Bonaparte's Grande Armée sweeps everything before it. After a big victory over an Austrian Army in Ulm, the French occupied Vienna, the capital of the Austrian Empire.
The Russians entered Austria to come to the help of their Allies and under pressure from the British.  The Austro-Russians and the French are about to clash in a small, unknown town called. 
Austerlitz. 
And then everything changes. The French stop trying to retake the Pratzen Heights, and the day's battle ends in a stalemate for both armies. Kutusov, the allied army's leader in the absence of young Tsar Alexander (who fell ill and is still somewhere in Galicia), decides to retire the army northward with the Austrian Emperor's approval.
The news galvanizes the Revolution's enemies and of the Empire, jealous of Napoleon's success and wanting him gone. The Prussians decide to join the war and move their troops into Austria to link their forces with the two other powers. The German states and other countries like Naples rethink their stances in the conflict. And the French Emperor's internal enemies, ever-wishing the old regime's return, start plotting to overthrow the government in Paris.
All the while, the Ottoman Empire, convinced by the French several months earlier to enter the war, has decided to intervene in favor of Bonaparte and invade southern Hungary with an Army. Austria is on the brink of annihilation, but Napoleon's Grande Armée also has a big challenge ahead since it now needs to defeat three major powers simultaneously.
Everything will come down to either Napoleon's genius to overcome the odds and win regardless of the troops arrayed against him or his defeat and the end of the French Empire.
This is the story of the Napoleonic Wars.
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Lorsqu'il est mobilisé dans les armées de la République Française en 1799, le soldat Jean Roch Coignet est loin de se douter que son épopée l'amènerait à 20 ans de gloire avec son Empereur. Il traversera l'Europe de part en part et ce, plusieurs fois, pour combattre les ennemis de la France Impériale.
Il participera à quarante-huit batailles, sans jamais être blessé. Coignet sera même éventuellement fait capitaine de la Garde Impériale. Son histoire est singulière, il fut de toute les campagnes de Napoléon. De Marengo à l'Espagne, en passant par l'Allemagne, l'Autriche, la Pologne et enfin la Russie.
Il sera là aussi à la fin, en 1814 lors de la campagne de France et en 1815 lors de la bataille de Waterloo.
Ce livre se veut être une partie de son histoire, romancé, avec des ajouts historiques pour bien situer le lecteur. Repensé, organisé, et annoté, cet ouvrage apportera un œil nouveau sur l'épopée de Coignet, tout en aidant les amateurs des guerres napoléoniennes mieux se situer dans le temps et dans l'espace.
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